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o PREFACE

93 In 1988, the Lakes Region Planning Commission began an architectural-

128  historical survey of the older churches of the Lakes Region. In that year, con-
104 " gultant David Ruell visited and researched the churches in Belknap County,
107 which forms the central third of the Lakes Region. In 1989 and early 1990,
:he surveyed the churches in southern Carroll County, the eastern third of

111 ) .
114 the Region. These church surveys were generously supported by matching
" grants from the New Hampshire Division of Historical Resources. But, Federal
- “and State budget cutbacks have since prevented the Division from offering
116 - similar grants. And other financial sources have not been found for the survey

"6t churches in the remaining western third of the Lakes Region. The regional
“Zhurch survey therelore remains incomplete at this writing, although the Plan-
mng Commission does hope to eventually finish the project.
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. The survey of the historic churches of Belknap County produced 387
pages of survey forms. Those survey forms are on file at the Lakes Region
Planning Commission and at the New Hampshire Division of Historical
~Résources. But, survey forms in file drawers have a rather limited circula-
-tion This book is an effort to make the information gathered in the Belknap
County church survey more generally available to the public and to scholars.
The Naticnal Trust for Historic Preservation provided a grant supporting this
publication, for which we are grateful. To make sure the information was up

ig date, the churches were revisited in 1992 and 1993. And the descriptions
145 A .hlstomes of the buildings were all rewritten for this volume by David Ruell.
}gé The 1988 survey of Belknap County covered some sixty-three churches
said to-have been built before 1945. But, research revealed that two of these

i dmgs both chapels at summer camps, were built after 1945. And one

158 ‘ch; St. Joseph's Church in Belmont, was demolished and replaced by
161 ne’w church after the survey was completed. So, this book will describe
164 e-exterior appearance and the history of the sixty surviving churches built

'elknap County before World War IL

lthm each town or city chapter, the churches are listed gecgraphical-
‘north to south (and then, if need be, from west to east). Each entry
eging with the name of the building, its location, date of construction, archi-
dbuilders, if known. The introduction also indicates if a building is
sted on the National Register of Historic Places, which is maintained by the
I'Park Service. The bulk of the eniry on each church is devoted to
--_riptlon of the building’s exterior and an archiiectural history that also
lises on the exterior. Space constraints prevented the inclusion of the
'y-‘bsbhographles on the churches. Those sources can be found on the
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INTRODUCTION

The oldest surviving religicus buildings in Belknap County began their
“careers as meetinghouses built in the last decade of the 18th century and the
| firsi decade of the 19th century. The common New England meetinghouse
“of this period was a gable rocfed building with its main entry in the center
. of one lateral side, and an interior filled with box pews facing a pulpit set
. opposite the main entry against the other lateral wall. The larger two story
o “meetinghouses had pew filled galleries in the upper level of the interior, and
'sometimes, stair fowers (or “porches” as they were then called) on the gable
" . ends to reach the galleries, Most of these mestinghouses had few decorative
" embellishments on their exteriors.

Such large two story meetinghouses were found in most New Hampshire
~towns by the end of the 18th century. Religion was then still state sponsored
“in New Hampshire. Belore the passage of the Toleration Act in 1819, each
. “town was required by state law to erect and maintain a meetinghouse for town
" meetings and religious services and to employ a town minister to preach in
" the meetinghouse. Every taxpayer was therefore required to contribute to the
. maintenance of the meetinghouse and the town minister’s salary, although

- by the late 18th century, actual practice was a little freer. Those who regularly
7 supported other denominations could be exempted from these taxes. And
- “town mestinghouses were sometimes built by private groups of proprietors
‘without town funds. Privately owned meetinghouses of the same general
7 design were also built by those who did not agree with the town minister,
-~ ~who was usually a Congregationalist in most New Hampshire towns.

Unfortunately, few of the early two story meetinghouses survive intact
" .in New Hampshire. Indeed, only four well preserved early two story
: -_: meetinghouses remain in the state. The rest were elther destroyed or modern-
I ized as churches or town halls. Belknap County lost most of its early town
. meetinghouses, including those in Alton, Meredith, Gilmanton, and Sanborn-
ton. The two surviving town meetinghouses have been greatly altered. The
1796-97 meetinghouse on Barnstead Parade was remodeled as a typical mid
=19th century church in the 1850's and 1860°s. The 1798 New Hampton town
“meetinghouse was cut down by one story and converted to a town hall in 1872.
“Most of the private meetinghouses, notably the First Baptist Church in San-
-Bornten (1781-92), the Province Road Meetinghouse in Belmont (c. 1792),
-and the Oak Hill Meetinghouse in Meredith (c. 1802}, were altered in the
19th century to fit new concepts of church design. The one early meetinghouse
“iri the county to survive without significant change was the Dana Meeting
“House in New Hampton (1800-02). This Free Will Baptist meetinghouse is
“now the best preserved one story meetinghouse in the state. With its box pews
nd pulpit, and its simple exterior, the Dana Meeting House demonstrates
“what the county’s earliest religious buildings must have looked like.
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ost of the 19th century and the early 20th century, the churches = - The Fred Andrew Smart Chapel at Tilten School, erected in Canterbury
I'Belknap County can be divided into two basic groups, the more elaborate 5040 1852 and moved intc the county in 1964, is basically a Greek Revival style
_ stfﬂe shurcheas that followed the architectural fashions of the day, and | ‘church, But its bracketed cornice is typical of the Ttalianate style, which bor-
the sunpier wernacular churches that usually had little exterior decoration. rowed its crnament from the palaces, villas, and churches of italy. Belknap
Al sf:the churches of the period abandoned the cld “meetinghouse plan” County's only pre Civil War church in the Italianate style was the fine Second
o for the “church plan”. Now, the maim entry or eniries were located in one Baptlst Church (1853-54) in Alion.

““gablé end. The pews faced the pulpit, stage, or altar found against one gable
“end wall, usually opposite the entry. (Some 18th century churches did use
“‘the “reversed plan”, with the entries and the pulpit on the same gable end
“wall.) Towers and steeples became common features, particularly on the more
-elaborate and larger churches.

The other style to lirst appear in the county before the Civil War was
the Gothic Revival style. The first stirrings of interest in the old medieval tradi-
Hon can be seen in the belfry of the Center Barnstead Christian Church and
::n three churches built in Sanbornton and Tilton in the 1830's. It cannct be
4id that the Gothic elements of thege three churches were used with any
¢véat historical accuracy. They basically remained Federal style buildings
:-Wl‘[h the addition of seme Gothic features, pointed arches, finials, and pin-
acles But, the results were quite charming, as can slill be seen in the San-
_._bornton Congregational Church (1834) and the Bay Meetinghouse (1836).

The 'Northtield-Tilton Congregational Church (1838) was enlarged and
n‘i‘tjdernized with Italianate elements, later in the 19th century, so that it now
better illustrates Victorian eclecticism.

The first major architectural style of the 15th century to be seen in Belknap
County was the Federal style. The Federal style, characterized by the use
of light and delicate classical ornament, was nearing the end of its populari-
iy by the time it appeared in central New Hampshire. Nevertheless, the county
can boast one excellent example of the style, the Cenire Congregaticnal
Church (1826-27) in Gilmanton. This well preserved church is notable for
its fine design and ornament. The Federal style can also be seen in other
churches that have since been altered, such as the First Congregational
Church (1832) and the First Baptist Church (1833-34) in Meredith. The United
Church of Gilmanton Iron Werks {1826-273, also altered, combines elements
of the Federal stvle and the next classical style, the Greek Revival style. :

- After the Civil War, the designers of buildings did feel freer to be eclectic
nilielr designs, to combine elements from different styles and to invent new
ament. The best examples of Victorian eclecticism among Belknap County
hurches are to be found in Laconia. Arthur L. Davis, a local builder-
itect, used Halianate and Romanesque elements in his attractive design
‘the 1871-72 remodeling of the Greek Revival style Evangelical Baptist
“hureh: The South Baptist Church (1877) is predominantly Italianate in its
fiifés. But this impressive and ornate church is obviously a product of late
Gth ‘éertury America, not Italy. Architect-builder George H. Guernsey used
sothItalianate and Gothic Revival elements for his superb United Baptist
urch in Lakeport (1891-92). Although long out of faver, Victorian eclec-
u_lldmgs like these three churches, are once again being appreciated
ot he‘ir‘ architectural beauty.

Inspired by the monumental Greek temples, the Greek Revival style used
bolder and heavier classical ornament. Only one Belknap County church;
the Center Barnstead Christian Church (¢. 1839), used a full portice cover-
ing its main facade to invoke the image of a temple. But, all of the Gresk
Revival churches show a greater interest in monumentality in their ornamen
and composition. The other Greek Revival churches of the 1830's, the Gilford
Community Church (1834), the Evangelical Baptist Church (1836), and theé
Center Harbor Congregaticnal Church (1837), have been aliered a
modernized. But, the First Baptist Church in Lower Gilmanton (1842) has
a well preserved exterior, nctable for its pilastered and pedimented front
facade and its fine belfry tower. The Lower Gilmanton church ranks among
the best churches of the style in the state. The East Alion Meeting Houss,
built around 1820, was remodeled in 1848 into a somewhat provincial w
sion of the Lower Gilmanton church. The First Congregational Chur
(1853-54) in Alton is another excellent example of the style. The last Gre
Revival church erected in Belknap County, the New Hampion Comimun
Church (1854), is arguably the county's best and most sophisticated (Greck
Revival style building. The designers of both the Alton and New Hampt
churches showed great skill in their compositions, notably in the integrati
of the main facades and the towers.

The late 10th century also saw the development in America of the Shingle
“which was characterized by the continuous covering of exterior walis
‘wood shingles. Concord architects Bodwell & Sargent combined the
gled walls of the Shingle Style with Gothic style windows and doors to
“he gince altered St. James Episcopal Church {1894) in Laconia. A
ar combination of Shingle Style walls with Gthic style windows can be

A 58t Tohn's On The Lake Chapel (1927} on Bear Island in Meredith.
l_l_r_'@st and most charming example of the Shingle Style is the modest
ractive St. Augustine’s Chapel (1905), built as a private chapel for the
'j')él_lian Bishop of Milwaukee at his Gilford summer home.
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Despite the inventiveness of the Victorian eclsctic and Shingle Style
architects, the tide of architectural fashion turned in the late 19th century
and the early 20th century to the revival of historical styles, to the cepying,
with more or less freedom, of the architectural styles of earlier eras. For
religious architecture, the principal sources of mspiration were the great
churches of the medieval period, built in the Romanesque and Gothic styles.

The churches of Belknap County include only one significant example
of the Romanesque Revival style, Sacred Heart Church (1893-94) in Laconia.
But, this impressive church, designed by Boston architect Peter F ord, is one
of the tinest churches in the county, notable not only for its size, but for its
fine composition and ornament. The Romanesque Revival style can also be
geen in more modest 20th century religious buildings, St. Joan of Arc Church
(1923) i Alton, St. Paul’'s Church (late 1920's or early 1930's) in Barnstead,
and Tempie B'nai Israsl (1937) in Laconia.

The Gothic style has always been the more popular of the two medieval
revival styles. The best 19th century Gothic Revival style church in the county
is Trinity Episcopal Church in Tilton, built in 1872-73 to the design of Con-
cord architect Edward Dow. Another Tilton church to employ the style wag
the Church of the Assumption (1893-94), designed by Manchester architects
Chickering & O'Cennell and since modernized. Our Lady of Victory Church
(1905-06) in Center Harbor has also been significantly altered. The early 20th
century saw the construction of two impressive Gothic Revival style stone
churches in Laconia, both the work of Boston architects. Willard P. Adden
was inspired by the picturesque Gothic churches of England in his design
for the Congregational Church of Laconia (1905-06). James O Shaughnessy,
who is said to have worked for Ralph Adams Cram, followed that master of
the (Gothic Revival style in his bold design for St. Joseph's Church {1929-30).

While the medieval revival styles were the most popular for Belknap
County’s fashionable churches in the early 20th century, two other styles are
represented in Laconia churches. The First Church of Christ Scientist
(1923-24), designed by Boston architect Charles T. McFarland, is an excellent

. example of the Classical Revival style. The Unitarian-Universalist Church

(1939-40), the youngest church recorded in this book, was built in the Col-
onial Revival style, a revival style that harks back to the Federal style, bring-
ing us full circle back to the earliest high style represented in this volume.

The vernacular churches of the 19th and 20th centuries were simpler
buildings than the high style churches. The use of ornament on the vernacular
churches was limited. And, while some ornament and other elements of the
high styles was used on some vernacular churches, there was no attempt to
create a building in & recognized architectural style. Usually restrained by .
their economic status, the congregations that built these churches chose to!

= cof Belknap County 7

'-:.ﬁse the common building tradition of their period, without many decorative
~embellishments. This is not to say that the vernacular churches lack architec-

‘ural distinction. As is demonstrated by many vernacular houses in the county,
. atraditional builder with a good sense of proportions can create a pleasing

‘design, even without the help of decoration. Two attractive examples of such

unembellished traditional design can be found in Meredith, the Oak Hill
'_Mé‘etinghouse (built c. 1802, remodeled 1848) and the Meredith Center Free
“Baptist Church (main block c. 1831, tower 1859). And there are cther ex-
mples of architectural success in the vernacular traditicn throughout the

-"county

G As might be expected, most of the vernacular churches, particularly the

thh century churches, share certain features. All were built of wood and
"néarly all were sheathed with clapboards, the traditional siding of the region.
The 20th century did see the use of stucco on Trinity Methodist Church
1925-26) at Weirs Beach and of asbestos shingles on the Christian and Mis-
_Ii__ary Alliance Church (1939), also in Laconia.)

o The simplest of the vernacular churches were just one story or one and
half story, gable roofed structures with a rectangular plan. One gable end
A 'aHy served as the main facade. In the 19th century, there were often two
ries in the main gable end, as can be seen at the Smith Meeting House
'_'_840) in Gilmanton and the New Hampton Historical Society building
863-84). Some churches, of course, were content with a single entry, such
. the North Barnstead Congregational Church (1827) and the First Baptist
urch (1791-92, remodeled 1833) in Sanbornton. A number of vernacular
hli'r"'c'jhes now have towers and entry pavilions, either original features or ad-
ions. Some, such as the Thompson-Ames Historical Society Building (c.
834 remodeled 1889) and the Province Road Meeting House (c. 1792, tower
dded 1910) have belfry towers set astride their roofs. Others have attached
owers; either in the center of the main facade, as on the Barnstead Parade
-ongregatlonal Church (1796-89, tower added 1866) and the South Barn-
ad. Congregat1onal Church (between 1814 and 1821, tower added 1912),
rata torner, as on the former Advent Christian Church (1899-1900) in Bel-
mt'and The Bible Speaks Church (1910-11) in Lakeport. On the Advent
ristian Church (1903-04) in Lakeport, the corner was cut on the diagonal,
at the corner tower is set at an angle to the main facade. The attached
oWeré often house the main entries. But some small churches have small gable
_ed entry pavilions, as can be seen on the American Legion Hall (1895-96)
Bamstead and Trinity Episcopal Church (1911) in Meredith.

he hlgh styles have had some influence on certain vernacular churches,
vile:s Iarly in the ornamental details. Vernacular builders were not ignorant
He: elements of the more sophisticated architectural styles. And they did
mes borrow features from the grander buildings that they saw. The Greek
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Revival style prompted mid 19th century vernacular builders to use widef
and bolder cornerboards, window and door frames, and cornices, such as
those on the Oak Hill Meeting House (remodeled 1848) in Meredith and the:
Province Road Meeting House (remodeled 1835 and 1854) in Belmont. Rut: y
the most influential high style for vernacular churches was clearly the Gothic
Revival style. Gothic arches and stained glass windows were added to
buildings that otherwise had few or no stylistic fsatures. The Lochmere Bapt
tist Church (1834, remodeled 1861), for example, had Gothic arches above_f
its two entries and ancther arch in its main gable. The Thompson Ames,
Historical Seciety Building (c. 1834, remodeled 1889) has more Gothic arches:
and a tall spire. The Bible Speaks Church (1910-11) in Laconia has two Gothic
arched windows in its main facade. These Gothic features do not make these.
churches Gothic Revival style buildings, but they do show the strong religious
associations of the style.

hit years, the residing of churches and other buildings has usually great-
iminished their architectural integrity and guality. Modern sidings may

> more convenient, but their installation is usually accompanied by the loss
nany architectural details, cornerboards, cornices, window and door
©s. The result is often a caricature, a plastic cartoon of the original

Désplte some inappopriate architectural change, there still remains in
elknap County many religious buildings that are a delight to see and visit.
ope that this volume will introduce our readers to them, and will en-
gJe greater interest in these buildings and their preservation for future
"l_aﬁo‘ns to enjoy.

Change has been part of the history of many Belknap County churche
Scme have been relocated, as St. Paul’s Church, moved from Northwood to
Barnstead, and the Fred Andrew Smart Chapel, moved from Canterbury 1o
Tilton, illustrate. Others have changed from a religious use to cther uses{:.
as can be seen at the American Legion Hall in Barnstead, the West Center:
Harbor Meeting House, now a private residence, Old St. James Episcopal’
Church in Lacornia, now an office building, the New Hampton Grange Hall,
and the Lochmere Community Hall. Three former churches, the Province.
Road Meeting House in Belmont, the Cak Hill Meeting House in Meredit
and the former Advent Christian Chapel in New Hampton, have each becom:
the property of the local historical society. :

Architectural changes have been even more commonplace. The impuls
to modernize churches, to replace the “old fashioned” with the “up to date’
can be seen as early as the 1830's and 1840's, when meetinghouses wer
remodeled as churches, often in the Greek Revival style, such as the East
Alton Meeting House and the Oak Hill Meeting House in Meredith. The urg
to modernize has continued fo this day. In some cases, such as the 1871-7
remodeling of the Evangelical Baptist Church in Laconia, it can be argue
that the remodeled church is at least as interesting architecturally as th
original building. Unfortunately, this has been more the exception than th
rule. Some architectural changes have been insignificant or sympathetic t
the original architecture of the building, o that there has been no architec
tural loss. But, many changes have diminished the architectural quality o
the churches. It would be impolitic to point out inappropriate changes in th
introduction. We will leave that judgement to the reader’s taste. But, we ca
point out the two most common remodeling mistakes, the inappropriate ad
dition, such as the belfry or vestibule that obscures or clashes with the origin
design of the main facade, and the removal or replacement of significan
architectural features, such ag ornamental details, doors and windows. In
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four panel door, a wide frame with large square upper cornerblocks, granite
and wooden steps, and a metal rail. The central bay of the first story and
all three bays of the upper story sach contain an 8/8 sash window with moulded
ame. The four bay north and south lateral sides each have four large 16/12
sash windows with moulded frames. Two more such windows are found in
> rear east gable end.

ALTON

EAST ALTON MEETING HOUSE

)

Drew Hill Road, Gilman’s Corner

c. 1820

Listed on National Register of Historic Places ‘The square tower has a short base with clapboarded sides, and a slight-
: : stnaller belfry stage sheathed with flugh boarding. Both stages have cor-
T pilasters and box cornices with mouldings and friezes. In each side of
the belfry stage is found a large rectangular louver with a moulded lintel.
THe bellry is crowned by a cross gable roof. Fach of the four gables is sheathed
with flush boarding and trimmed by close verges. Rising from the center of
& roof is a wooden post with moulded cap, on which stands an arrow shaped

weathervane.

History

- The church was built for the first Free Will Baptist Church of Alton, which
wa:é'_organized in 1803. There is some dispute over the constructicn date of
the meetinghouse, with some dating it as early as 1810. But, the church
cords include a brief note, written about 1849, that the meetinghouse “'was
built about A.D. 1820, with square pews, three doors in front, desk on
ckside”. The first mention of the building in the church records is a state-
ent, made in passing, thal a meeting was held in the meetinghouse in
N‘S_Vémber of 1821, suggesting that the building was completed by then. The
rliest known pew deeds date from 1822,

The present appearance of the church apparently dates from 1848, when
he building was moved a few feet north and east and remodeled at a cost
“more than $800”. The original pew owners had relinguished their rights
the First Free Will Baptist Meetinghouse Society, which sold new pew rights
156 funds for the work. The remodeled church was dedicated on the First
bb’élt_h in January of 1849. The building now illustrates the merger of the
sck Revival style and the vernacular building tradition. The Greek Revival
enice is apparent in the wide corner pilasters, deep lateral cornices, wide
y ffames, and the belfry with ils cross gable roof. But other details, such
e window frames and the front gable cornice, hark back to local ver-
#lar building traditions.

Description

The provincial Greek Revival style Fast Alton Meeting House stands i
the village of Gilman's Corner. The gable roofed main block of the church
is one and a half stories high, although its internal layout, with a foyer and
balcony at one end of the taller auditorium, gives it a two story west stree
front. Above the west gable end, a two stage belfry tower straddles the roo
ridge.

The main block, set on a cut granite block foundation, is clapboarded
with sillboards and wide corner pilasters with moulded capitals. The gable
roof is trimmed by lateral box cornices with mouldings and deep friezes, by
a shallow cornice with frieze and returns of the lateral cornices on the front:
west gable, and by close verges with returns of the lateral cornices on the
rear gable. In the side bays of the three bay west gable end are found the
two entries, which are virtually mirror images of each other. Each entry ha

In‘the mid 19th century, the congregation declined dramatically, fall-
ng from 300 members to 46 members in just thirteen years. The last regular
mister loft in 1883. And the last surviving church member died in 1907.
decline of the congregation, symptomatic of the general depopulation
this rural farming area of Alton, undoubtedly saved the church from any
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medernization. The building did {all inte some disrepair. But, in the 1920,
the Gilman's Corner Community Club was organized o maintain the struc-
ture. Incorporated as the East Alton Meeting House Society in 1978, the
organization has faithfully maintained the building through most of this cen-
tury. Recent exterior changes have been limited to such minor alterations
as the addition of a National Register plague and new railings at the eniries.

SAINT JOAN OF ARC CHURCH

Main Street, Alton village
1923

Description

Saint Joan of Arc Church, best described as provincial Romanesque
Revival in style, stands on a prominent street corner in Alton village. The
tall, one story main bleck, which inciludes the nave and the sanctuary, has
a semioctagonal northwest end, and is covered by a roof that is gabled on
the southeast, but semioctagonal on the northwest end. Flanking the main
biock on beth lateral (southwest and northeast) sides are narrow, cne story
shed roofed additions containing the church aisles. Attached to the norther-
ly ends of the two side additions are two one story, shed rocfed wings, each
with a small porch. The southwestern wing also has a small northwestern base-
ment vestibule. All sections of the church are set on concrete block founda-
tions and sheathed with aluminum “clapboarding” with narrow corner strips.

The main block has herizontal box cornices with mouldings and friezes.
The rakes of the southeast gable, above the main facade, are trimmed by a
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shallow cornice with frieze. At the base of the gable, deep returns of the lateral
‘cornices are covered by gmall hipped pent roofs. The upper portion of the
““gable projects slightly over a horizontal box cornice with mouldings, frieze
and brackets. In the center of the main facade, the southeast gable end, is
the main entry, double modern glass and metal doors. The entry is still set
in a semicircular arched moulded frame, with a stained glass tympanum, con-
taining a round window, two semicircular windows and three small spherical
triangles. The entry is sheltered by a large gable roofed hood, supporied
by heavy triangular braces. The hood is trimmed by a cornice with sloping
soffit and frieze and is crowned by a cross. Its gable is open in the lower sec-
: “tion, but filled with beaded boarding in the apex above a crossbeam sup-
poried by braces. To each side of the entry is a small semicircular arched
“sash window with stained glass and moulded frame. In the gable, beneath
the projecting upper gable, is a stained glass rose window, with a central
‘tound window, twelve “petals”, and small spherical triangles along the outer
‘edge. A cross crowns the main gable. Three high gemicircular arched win-
-:dows appear in the main block’s apsidal semi-octagonal northwest end.

= The shallow side additions are virtuaily mirror images of each other. Both
“have shallow moulded cornices on their rakes and lateral box cornices with
‘mouldings and friezes that are continued as horizontal cornices across their
‘half gables. The southeast ends of the side additions are set [ive feet back
from the southeast facade of the main block. Each southeast end contains a
side entry, a six panel door in a semicircular arched moulded frame. A stained
“glass window with two semicircular windows, a round window and two
spherical triangles fills each tympanum. The west side entry, like the main
" entry, is served by carpeted concrete steps, while the east entry has a carpeted
‘toncrete ramp. The lateral sides of the additions both have five large rec-
‘tangular stained glass windows. The windows each incorporate three lower
- gquare windows, three tall semicircular arched windows, and six smaller win-
dows (with curved lower edges) above the arched windows.

' The shed roofed wings both have box cornices with friezes and returns.
‘Both small wings are lit by diamond paned windows and have a paneled
“southeastern deor with a small entry porch. The western wing serves as the
“gacristy, the eastern wing as the reconciliation room.

<History

- A mission o serve the Roman Catholics in the Alton area, particularly
r_ithe gummer months, was organized as early as 1888. Converted meeting
places, such as the Alton Town Hali, were used for services until the con-
struction of Saint Joan of Arc Church in 1923. In August of 1919, a lot on
Main Street in Alton village was purchased as the site for a chapel. But, in
December of 1921, that lot was sold. And the present site at the corner of



. -".'actuai cons’trucuon of the church beyond a few 1tems in the area newspapers

The Historic Churche: f:3¢_1knap County 15

-'-Mam Street'érjd'Mltche Avenue was bought in Ianuary of 1922, Fund ra

IRST CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH

"..-By late June of 1923, the Farmington paper could report that work had begun ich Street, Alton village

- “on'the church. A Laconia paper reported in early August that the carpenter
" had finished the shingling and in October that the exterior was nearly co
“plete. . The last news item was a note in the Farmington paper, in ea
‘November, that the church was being painted. The church was built as a sum
mer chapel with an unfinished interior. It was not until 1948 that the inter
was completely finished. Originally, the exterior walls were covered with wo
shingles, which were common on rustic resort architecture of the day. The
form of the church and its semicircular arched windows and doors and th
round gable window of the main block were borrowed from the Romanesq
Revival style, although they were Americanized in their translation to
small chapel. The building could be described as an early 20th century churd
with Romanesque Revival embellishments,

’_Eed:'fc_)'n'National Register of Historic Places

The church became a separate parish in 1961. And the building hasb
altered in recent years. The doors of the main entry were replaced by moder
metal framed glass doors sometime in the mid 20th century. The easterly wing
built in 1978, houses the reconciliation room. In 1988, a handicapped ag
cess ramp was built at the casterly side entry. But, the most significant charig
was the replacement of the original wood shingle wall sheathing wil

aluminum siding in the late 1950's.

Congregational Church is a Greek Revival style church that stands
heast side of Church Street. The tall, one and a half story, gable
block has a square three stage tower with spire projecting slightly
ter of its main facade, the northwest gable end. The rear gable
ain block is covered by a one story, shed rooled rear addition.
he::no_rtheas’c end of the addition and part of the main block's north-
he vestry, a one and a half story gable roofed struciure.

ri block, set on a cut granite block foundation, has clapboarded
de paneled corner pilasters with heavy moulded capitals. The
ornice with mouldings, deep irieze and architrave is pedimented
orthwest gable, but only has returns on the rear gable. The
the northwest gable end is occupied by the tower and the main
s%de bays each contain a tall, large 12/12 sash window with
rit; louvred shutters, and a peaked, moulded window head.
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The northeast and southwest sides each have three tall windows of the same
design. The rear'gable end now contains a round stained glass window with
pictorial design.

The tower is sheathed with vertical and horizontal flush boarding. The

main entry in the first story is tall, double, two panel doors with plain side -
trim and a peaked, moulded door head. The entry is served by a wide

flagstone covered landing with steps on three sides. Above the entry is a large
rectangular panel with moulded frame. The entry and the panel are set in
a very shallow recess that fills most of the firgt story. At the outer corners
of the first story are two large engaged square pillars (similar {o the main
block’s corner pilasters), which support the continuation of the main block’s
horizontal cornice arcund the tower. The tower’s windowless second stage

is set on a shallow base resting on this horizontal cornice. The second stage,

which just rises above the roof, is trimmed by paneled corner pilasters (like
those of the main block) and by another box cornice with mouldings, frieze
and architrave. Another rectangular panel with moulded frame ornaments
the front of the second stage. The smaller third stage, the open belfry, is set
on a very shallow base. The belfry is trimmed by corner pilasters and a cor-
nice like those of the second stage. In each face is a large rectangular cpen-
ing with a decoratively sawn slat railing. The beifry is crowned by a tall
pyramidal spire, that is sheathed with flush boarding and trimmed by corner-
boards. The spire is topped by an ornate lyre shaped weathervane on a globe.

The vestry has clapboarded walls trimmed by paneled corner pilasters
with capitals. The heavy box cornice with frieze and archifrave is pedimented
on the northwesl strest gable, but just has returns on the rear gable. In the
center of the street gable end is the main eniry, a paneled door with large
built-in window, paneled side trim and a peaked door head, as well as a

modern gable roofed hood. The front gable end and the sides have 2/2 sash |
windows with the same paneled side trim and peaked moulded window heads.

The two doors on the scuthwest side are sheltered by small entry porches.

The rear addition has clapboarded walls with cornerboards and a low
pitched shed roof trimmed by a box cornice. Two of the addition’s windows
are 2/2 sash windows (with paneled trim and moulded heads) that were
relocated from the vestry. But the other windows and the double rear doors
are modern in design with plain frames. The rear entry is sheltered by a sim-
ple hood.

History

The First Congregational Church in Alton was organized on November
7, 1827. The church members at first used the town meetinghouse for their:
services. In 1838, the Congregationalists and the Free Wiil Baptists joined

rect a union meetinghouse. But, early in the spring of 1853, the Con-
&gaticnalists decided to build their own church. A subscription paper was
réulated. And in June, a society was formed to erect and maintain a church
ilding. The new society promptly established a building committee and
uthorized it to proceed with construction. The lot was purchased on Oc-
ber 31, 1853. The completed church was dedicated on March 22, 1854.
‘denominational historian reported in 1856 that it cost “about $35007. The
kurch is one of the county’s best examples of the Greek Revival style. The
uilding is a sophisticated, dignified and attractive church that shows mugh
Al in its design, particularly in the integration of the tower and the main
lock. Unfortunately, the church’s designer and builder are not now kncwn.

- The original church, the main block and the tower, have seen few ex-
or changes. A bell was not installed in the belfry until 1873, and the
eathervane was mounted on the spire in 1875. The stained glass window
ﬁ:-{he rear was added in 1938. Undated 20th century changes include i_:he

moval of a low parapet around the base of the spire and the construction
{ the present entry steps and landing.

There have been two major additions. The vestry, dedicated on August
1895, was designed by Rochester architect Frank H. Blake ina sympathe‘tic
e. It was built by David E. Clough af a cost of $976.22. The only exterior
h"énges to the vestry have been the hoods and porches erected at the doors,
he street entry in 1986, at the side enlries in 1976 and 199Z. The rear.ad-
on, built in 1974-75, was also sympathetic to the older parts of the building,
1 reusing the two vestry windows that it covered. The addition's rear en-
‘acquired a hood in 19786,

The ownership of the church has however changed. The Congrega-
nalists and the Free Will Baplists federated in 1938 o share a minister and
'x‘b'enses. And in 1968, the two churches merged to form the Community
Chiirch of Alton, which now owns the properties of both former churches.
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story structure whose roof is hipped at the southeast end and gabled on the
rthwest end. On the street facade of the chapel wing are found two small
c | story structures, the present gable roofed vestibule, and the shed roofed
former vestibule (now a closet) filling the space between the main block and

&' riew vestibule.

SECOND FREE BAPTIST CHURCH

Main Street, Alton village
1853-1854
Listed on National Register of Historic Places

.The main block, get on a granite block foundation, is irimmed by deep
Iboards with watertables and by cornerboards with moulded edges. The

I are clapboarded, save for the main northeast gable end, which is
eathed with {lush boarding. The wide box cornice has mouldings, a deep
Z&, pairs of heavy sawn brackets, and returns.

The central bay of the main block’s street facade, the northeast gable
nd, 1s occupied by the tower. The two side bays each contain a tall window
&, ornamented by a heavy bracketed sill, and a heavy peaked, moulded
ornice with large corner brackets. The lower portion of each frame containg
6:sash window with louvred shutters, while the upper portion is covered
Ve péfmanent louvred blinds with a triangular top. The southeast and north-
tsides each have three tall, large 16/16 sash windows with louvred shut-
_Ifs.and frames like those on the street facade, save that the cornices are

iéqhtal, not psaked.

‘The tall tower has the same granite foundation, sillboards, cornerboards

with moulded edges, and flush boarded walls as the main block's street facade.

ower's street front contains the main entry, now double metal and glass

sors beneath a metal framed plate glass transom window. The entry is served
de brick floored concrete landing and steps.. The entry does retain its
ooden frame with a peaked moulded cornice ornamented by heavy sawn
ackets. The first story is topped by a shallow cornice with a large cove
ng. Most of the upper portion of the tower’s street front is devoted to
y fall triple louver, which has a wide central louver with triangular top,
er flanking louvers with slanted tops, a bracketed sill, and a peaked
s with end brackets, similar to the cornices on the main block’s street
ﬁwin'c'_lbw frames. Above the main block roof, the tower has double louvers
ther three sides. The louvers on the northwest and southeast sides
ér_‘i{éd tops, bracketed sills, and bracketed peaked cornices like that
iple louver. The double louvers on the rear have rectangular tops
plain frame. The tower is topped by a box cornice with mouldings,
: rzezé and pairs of heavy sawn brackets, and by an unusual parapet.

'arapet boards are shaped teo give it small Gothic arched upper projec-
‘a wider rectangular upper projection (with an applied guatrefoil)
center of each 51de Rising from the tower roof is the tall pyramidal

Description

The Second Free Baptist Church is an Italianate style church that stands
on the southwest side of Main Street. The tall, one and a half story, gablé
rooted main block has a all three story square tower projecting from the centér
of its main facade, the northeast gable end. The tower is crowned by a i i1l
pyramidal spire. In the center of the main block’s rear southwest gable end
is the one story, shed roofed organ addition. Covering the rear southwes
side of the organ addition is the shorter, one story rear addition. Coveriﬁtj
the southeast sides of the organ addition and the rear addition, and streich:
ing to the southeast of the main block is the chapel wing, a one and a h
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The organ addition and the rear addition are simpler structures with clap
boarded walls, cornerboards, and box cornices with mouldings, Iriezes an

returns. Plain frames surround their windows and the rear addition’s northwes
side door.

ﬂfith brick, were installed in 1230. And the original wocden main entry doors
were replaced by modern plate glass and metal doors and transom window
71970,

=“The church has seen four additions to the rear and side of the main block.
The first additon was built in the center of the rear gable end in 1875 to house
anorgan. InJ anuary of 1891, the Society accepted the offer of Martha Sawyer
a chapel in memory of her late husband, Alonzo H. Sawyer. The construc-
11 of the chapel wing and the former vestibule, under the direction of “Mr.
v Bennett”, began in April. The wing was dedicated on August 19, 1891,
ie chapel wing was given a new fireplace with an exterior chimney in the
d 20th century. In 1971-72, the present vestibule was built. And the old
stibule was converted to a closet. (The vestibule's entry steps were covered
by.a handicapped access ramp in 1986). The rear addition, which contains
éﬁrestrooms and an addition to the original kitchen in the chapel wing, was
obably built sometime in the early to mid 20th century. But, church records
re silent about its construction.

The more elaborate chapel wing has a granite block foundaticn, clap
boarded walls, deep sillbcards and moulded cornerboards like those on th
main block, and a box cornice with mouldings, deep frieze, and pairs of saw
brackets. The chape! wing is lit by large double windows with 4/4 sash
bracketed sills, louvred shutters, and moulded cornices with sawn: end
brackets. A large exterior brick chimney is found at the southeast end.

The new vestibule on the chapel wing’s northeast street front has clap
boarded walls, trimmed by sillboards with watertables, and by a bex cornic
with mouldings, frieze and returns. The northeast street gable end contain
the eniry, double six panel doors with fluted side trim and a cornice with. |
frieze, architrave and sawn end brackets. The criginal concrete landing and
steps thal served this entry have been covered by a long board floored ramp
with plain wooden railings. The former vestibule, now a closet, has a win

dowless clapboarded wall, a sillboard with watertable, and a bracketed cor
nice with friere.

: In 1938, the Baptist and Congregational churches in Alton village
Jérated to share the cost of a minister and other expenses. The two churches
rrged in January of 1968 to form the Community Church of Alton, which

w . owns and maintaing both the Baptist and Congregational church
History

The Second Free Baptist Church of Alton was organized in 1831. Thé
church, which served the Free Will Baptists of the village area, joined with
the local Congregational church to build a union meetinghouse in 1838, I
the early spring of 1853, the Congregationalists decided to build their own
church, and the Free Will Baptists soon followed suit. The Second Free Bap-
tist Society was organized in August of 1853 to hold and maintain real estate.
At its August 8 meeting, the new society voted to buy a lot and build a church’
Three days later, the Society chose a seven man commitiee to erect the
building. The Main Street lot was purchased on August 27. According to the
diary of an Alton resident, the frame of the new Baptist church was ra1sed
on September 26, 1853. On January 2, 1854, the Society was able to mee’s
in the new building. The church was dedicated on March 23, 1854, the day
after the new Congregational church was dedicated. Pews were sold at au
tion on March 25 and throughout the spring. According to one newspaper
report, the building cost $3000. Unfortunately, the name of the designer of
the building does not appear in the church records or the newspapers. The
church, the only early (pre Civil War) Italianate style church in the count
is an excellent and attractive example of thai style.

The original church, the main block and the tower, has seen only a fe
exterior changes, most of them at the entry. Concrete steps, later covere
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. The square bellry astride the roof ridge has & plywood sheathad base
‘topped by a shallow moulded cornice. The slightly smaller open bellry stage
“sheathed with plywood and trimmed by corner pilasters with moulded
itals and by a wide box cornice with mouldings, frieze and architrave.
neach face of the beliry is found a large semicircular arched opening with
1oulded frame, through which can be seen the bell. The beliry’s pyramidal
st with flared eaves is crowned by an ornate metal finial.

BARNSTEAD

821

tory

.-The Congregational Church in North Barnstead was built to provide a
iper place for Congregational services in the northern part of the town
B__arnstead. Although some historians have dated the building to 1820, the
lous Barnstead church historians agree that it was constructed in 1827 and
sdicated on Cotober 31, 1827, No records survive to describe the construc-
on'- And the original appearance of the church is nct known as no early
escrlptzons or views have been located. In 1853, the building was repaired
nd remodeled, so extensively that it was deemed appropriate to rededicate
he building. Again the details of the remodeling are not recorded. Tt would
m likely that the present exterior appearance of the main block dates large- -
rom this remodeling. The design of the building, with a three bay strest
¢ front and four bay lateral sides, suggests a mid 19th century date. The
sed entry, which has a wide outer frame with cornerblocks, full sidelights,
i paneled walls and ceiling, shows the influence of the Greek Revival style
robably dates from the 1853 remodeling. The main block now appears
not unusual variant of the common mid 19th century vernacular rural

St

Description

The North Barnstead Congregational Church is a 19th century vernacula
church that stands on the northeast side of the main road in North Barnsteat
village. The gable rcofed main block is basically one and a half story hig
although the building's internal layout does give it a two story southwest qab_
end. Ahove the southwest gable end, which serves as the main lacade, a belf_l_”
is found asiride the roof ridge.

‘urther exterior changes were probably very limited in the next century
church's history. The main gable cornice might be a later addition,
i Information has been found on its origin. A small privy, once attached
ear corner of the southeast side, was removed around 1990. The most
ant change was the addition of the bellry to house a bell given in
y'bf Bea Dow. The church voted to acoept the bell and 1o build the
at_a ‘special meeting in November of 1970. The bell and belfry were
cated in August of 1971. Part of the granite block foundation was replaced
oncrete when it was repaired around 1990.

The main block is set on a cut granite block and concrete foundatio

Tts clapboarded walls are trimmed by sillboards and cornerboards. The
is trimmed by lateral box cornices with mouldings and friezes, a plain b
cornice on the street (southwest} gable, and close verges on the rear gable.
The main (southwest) facade coniains the church’s only entry, a central re-
cessed entry. The double four panel doors are flanked by moulded side 1r:
and full sidelighis with louvered shutters and share a plain outer frame w
the sidelights. The entry’s wide recess has a board floor, paneled side wal
and ceiling, and wide board steps. The recess’s outer frame is a wide mo

ed frame with upper and lower cornerblocks. The only southwestern windo

are two 8/8 sash windows with plain frames and louversd shutters in the sex

story. The northwest and southeast sides each have four large 12/8 sash_.-

dews aleo with plain frames and louvered shutters.

i’é.sent church organization dates from October 15, 1896, when the
ngregational Church of North Barnstead was organized.
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ST. PAUL'S CHURCH

]ec‘uon The recess has a concrete floor, wood shingled walls, and flat
ded board ceiling. The only window in the north walls is a round stained
glass ‘window with central circular window and six surrounding panes
a'rated by the radiating mullions, get high in the gable of the northern
ojection. The gable of the projecticn and the south gable of the main block
opped by large plain crogses. The east and west sides of the main block
i have five semicircular arched stained glass sash windows and a four
ide door. The windows have geometric patterns featuring religious
ibols and arched upper sash. The side doors each have a wooden land-
nd steps and a gable roofed hood. The apse, which covers most of the
end of the main block, is trimmed by & simple box cornice. The bowed
sciith wall features the apse’s only window, a high ceniral semicircular arched,
d glass window with a pictorial design.

Maple Street, Center Barnstead
1926, 1929 or early 1930's
Andrew Daudelin, contractor

. Paul's Church originally stocd in East Northwood, where it served
Reman Catholic summer chapel. The date of the construction of the
s a matter of some dispute. The 1938 Historical Records Survey of
¢man Catholic Church records in New Hampshire reported that it was
i_)d dedicated in 1929 to replace a church that burned in 1828, A
ev_\_r;sp_aper article published in 1958 stated that the building was erected in

Description

St. Paul’s Church stands on the west side of Maple Street in Center Barn
stead village. In form, composition, and some elements, such as the se
circular arched windows, the church is reminiscent of the ltalian Romanesqgu
style. In materials and most details, however, the church is in the Americé:
vernacular tradition. The tall, one story mair block has a narrower, shalicy
one story projection on its north gable end, which is covered by a gable roofe
extension of the main block rocf. Centered on the projection’s own north gab]
end is a shorter and narrower, one story, gable roofed entry porch. The m:
bleck roct is basically a gable rocf, but its south end is best described
a gable on hip roof. In the center of the main block’s south end is a shall
hip roofed apse with a curved south side. All sections of the church are
on concrete block foundations, sheathed with painted wood shingles, a
trimmed by cornerbeoards and plain window and door frames.

s round gable window are all derived from the Italian Romanesque.
§ materials, notably the wood shingles, and in many details, such
window and door frames and the cornices, the church is clearly in
erican vernacular tradition.

e church served in Northwood through the summer of 1956. It was
laced by St. Joseph's Church, a larger and more modern building.
vas, however, still a future for the older church. In late May and early
958, two adjoining parcels of land in Center Barnstead were pur-
5¥ the Diocese. In mid June, the church was cut into two sections,
@ hauled by truck ic the Center Barnstead property, where the
g was reassembled. In July, the church was back in use for Roman
olic services. The building was rededicated on its new site in 1959. The
oes seem to have endured scme change in its travels. i is said that
ntwo horizontally at about the eaves level, and that the first story
00! structure were moved separately. This procedure may explain
hdnges to the upper portion of the building. A 1946 photograph of
irchin Northwood shows features that apparently did not survive the
Barnstead, including a bell dote above the main facade; two gablets
per corners of the shallow north projection; and two pent roofs on
‘block’s north facade at the level of the lateral cornices and flanking
orth broiection.

The main block and its northern projection are frimmed by close verge
and by wide herizontal cornices with mouldings, sleping soffits, and friezey
The main entry of the church is sheltered by the northern entry porch, which
has concrete floor and steps, a wide plain semicircular arched opening ¢
the north front, a smaller segmental arched opening on beth the west a
east sides, and a shallow moulded cornice. The exterior of the porch, as W
ag the interior walls and the jambs of the side openings are wood shingl
The barrel vaulted ceiling and the soffits of the side arches are covered will
beaded boarding. The main entry, a large six panel door, is actually fou
in the north wall of the main block, as it is set in a recess in the northe
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CENTER BARNSTEAD CHRISTIAN CHURCH

olurtins, which are best described as Roman Doric in style. The columns
port the desp frieze of the main pediment’s horizontal cornice. The flush
varded rear wall of the portico is trimmed by sillboards. The two side bays
contain an identical entry. Each entry has a piain framed five panel door,
anking two-thirds sidelights above panels, and a wide outer frame with up-
ornerblocks and a wide block in the center of the Lntel. In the central
is"a high plain framed window, now filled by plate ¢lass. In the
miented gable appears an unusual louver in the shape of an inverted V.
louver has plain sills at each lower end and slats that “radiate” from the
mpty center of the V. Mounted on the gable above the louver is a plain

i e‘h cross. The northwest and southeast sides of the main block sach have

. -.:.2'0/20 sash windows, whose panecled frames have paneled upper
rblocks. :

Main Street, Center Barnstead
c. 1839

ke square belfry lower has a low base, whose clapboarded sides are
é_d by cornerboards and a plain cornice with frieze. The smaller belfry
he_ét_hed with flush boarding, and trimmed by cornerboards and a box
rnice with mouldings and frieze. In each face is a full height plain framed
i r,flanked on each side by pilasters with moulded capitals. The belfry
 surrounded by a crenelated parapet, with three crenels on each side,
opped merlons, and a simple coping. From each corner of the parapet rises
_ én pinnacle, a tall pyramid on a short square base, that is ornamented
"O'uldings. Rising from the center of the belfry roof is a tall pyramidal
:d_ez_)_f'spire crowned by a globe on which stands an ornate arrow-shapec
weathervane.

 basement vestibule has vinyl “clapboard” siding with corner strips,
close vinyl clad eaves and verges. Its only opening is a paneled door

Description t-in window in the southeast gable end.

The Center Barnstead Christian Church is a Greek Revival styie chL_l .
that stands on the northeast side of Main Street (Boute 128), at t edczr_n
of Shackiord Corner Road, in Center Barnstead vﬂlage. The or_ze a:tlhe -
story gable roofed main block has a temple style portico covegéllg ot
facade, the southwest gable end. A two stage belf?y tower sh"at es o
ridge above the main facade. Attached to the main block are.dwo o(r;i -5' .
additions, a gable roofed basement vestibule on the southeast side and a s

roofed rear addition covering the rear gable end.

¢ rear addition has vinyl “clapboard” siding with -corner strips, and
ad'box cornice. The new rear entry, at the northwest end of the addi-
designed to echo the older main entries. It has & paneled deoor with
mall windows, flanking two thirds sidelights, and a wide outer frame
pper cornerblocks and a large block in the center of the lintel. On the
weast side are two 20/20 sash windows with paneled frames and paneled
ornerblocks, which were reuged from the main block.

The main block, now set on a concrete foundatiqn, is _clapboarc_ﬁed___:
sillboards and cornerboards. A pedimented box cornice with mouldul‘lq_s:_
frieze is found on the three public sides. But, the rear gable has only ol
verges with returns of the lateral cornices.

Center Barnstead Christian Church was built as a private venture
1p 6f Free Will Baptists led by Rev. David Garland. (The group also
d Henry Langley, Samuel Langley, Oliver Dennett, and John K.
Their hope was that a strong Free Will Baptist church would be
ed in the new building. Unfortunately, their plans went awry. The

The principal feature of the southwest gable end is the portico.lTh pd
tico now has a concrete floor, but it retains its four monumental w
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sale of pews did not bring the return the proprietors had hoped for, and they
all lost money. Rev. Garland, who bore the greatest financial burden, h
to be rescued from his debts by his son, a Bosten merchant. Many pews we
bought by Congregationalists, who eventually gained control of the buildin
" {The church has also served other denominations at various periods of -
history. About 1960, the church left the Congregational fold to become an
independent church.) Several construction dates have been assigned to the
building, including 1830, 1832, 1834, and 184C. But, the more knowledgeabls
local historians agreed that the church was dedicated on September 12, 183
There is no further information available on its acnstruction, its designer:
its builder. This is unfortunate as the church is one of Belknap County's best
examples of the Greek Revival style. It is in fact, the only Greek Reviv,
church in the county to boast a full temple style portico covering #ts ma
facade. We also find references to the Gothic Revival style in the pinnacie
spire, and crenelated parapet of the belfry. This blend of styles is unusua
but here it is nevertheless successful.

MERICAN LEGIOK HALL

1l Road, Barnstead Parade

A stereopticon view taken in the summer of 1882 shows the building
almaost as it appears today. The view does show corner pinnacles (like tho
still crowning the belfry) and a parapet on top of the tower base, surroun
ing the belfry. These features have since disappeared. Other undated changes
include the large cross mounted on the pediment, and the large single pane
in the main facade’s only window. Recently, the moulded box cornice on th
tower base was replaced by a simpler cornice. The late 1970's saw the mast
significant changes, the construction of the concrete portico floor and the
concrete foundation under the main block, and the addition of the basement
vestibule and the rear addition.

ldzng'.that is now used as a meeting hall. Tt stands on the east side of Beauty
‘Road in the village of Barnstead Parade. The long, one and a half story,

Ke center of its west street gable end and a small half story woodshed on
‘gable end.

ush boarded gable), cornerboards, arid a cornice with sloping soffit and
1is west street gable end is largely occupied by paneled double doors
plain frame and concrete steps and landing. A round light with the

narrow 15/19 sash window of colored glass, each sash having a large
tral pane and a border of small panes.

he main block was actually built in two sections, the original western
itch section and the later eastern rear addition. The addition was built
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to match the older church, with its side walls and rocf slopes continuing tho
of the eriginal building. Both sections have clapkoarded walls with COTITH
boards, and share a cornice with mouldings, frieze and sloping soffit. ;
each side of the eniry pavilion in the west gable end can be found a tall 21
sash window with the same colored glass and sash design as the pavilion W
dows. The two windows are each lopped by a triangular lintel with simp
moulding and a diamond shaped board with an incised quaterfoil betw
the window sash and the lintel moulding. The break between the two sé
tions of the main block is marked on the north and south side walls by a v
tical beard. The front church section of each side wall has three 21/21 sa
windows with the same colored glass sash as the western windows, but simpl
lintels with drip mouldings. The rear section has two plain framed 2/2 3
windows in each side wall, but it does have another 21/21 sash window
colored glass in the rear gable end. Plain framed doors appear in the sci
and east walls of the rear section. And attached to the rear gable end
small woodshed with corrugated metal walls and shed roof.

igwever deeded to the new society until June of 1896. The deed from
{enry P. Thompson stated that, if the property ceased to be used for church
poges, it would revert to Thompson or his heirs. Apparently, that is ex-
ly;what happened. A short time later, Rev. Bell resigned and moved on
nother community. His departure removed the chief cause of the con-
The Congregationalists eventually patched up their differences and ap-
.ently abandoned the small church, as the property did return to Thomp-
on's heirg. In 1917, Elizabeth George, Henry Thompson's daughter, deed-
the building and its lot to the Barnstead Parade Fire Company. The local
men used the building as a meeting hall. About 1920, the firemen built
t addition to enlarge the building, but they carefully matched the addi-
n 1 the earlier section, leaving little exterior evidence of the enlargement.
1947 the fire company conveyed the building to the local American Legion
t #42. The Legionaires have made only minor exterior-changes, mount-
a amp above the main entry, and, in the 1970's, erecting a small woed-
d.on the rear gable end.

p

History

The building now used as the American Legion Hall was built in resp
to a dispute among the Congregationalists of Barnstead Parade. In 1880 i
First Congregational Church of Barnstead, cccupying the Center Barnst arnstead Parade
church now known as the Center Barnstead Christian Church, ard the ( -
gregational Church of Barnstead Parade, occupying the Barnstead Pa
Meeting House, united in hiring a minister. This arrangement lasted just
years, as some members of the Parade church became dissatisfied with
jointly hired minister, Rev. Leon Bell. In 1895, the First Church voted to g
Hev. Bell for another year, but the Parade church voted to not rehirg
minister. In November of 1895, eleven members of the Parade church’ wh
did support Rev. Bell, left the Parade church o join the First Church
rather than travel the mile and a half to Center Barnstead, they decide
erect & church building in Barnstead Parade.

NSTEAD PARADE CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH

The building commitiee for the new church was Calvin Jenking
Waldo, Dyer R. Babb, and Melvin H. Garland. In mid November of 183
the Suncock Journal reported that the foundation had been laid and th
framing would soon commence under the supervision of John Walds
cornerstone was laid, almost as an afterthought, on January 2. The inte
was described as nearly finished by the Pittsfield paper in mid January;
completed church was dedjcated on February 27, 1896. The new bu
was a modest but pleasant late 19th century vernacular church.

e Barnstead Parade Congregational Church is a vernacular church

Late February of 1896 also saw the formation of the First Congregé nds at the north corner of the Parade, the common of the village of

Society of Barnstead at Barnstead Parade, to maintain the church and 1
vide public worship in cooperation with the First Church. The church gt
: % a four story tower which contains the church entry and the belfry.
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_e_a__lf_ly desariptions, it is clear that the building was a standard two story
éstinghouse of the late 18th century. The main eniry was located in the
uthwest lateral wall, while on both gable ends were found stair towers serv-
ti'the second story galleries. The interior was filled with box pews. A high
lpit was placed opposite the main entry beneath a sounding beard and
h_igh window in the northeast wall. Second story galleries were found on
e sides of the mestinghouse’s interior. The fown historian later described
sarly mestinghouse as "neat, well proportioned, and...in good taste”.

The first three stories of the tower are clapboarded with cornerboards:
and a crowning box cornice with mouldings and frieze. In the northwest street:.
facade appears the entry, tall paneled double doors with a plain wide frame.
The first three stories each have one plain framed window, filled by diamon
paned colered glass with a border of stained glass rectangular panes. Th
first story window is found in the southwest side, the two upper gtory win
dows on the northwest main facade. The tower’s fourth story, the slight!
smaller bellry, is sheathed with flush boarding and trimmed by cornerkoards
A tall plain framed rectangular louver occupies most of each face. The bellry’
very low pitched roof is trimmed by a box cornice with mouldings, frieze
and architrave.

‘Apparently, the building was little changed in the first hall of the 18th
ury, not even being repaired until 1832, when it was shingled and painted.
t'i_t,':._in 1851, it received its first medernization, which transformed it from
_:B_th century meetinghouse to a 19th century church. The stair towers were
moved. The main southwest entry and the southeast entry were closed, leav-
one entry in the roadside northwest gable end. “The ancient windows”
ere "replaced by those more modern”. On the interior, two of the galleries
& removed, and the cld pews and pulpit replaced by newer furnishings.
sremodeled church was rededicated on October 28, 1851, After the Civil
'_’[_he church government was reorganized with the formation of a Con-
g_aﬁonal society in November of 1866 and a Congregational church in Ju-
1867. 1866 also saw the purchase of a bell and the erection of the pre-
('J_i_:\:rer to house it, as well as a further remodeling of the interior. A view
he church published in 1897 shows the results of these two renovations,
able roofed building with a four story tower, which looks much as it
: "t'gday. However, in the 1897 view, the windows of the tower and the
block were covered by Gothic arched shutters, and the beliry was
ped by a low ornamental parapet.

The main block is set on a cut granite block foundation. [ts clapboarde
walls are trimmed by sillbcards (save on the noriheast side), cornerboard:
and a box cornice with mouldings, {rieze, and decorative sawn corné
brackets. The slate sheathed roof is enlivened by courses of hexagonal slate
The only windows in the northwest gable end are two second story window
one on each side of the tower. Like the tower windows, they have plain frames
and sash with diamond paned colored glass bordered by narrow rectangul
stained glass panes. (& tall concrete block exterior chimney is also now found
on the northwest gable end.) The northeast and southwest sides each ha
three tall rectangular stained glass sash windows with elaborate gecmetri
floral, and pictorial desigms, but plain frames. The rear southeast gable en
has two Gothic arched stained glass windows with pictorial designs and plam
frames. (A metal bulkhead now appears on the southwest side.) '

History

The first meetinghouse erected in Barnstead was a small log buildit
By the 1780’s, this primitive structure was inadequate and the town meetin
began to digcuss the construction of a meetinghouse. The lown even vole
in 1788 to build a new meetinghouse. But, ultimately, the town did not ere
a building. The construction of a proper meetinghouse was the work d
private group of Barnstead residents. On May 1, 1796, Eli Bunker bond
himself {0 give a deed to & four man committee “chosen by a body of men
for the purpose of erecting a meetinghouse...as committee men for said p
prietors” for “a piece of land for the use of said meetinghouse, any time wh
said meetinghouse is built, and a parade”. Bunker's gift is the common kno
as Barnstead Parade, on which the church stands. Work apparently beg
on the structure in 1796. It was used in its uniinished state, before it was fina
completed in 1799 and dedicated in September of that year. One chut
historian later wrote that “the finishing of this church in its original foruts
creditable to Richard Sinclair who directed it as agent or confractor

o e church has seen some later changes. No dates were found for the
allation of the slate roof on the main block and the diamond paned sash
swer and main facade windows, or for the removal of the belfry parapet
Gothic arched shutters. The present stained glass windows are
_q_rl_a_l--_windows, most given in henor of people who died in the first decade
He 20th century. The 1980's saw the addition of the metal bulkhead and
icrete block chimney. But, in most respects, the church probably ap-
oday much as it did in the early 20th century. The building therefore
es the architectural evelution of a standard 18th century meeting house
4 late 19th century and early 20th century vernacular church.

The building served both religious and governmental purposes in its
years, being used for all town meetings for twenty-four years and the
some town meetings until 1847, when the present Town Hall was built. Fr
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SOUTH BARNSTEAD CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH

The square tower is set on a concrete foundation. The first three stories
lapboarded and trimmed by cornerboards that are topped by capitals
mouldings and dentils. The third story is crowned by a shallow cornice
:ldings, dentils, and frieze. In the street facadé is a four pane! door
ansom window and moulded lintel. The tower is lit by diamond paned
ndows with moulded lintels, one first story window and two second
indows Round wooden clock faces with Roman numerals appear in
e public sides of the third story. The fourth story, the open belfry,
tly smaller. The beliry's four corner posts have sawn decorative sup-
their outer faces at the base and very large curved brackets with
d sides that give the bellry’s cpenings an almost “ogee arched” shape.
les with turned balusters and moulded rails protect the openings,
which can be seen the bell. The bellry’s pyramidal roof with flared
hasia shallow cornice with mouldings, wood shingles (in both reqular
ggered butt courses), and, at the peak, an ornate lyre shaped
dne.

South Barnstead Road, South Barnstead
between 1814 and 1821

e south Barnstead church was built as a Free Will Baptist church on

_ei"é Clarks, so the bailding was commonly known as the Clark

Description :
H‘o_use. There is agreement among local historians on the general

The 5outh Barnstead Congregational Church stands on the northeast s
of South Barnstead Road (Route 126) in South Barnstead village. In the cen
of the southwest gable end of the one and a half story, gable roofed ma
block is a four story tower. Flanking the tower on both sides are one sto
hip roofed porches for the main block’s two southwestern entries.

1ave given the date as “'not earher than 1814 nor later than 1819”7,
1816 and 1820, in 1821, and before 1822, The designer and builder

The main block, set on a brick foundation, has clapboard walls'w,
sillboards and cornerboards. Both gables project slightly over the first sto
walls, the junction of the upper and lower walls being marked by a mould
cornice with irieze. The gable roof is irimmed by a box cornice with moul
ings, frieze, and returns on the three public sides, but only by close very
on the rear gable. Flanking the central tower on the southwest street gable
end are two identical entries, each having a four panel door, five-sixthg
sidelights, and a wide outer frame with upper cornerblocks and a p
moulding on the lintel. The two enlries are sheltered by identical porch
nestled into the corners of the main block and the tower. Each porch h
granite step with metal railings, a board base and flocr, two square pi
with slight entasis and moulded bases and capitals, a box cornice
mouldings and frieze, and a low pitched hip roof. Above the porches
two small diamond paned windows with moulded liniels, one on sach:
of the tower, set into the corners formed by the tower and the porch #
The northwest and southeast sides each have three large 12/12 sash wini
with plain frames and plastic shutters, while the rear gable end has two _
12/12 sash windows with plastic shutters.

w was placed in the central bay. In the mid 19th century, many
_l_ders became Adventists. So, in 1857, it was agreed that the

' ree__Wﬂl Baptist congregation conlinued to decline, holding its last
367 and leaving the Adventists in full possession of the building.
ts'organized a church here in 1878. But, in 1881, the organiza-
-areligious dispute. Part of the congregation left the church. The
group became the South Barnstead Christian Association in
61:1891. As the building was then in need of repair, the Associa-
bished the church and, in the words of a church historian, “put on
jeaves”, which may refer to the box cornice or to the projecting
pérhaps to both. A Congregational church was organized in Oc-
892::And, in December, the South Barnsiead Christian Associa-
the South Barnstead Congregational Society.
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At the turn of the century, the church was still @ modest vernacula ld Province Road. The one and a half story, gable roofed main block has
building, a simple, gable roofed, one story structure with almost no exterio ‘one stage belfry astride the roof ridge above the main facade, the southwest
embellishments. But then, in the fall of 1912, Lewis F. Hanson, a Barnsteat dble end.
native then residing in Cambridge, Mass., olfered to give the church a be.
if & tower was built to hold it. His offer was followed by the gift of Everet
Clark of Boston, another Barnstead native, of a clock for the new tower. Th
necessary funds were quickly raised to build the tower and beliry, as wel
as two new porches flanking the tower and sheltering the two entries. O
December 18, 1912, the tower with its bell and clock were dedicated. In 1916
two small windows were installed above the porch roofs to improve the in
terior lighting. But, the only cther changes since 1912 appear to be just th
addition of metal railings on the porch steps in the late 1970's and of plasti
shutters on the windows in the mid 1980s. Essentially, the building appear
today as it did in 1912, when it was transformed from & very plain structux:‘_
to an attractive early 20th century vernacular church.

~Set on a cut granite block foundation, the main block is clapbearded
ave for the seldom seen rear gable end, which is sheathed with wood shingles.
ornerboards trim all of the walls. The three clapboarded public sides share
illboards and a wide pedimented box cornice with mouldlngs and frieze.
1he rear gable has only close verges.

- The three bay southwest gable end has a large central 15/15 sash win-
ow with moulded lintel and louvered shutters. The two side bays contain
the two entries, each a four panel door with a four pane transom window and
noulded lintel. In the center of the clapboarded pedimented gable is a
emicircular louver with radiating slais and simply moulded frame. The north-
st and southeast sides each have three more large 15/15 sash windows with
tioillded lintels. The windowless rear gable end has two exterior brick

BELMONT

PROVINCE ROAD MEETING HOUSE

i The square belfry has a low base, that is clapboarded with cornerboards
nd topped by the continuous sill of the beliry openings. The belfry's upper
valls are sheathed with wood shingles and topped by a box cornice with
vuldings and frieze. Large rectangular openings in each face reveal the
ell and its framework. The belfry’s pyramidal roof has flared eaves, wood
hingles, metal ridge mouldings, and a short metal finial.

Province Road (Route 107)
. 1792

T_he first church erectad in what is now the town of Belmont, the Pro-
e Road Meeting House was built for a non-denominational group of pro-
ors. The traditional construction date, used in all local histories, is 1792.
owever the deed for the land, “conveyved for the purpese of building a
\ eetmg House thereon”, was signed June 10, 1793. We have no records of
the construction or the ea_rly years of the meetinghouse. From partial descrip-
ions, it would seem to have been a standard two story, late 18th century
méetlnghouse with box pews, a high pulpit, and galleries on three sides of
he_mtemor

In 1816, the meetinghouse became a Free Will Baptist Church, the home
achurch organized on November 6 of that year. The church was reorgan-
d as the Third Free Will Baptist Church in Upper Gilmanton on August
’7,:1836. The reorganization of the church was preceded by the reorganiza-
of the proprietors of the meetinghouse as the Third Free Baptist Society
ilmanton sometime in 1835. A fragmentary typescript of the Society’s
sords {found in the collections of the N.H. Higtorical Society) does not in-

Description

The Province Road Meeting House is a vernacular wooden church th
shows the strong influence of the Greek Revival style and also features
earlvy 20th century belfrv. The building stands on the northeast side of _th
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clude the new Society’s earliest meetings. But, apparently, a committee had:
been instructed in 1835 to consider the repair and remaedeling of the building:
The committee’s report, recommending that the galleries be removed and
the building cut down to one story, was subsequently accepted by the Socie-
ty. A building committee (Bailey Young, Jeduthan Farar, and Jeremiah
Leavitt) was elected to carry out the repairs and changes. The committee did:
raduce the building to one story, remove the galleries and the box pews, and:
“make other alterations”. COn November 17, 1883, the Society voted to
establish a committee {Perley Farrar, Jeremiah Leavilt, and B.B. Lampre
o draw up a plan for further repairs and changes. On November 26, the Socies
ty adopted the commitiee’s plan and voted to turn the building to face thé
road. Perley Farrar, Richard Plumer and Samuel Hadley were chosen as a
building committee on December 1, with the power to oversee the work. In
January, the project was bid off to Perley Farrar for $790. The work was ap*
parently completed by August 1854, when the Society accepied the building:
committee’s reports. Unfortunately, there is so little description of the 1835
and 1854 renovations that it is now difficult to determine exactly when the
building acquired its present appearance, with its Greek Revival style i
spired wide pedimented box cornice, its large windows, and its three bay
main facade with two side entries and semicircular gable louver. :

gent Street, Belmont village
9-1900

The exterior of the main block has changed little since 1854, the only
change recorded in the Society records being the addition of two chimneys
on the rear gable end in 1896. The most significant later change was the a
dition of the beliry. At a special November 1909 meeting, the Society ac:
cepted the offer of I.W. Rice to present a bell to the church in memory i
Arthur Lamprey, and the offer of Mary Lamprey and other members of th
Lamprey family to build a belfry for the new bell. The bell is inscribed 1913,
go presumably the belfry was erected in that year. The church declined '

membership in the 20th century. And, in 1981, the building was deeded b ﬁEfb:b'ards. Box cornices with mouldings, friezes and, on the main block
the church to the Belmont Historical Society, which now maintains if. : !

at the corner of Sargent and Fuller Streets in Belmont village. The
oofed main block set with its southeast gable end facing Sargent Street

_ :bther sides because of the slope of the land. Projecting from the east
of the main block is the shorter, one story entry pavilion, with a short

The only other opening in the pav1hon is a large dlamond shaped
dow w1th moulded lintel in the northeast (Fuller Street) side.

th‘é center of the main block’s southeast gable end is a large broad
. now boarded up, which is crowned by a large triangle created by

sm regular and staggered butt courses. The northeast and southwest
'1jde's each have three large 2/2 sash windows with moulded lintels in
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their main level. The basement level has more windows with moulded lintelj‘
and two doors. The northeastern bassment door is sheltered by a gable rocted

hood. '

CENTER HARBOR

UR LADY OF VICTORY CHURCH

History i
sea Avenue, Center Harbor village

The Advent Christian Church was organized in 1899. Church service: 1906

were at first held in a room of Hall’s store building. But the church was soon
at work on its own meeting place. An Advent Christian Scciety was formed
in the fall of 1899. And, on October 5, 1899, a lot was purchased in the village,
Work began almost immediately. A Laconia paper reportad by the end o
the month that the basement had been commenced. The foundation was fin
ished in November. In December, the exterior was completed. The plasterers
were at work in January. February saw the carpenters working on the interid
finish. In the same month, the first services were held in the vestry in the
lower level. On June 8, 1900, the church was dedicated.

The exterior of this modest turn of the century vernacular church ha
changed little since its construction, the only known changes being the
stallation of a hocd over the basement door in the mid 1980's and the recen
loss of the wooden finial that once crowned the pavilion roof. The church
changed its name to the Belmont Full Gospel Assembly in 1951. But, in,
cent years, the congregation declined. In April of 1986, the building w
conveyed to the First Baptist Church of Belmont. In September of 1892, ¢
Baptist church deeded the property to the Circuit Riding Ministries, Ini
a new church which plans to renovate the building and once again use

for religious services. ur Lady of Victory Church is a Gothic Revival style church that stands

torner of Kelsea Avenue and Bean Road in Center Harbor village.
ain facade, the southeast gable end of the tall, one and a half story,
Ei'"_OOfed main block, faces Kelsea Avenue. The southeast end of the
th:has a central eniry porch, a three story tower at the south corner,

second story, gable roofed projection at the east corner of the main
k;':___The northwest end of the main block is covered by a central, semi-
gonal apse. The apse is flanked on both sides by one story, gable roofed
5, both of which overlap the main block's sides. All sections of the church
ston fieldstone foundations, which are quite high ai the southeast down-
nid of the church. And they are now all covered by vinyl “clapboard”
' -_-szh vinyl window and door frames, viny! corner trim and vinyl clad

€ main block has a cornice with sloping soffit, save for the box cor-

ts easterly second story projection. In the center of its southeast gable
'_gi._th'e main entry, double modern wooden doors. The entry porch has
icrete floor. Its high fieldstone foundation and side walls are continuous
e foundation and side walls of the concrete and stone steps. The steps
out at the bottom, where they are flanked by round fieldstone boate
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with conical tops. The porch’s own round fisldstone posts support a gable: istory
rool with vinyl covered beams trimmed by close eaves on the sides. The gabls:
of the porch rool has a wide trefoil opening and a parapet with vinyl coping’
and gablets at each end. On each side of the main entry is a large stained
glass window. Both of these main level windows contain a pair of trefoil arched;
windows beneath a small quatreloil window in a Gothic arched vinyl fram
Like most of the church’s stained glass windows, they feature geometric an
floral patterns. Above the main entry is a large round stained glass window
composed of a ceniral quatrefoil window, four trefoil arched window
radiating vertically and horizontally from the central window, and four mor
guatrefoil windows in the remaining corners. (The central quatreloil windo
features a dove.) The large window's round frame is topped by vinyl sheathin
in the shape of a broad Gethic arch, an echo of an earlier decorative featur
High in the gable is a Gothic arched louver. At the east end of the upp
level is a smaller double stained glass window, with two irefoil arched wi
dows in joined lancet arched frames. This window is actually found on th
side of the main block’s second story projection. The projection, whos
southeast and northeast walls are continuous with the main block walls below
rises from the east corner of the main block roof. The short gable roofed pr¢
jection has & pedimented box cornice. In its northeast gable end appears twi
small irefoil arched stained glass windows in lancet arched frames. The mai
levels of the main block’s northeast and southwest sides each leature thre
large stained glass windows, like the southeastern windows, with two trefd
arched windows beneath a quatrefoil window in a Gothic arched frame:

- A Roman Catholic summer mission of St. Jeseph's Church of Laconia
was apparently established in Center Harbor in the 1890's. Around the turn

J_f_ 'the century, planning and fundraising began for the construction of a sum-
mer chapel for the mission. According to & Laconia newspaper, the church’'s
ost was estimated at about $6000. One summer resident gave $2000. Other
enerous donations were received, and further funds were raised by enter-
ainments in Center Harbor and Boston. A village lot was acquired by a deed
lated December 22, 1904. Construction of the foundation began in April of
905. By late July, the church, although still under construction, was finished
nough to house its firgt services. In September, the exterior was described

“practically completed”. Work on the inferior continued through the winter
nd the Bishop was informed by a letter, dated April 10, 1906, that the in:

ior had been finished. The builder and designer are not known. But, a
:ebruary 1906 newspaper item did report that local carpenter-builder J an;es
eighton was then working on the interior finish, It is not known if he had
‘broader role in the consiruction of the church.

“Our Lady of Victory Church is a substantial Gothic Revival style church
ith many interesting surviving features, a tall tower, Gothic arched stained,
1 .ss windows, a large gable window, an unusual porch, and a semioctagonal
pse. But, it has seen major exterior changes. About 1980, the buiiding was
heathed with vinyl siding, which covered the original clapboarding and
ually all of the trim. The doors have also been replaced, most recently
991 to meet fire codes. The church is still a summer chapel, but it is now
migsion of St. Charles’ Church in Mered:th.,

 Projecting from the south corner of the main block is the three stor
square tower. The first story has a trefoil arched stained glass window in lanc
arched frame on the scutheast. The second story has double windows, wil
trefoil arched stained glass windows in joined lancet arched frames, in bot
the southeast and southwest sides. The top story has triple lancet arched
louvers in joined frames on the southeast, southwest and northwest. The ta
pyramidal roof with flared eaves has a box cornice and a copper pyramid;
top crowned by a large cross.

The apse is narrower than the main block. But, the slopes of its sem
octagonal roof are continuous with the slopes of the main block’s roof. An
the roofs have similar cornices with sloping soffits. The apse’s only winda
are two large trefoil arched stained glass windows with pictorial designs a;
lancet arched frames, high in the angled (north and west) walls.

The two wings are symmetrically placed, each covering the side w.
of the apse, and parts of the angled wall of the apse and the side wall of t
main block. Both have cornices with sloping soffits, and are lit by Go
arched, stained glass sash windows. At the inner corners of the wi
southeast facades are the church’s side entries, plain modern doors ser
by concrete and feldstone steps.
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sotitheast gable, but only has returns on the rear gable. The southeast gable
th has two 1/1 sash windows with wooden frames, granite sills, and segmental
brick arches in the basement level, and two 6/6 sash windows with plain vinyl
rames and louvered shutters in the second story. The vestibule that covers
ruch of the main facade is trimmed by vinyl paneled corner pilasters at the
nt corners and by a vinyl box cornice with frieze. The cornice is pedimented
on the small gable in the center of the southeast slope of the vestibule’s hip
of. In the center of the vestibule’s southeast front is the main entry, tall
paneled double doors, served by a concrete step with metal railing and framed.
by vinyl paneled pilasters supporting a vinyl clad entablature. Flanking the
eh’;ry are tall narrow 1/1 sash windows with vinyl cornices. The three bay
ortheast and southwest sides of the main block have double windows and
171 sash and wooden frames in the brick basement and tall large double win-
dows with 6/6 sash, plain vinyl frames, and louvered wooden shutters in the
riain level. A concrete block and brick exterior chimney is found on the rear
ble end, most of which is covered by the rear addition. The shallow rear
addition has vinyl cornerboards and close eaves, and only one window.

CENTER EARBOR CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH

Main Street, Center Harbor village
1837

 The three stage tower astride the main block roof ridge has a low square
g8, sheathed with vinyl clapboards and trimmed by vinyl cornerboards and
a:¥inyl box cornice with frieze. The smaller square belfry, also covered by
viny! clapboards, is trimmed in its short lower portion by vinyl cornerboards
a'n:d' in its taller upper section by vinyl paneled corner pilasters, whose capitals
are projections of the vinyl box cornice with paneled vinyl frieze. A large

tntrimmed, semicircular arched louver appears in each face of the beliry
gé. The smaller octagonal top stage is vinyl ¢lad with a rectangular panel
"each face and a box cornice with frieze. The upper stage is crowned by
d gopper clad deme on a low copper clad octagonal base. Crowning the dome
s an elaborate arrow-shaped metal weathervane. :

Description

The Center Harbor Congregational Church is a modified Greek Revival:
style church that stands on the northwest side of Main Street in the village:
of Center Harbor. The older portion of the church consists of a gable roofed
two and a half story main block, set on a high brick basement, with a high;:
one story, hip roofed vestibule on its southeast street gable end, a shallow-,:-
one story, hip roofed rear addition on its rear gable end, and a three stag
tower astride the southeast end of its roof ridge. A one story, gable roofed
connector overlapping the north corner of the main block and the northeast:
end of the rear addition ties the older portion of the building to the new, high
one story, gable roofed hall/classroom addition. The hall/classroom addition:
has a one story, gable roofed vestibule in the center of its southeast gable
end and a one story, gable roofed rear stairhall wing on its southwest side_‘__-.
The entire building is now covered by vinyl “clapboard” siding and trim..

+ The connector, the hall/classrcom addition, its vestibule and rear stairhall
wing, all have vinyl clapboards and cornerboards. Their roofs are trimmed
by viny! box cornices, which are pedimented on the southeast gables of the
;1_'1/ classroom additicn and the vestibule, but ctherwise have simple returns.
he connector however has close vinyl verges.) The new portion of the
building is lit by windows with vinyl frames and, on most of scutheast and
rtheast windows, plastic decorative shutters. With the exception of some
gle pane basement windows, the windows have 1/1 sash. The shallow nar-
W vestibule contains the main entry to the new portion, double paneled
doors with small built-in windows and a plain vinyl frame. The main block
and the rear stairhall wing each have a northwestern paneled door with plain
yinyl frame. The main block rear door is reached by a wooden ramp and
lariding, the stairhall wing door by bhoard and concrete steps and wooden
landing.

The main block is irimmed above the high brick basement with vinyl
cornerboards and, on the corners of the street gable end, vinyl paneled co
ner pilasters. The vinyl box cornice with frieze is pedimented on the maifr
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History OLD WEST CENTER HERBOR MEETINGHOUSE

A Congregational church serving both Meredith and Center Harbor w
organized in 1815. Services alternated between the two towns for the ne
two decades. But, the Congregationalists of Center Harbor decided that th
wanted their own separate church, with its own building. Fund raigsing {
the building was underway by late August 1836. John Coe donated a suitab
village lot on November 8, 1837. And, in the fall and winter of 1837 the chur
was built by local men, who donated their labor. Nevertheless, the buildir
cost $1700. And pews were sold to help defray the expenses. The first Su
day service was held in the building on January 14, 1838. A separate Co

gregational church in Center Harbor was formally organized on May 9 and
10, 1838.

ohn S. York, builder

As originally built, the Greek Revival stvle church had a two and a hs
story main block and a three stage belfry tower. (It was not, however, urtil
1856 that a bell was installed in the tower.} The street facade had a centr
entry and two windows in the first story and three windows in the second stor
The pediment topping the main facade was supported by four tall pilaste
which divided the facade into three bays.

In 1885, the need for service rooms led to a major alteration of the
building, acccrding to the designs of Concord architects Dow & Whesle
The wooden church was raised and a very high brick basement (almost
complete firgt story) containing a new vestry was built under it. The lar
vestibule was added to the front, hiding much of the criginal first story. I'
deed, few of the original elements of the first two stories remained, save f
the corner pilasters and two of the second story windows.

Other exterior changes have been made in recent years. 1977 saw th
construction of an exterior chimney on the rear. In 1978, vinyl siding ah
trim covered the entire building, except for the brick basement. A new froi
step and railing were installed in 1985. Facing the need for more space 1
its programs, the church began making plans for expansion in 1983. A com
mittee headed by Wesley Warren designed an addition containing a hall an
classrooms, with a connector to the church proper, as well as its cwn vestibu_:
and rear stairhall. Ground was broken for the structure on October 29, 198
Erected by F.G. Antell Construction Company of Meredith, the addition w:
dedicated at the church’s 130th anniversary celebration on May 14 and 1
1988,

In the center of the southeast gable end, the main facade, is the main
entry, tall, paneled deuble doors flanked by plate glass two-thirds sidelights
a"b'_('jve panels. The eniry is flanked on each side by a 6/6 sash window with
tiew vinyl sash and a flower box, but retaining the old wooden frame. In the
jable is a large, semicircular arched, 28 pane window with rectangular lower
pé:n'es and radiating upper panes. The northeast and southwest sides each
ve three 6/6 sash windows with vinyl sash, plain frames, and, on the north-
st, flower boxes. The southwest side also has a paneled door with a built-in
micircular window and a transom window. Ancther such door appears in
& northwest gable end, as do double multipane glass and wood doors with
double transom window. The northwest gable features an older diamond
Shaped four pane window.
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History

GILFORD

The present building replaced a Free Will Baptist church that burned
ORD COMMUNITY CHURCH

on the night of November 6/7, 1889. (The old church was said to ke abo
fifty years old at the time. It was, in its early years, a union church used b
both the Free Will Baptists and the Methodists. But, in later years, the Ba
tists predominated.) By early December, it had been decided to build a new
church. Some local residents began working on the foundation. And others nard Morrill, John P. Smith, and Benjamin Rowe, building committee and
promised donations of lumber. In January, the contract for the building was esigners

awarded to local builder John 5. York. Construction was underway in Apr o
The exterior was completed and ready for the painters in June. And Septemb
saw the painters at work on the interior. The West Center Harbor Unioii
Meetinghouse Society sold the pews on November 15, 1850. And the church
was dedicated on December 4, 1890, The building was a simple late 19
century vernacular church with almost no ernament. Iis only entry was doub
paneled doors with built-in windows in the southeast gable end. The buildin
was lit by 6/6 sash windows on the main level, two in each gable end an
three in each lateral side, and by a diamond shaped four pane window |
each gable.

r Hill Road, Gilford village

The church remained in use for only a few decades. Church services
were discontinued in the 1920's. And the building was essentially abandone:
Eventually, the building and its lot became the subject of a land dispute b
tween the Baptists and the owner of the surrounding land, as a deed cou
not be located conveying the land to any church organization. The state Ba
tist organization eventually decided to abandon its claim fo the property, as.
the value of the deteriorated building did not justify the legal expense of mai
taining the claim, and there was no cbvicus religious use for the churd

The property was subsequently subdivided and the lot containing th
church wag sold in 1987 to Jeffrey Halsey of Meredith. He sold it to Lesl
Stacey in 1989. In the spring and summer of 1989, the building was renovated
as a house by Terrence Sullivan and Don Pintucara. The old sash in the maj
level windows was replaced by new viny!l sash. Both main level windows®
the northwest gable end and one window on the southwest side were remov
although one window was reused on the southwest. An arched window ro;
the Dartmouth College gymnasium replaced the diamond shaped windg
in the southeast gable. And a new entry replaced the original main ety
in the same facade. Three new doors were added on the southwest and nort
west. The old chimney was removed and new skylights and metal chimng
flues were installed. The house is now cocupied by Leslie Stacey and Té
rence Sullivan. '

he Gilford Community Church (formerly the Free Will Baptist Church)
ani-dltered Greek Revival style church that stands on the southeast side
otter Hill Road in Gilford village. The long, two and a half story, gable
.e;i main block has a two stage tower with spire astride the northwest end
roof ridge and a small, one story, gable roofed basement vestibule on
sttheast side. A one story, gable roofed addition on the southwest side
riects the criginal church to the two and a half story, gable roofed former
rd Town Hall, now part of the building. All secticns of the church
ing are set on concrete foundations and sheathed by vinyl clapboard
“and vinyl trim.

@ main block is trimmed by wide vinyl cornerboards and a wide vinyl
ornice with frieze and returns. In the center of the three bay northwest
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1th, and Benjamin Rowe as a committee to build a meetinghouse. The three
en-visited other churches, drew up plans for a church, sold pews to raise
he riecessary funds, and built the church. The deed for the lot in Gilford
lage is dated February 10, 1834. Two different church histories give the
te'for the raising of the frame as July 1833 and as July 1834, (Given the
of the deed, the 1834 date seems more likely.) Roth histories agree that
ew church was dedicated on January 1, 1835. The building cost $1100.
& contractors, if there were any, are not known. The new building was a
eck Revival style church, with a two story beliry tower (without a spire)
ove the main facade.

street gablae end is the main entry, paneled double doors, framed by pilasters
with moulded bases and capitals supporting a moulded cornice. A widg
granite landing and steps with metal railings serves the entry. The main facade
has two first story windows and three second story windows, all with 12/12
sash and moulded vinyl frames. Each sash has a central pane of rippled glas:
and a border of small panes of colored glass. A semielliptical frame, noj\:r
filled with vinyl “clapboards”, appears in the gable. The southwest and north__
east sides each have five tall stained glass windows with transom windows
and moulded vinyl frames, the western window being narrower than its fou_:_
companions. Alsc on the northeast side is the small basement vestibule, with
vinyl clapboards and cornerboards, a paneled door in its northeast gable
end, a single window, and a vinyl box cornice. Vinyl frames surround th}a
8/8 sash windows in the first and second story windows of the rear gable end
as well as the rear entry in the same facade. The rear entry’s double multipane
glass doors are sheltered by a portico with concrete floor and ramp, meta
railings, two columns at the outer corners, vinyl lateral box cornices, and
a vinyl clapboarded gable with close verges.

The church has seen a change in ownership. In 1922, the Methodist and
pf_ist churches of Gilford village federated to form one church. And, in
4, it was decided to hold all services in the former Free Will Baptist
drch, which became the Gilford Community Church.

The building has also seen extensive alterations. Stained glass windows
re installed in the late 19th century, probably in the 1890's. As Gilford
w after World War I1, the church faced the need for expansion. Plans for
rgement were discussed throughout the 1950's and the early 1960's. In
34, -architect Robert Lemire was hired. But, it was not until 1969 that ground
broken for a new basement set further back from the road. In 1970, the
crete foundation was completed and the church moved back ontc the new
asement by mover Brackett Hill. The basement was designed tc hold a hall,
itchen, and classrooms. The upper stories of the main block were extend-
16 the rear to provide additional space for offices and other church facikties.
contractors, Keytown Builders, completed most of the exterior work by
1970, although the basement vestibule and the new spire on the bellry
ér were not added until 1971. The renovation also included a more im-
sive Colonial Revival main entry. The renovated church was dedicated
October of 1971. In 1982, the church was resheathed with vinyl siding and
Arim.

The one story addition connecting the church and the old town hall i
trimmed by vinyl cornerboards, lateral box cornices, and close verges
Moulded vinyl frames surrcund the addition’s 8/8 sash windows and its two
paneled doors with built-in windows, one in the southwest gable end and
another flanked by half sidelights above panels in the center of the northwesl
street facade.

The former town hall is trimmed with vinyl cornerboards, lateral box cot
nices, and close verges. The recessed entry in the center of the three ba:
northwest street gable end has a paneled deor with built-in window, a co
crete floor, granite steps, vinyl clad walls and ceiling, and a plain vinyl outel
frame. The two 8/8 sash windows in the first story, the three 8/8 sash window,
in the second story, and the two 9/6 sash windows in the gable all have mou
ed vinyl frames. A tall flagpole on the roof ridge completes the street facade;
Moulded vinyl frames are found on the 8/8 sash windows of the sides a
the 6/6 sash windows of the rear gable end. The rear gable end also has.
paneled door with built-in window that is sheltered by a small gable roo_fq
portice with concrete floor and ramp, metal railings, two columns, vinyl late
cornices and verges, and a vinyl clapboarded gable.

The moving of the town offices from the Town Hall next door to a new
lding in 1988 created another opportunity for the expansion of the church
ilities. The Gilford Town Hall was only a little younger than the church
lding. The town purchased a lot next to the Free Will Baptist Church in
stember of 1840. Barnard Morrill, Joseph Thing, and Enoch Hoyt were
sen as the building committee at a November 2, 1840 town meeting. The
al March meeting of 1842 was held in the new town hall, so the building
resumably erected in 1841. All town meetings were held there through
“And the building continued to be used for town offices until the new
office building was erected. Three small additions were built on the rear

> ‘mid 20th century. And the town hall was sheathed with vinyl siding
983.

History

The Free Will Baptist church was organized in Gilford (then part of:
town of Gilmanton) in 1798. The Free Will Baptists used the Upper Par
Meeting House, built in 1792, sharing it with cther denominations. But;
the 1830's, the meetinghouse was in disrepair, and the Free Will Bapt

anted their own church. A church meeting chose Barnard Morrill, Tohn ‘ormal planning for the conversion of the town hall to community center
W 1 . ]

r church auspices began in February of 1989. Both the church congrega-
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tion and the annual town meeting approved the concept in March of 198
Architect Paul Hedstrom was chosen the following month. NCM Associat
ol Laconia were selected as the general contractors. The selectmen deed
the town hall property to the church on March 28, 1920. And greund
promptly broken on April 1. The various 20th century additions on the tow
hall were removed. And the building was moved back onto a new found
tion so that its main facade would be in line with the church's street facad
The town hall was enlarged by a rear addition of the same height and w
as the original building. And it was connected to the church by another 4¢
dition to house church offices. The connector covered the side entry on'the
southwest side of the church, s¢ a new rear entry was built on the main blog
The rear gable end windows were also changed at the same time. The proje
cost $725,000. The new Community Center was dedicated on October 2]
1990.

:_'bﬁilding stands on the northeast side of Belknap Mountain Road in Gilford
ggé. The one and a half story, gable roofed main block has a two stage

wer. with spire astride the roof ridge above the southwest gable end, the
et facade,

The main block has a cut granite block foundation and clapboarded walls
the three public sides. The rear gable end has a fieldstone foundation and
heathed with asphalt shingles. Sillboards trim the northwest and southeast
alls: Paneled corner pilasters grace the front corners, while cornerboards
'the rear corners. A box cornice with mouldings, frieze, and returns trims
e roof on the three public sides. But, the rear gable has only close verges.

he center of the main ievel of the southwest gable end ig & high, plain
med, double window with 14 pane sash. Each tall sash has two large panes
rosted glass and three rows of four panes of colored glass above, below,
between the larger panes. To each side of this window are the church’s
ntries. Each entry is a paneled door with two tall built-in windows of
ed and frosted glasgs, a plain frame, and granite steps. Two plain framed
sash windows appear in the gable. The southeast and northwest sides each
o four large tall double windows with 14 pane sash of the same design
ie central street front window. Each of these double windows is topped
in applied "Gothic arch” with “impost blocks” and a triangle of clapboard-

gin the tympanum. Two more double windows with the same sash design,
tsimple frames, are found in the rear gable end,

TEOMPSON-AMES HISTORICAL SQCIETY BUILDING

Belknap Mountain Read, Gilford village
c. 1834

The square tower base is clapboarded with cornerboards and a box cor-
with mouldings and frieze. In each of the three public sides of the base
applied "Gothic arch” with simple sill and arched frame enclosing a
ngle of clapboarding. The smaller square belfry stage is sheathed with
h Boarding and trimmed by cornerboards and close eaves with friezes.
ach face is a "peaked” opening, in the shape of a rectangle topped by
ngle. The bell and its frame can be seen through these plain framed
ngs. The belfry is crowned by the tall spire, essentially a tall octagonal
rising from a low pyramidal roof and topped by a carved wooden finial.

he Universalists of Gilford used the town meetinghouse for their ser-
sin the early 19th century, sharing the building with the Baptists and
- denominations. By the 1830's, the meetinghouse had fallen into
air. And the Universalists, like the Baptists, decided to leave the old
ding and erect their own church. On March 25, 1834, the propmetors
the Gilford Village Union Meetmg House purchased a lot for a “meeting-
g8 1o be erected on the same”. Unfortunately, we know littie about the
'truction and early history of the church buiit by the Universalists, save
they occupied it for a few years, interrupted by periods of diguse.

R

Description

The Thompson-Ames Historical Society Building is a vernacular _
church, showing the influence of the Gothic Revival in its ornament and's
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In 1874, the abandoned church was occupied by a newly formeé
Methodist church, which repaired and refurbished the building. In 1882, th
Methodists remodeled the church on both the interior and the exterior, i
stalling “stained’” glass (probably the present frosted and colored glass) in
the windows, "new outside doors with glass panels”, a bell, and a 25 foci
high, eight sided “steeple”. An 1898 photograph shows the building mué
as it appears today. But, since no pre-1889 view of the church has come 1
light, it is difficult to date some of the exterior elements. Presumably, the cor
nices and corner pilasters are original features of the Universalist chur
The Gothic arches abave the side windows and on the tower base may dat
from either the original construction or the 1889 remodeling. Similarly, th
present belfry stage (or the whole tower) may have been built or at least
remodeled in the 1889 renovations. The building can be described as a la’ce
19th century adaptation of an early 19th century church. Its form and com
position, save for the spire, are typical of the early 19th century. The orna
ment, some of it inspired by the Gothic Revival style, dates from both th
early and iate 19th century.

AUGUSTINE'S CHAPEL

Hoadley, builder

The Methodists used the church reqularly until 1922, when the Free Wl |
Baptist and Methodist churches of Gilford village federated. In 1924, it was
decided ic use the Baptist church for the services of the new Gillord Com-
munity Church. The Methodist Church was apparently little used after
decision. In 1941, it was sold to George Leigh, who sold it again within
few weeks to Rev. Masie Sheppard of Meredith. Rev. Sheppard did hold se
vices in the church. But, in 1943, she sold the church to George P. Ame
In the same vear, Mr. Ames gave the building to the Giltord Historical Societ
on the condition that the society be renamed in honor of his father, Thomy
son Ames. The building has since served as the historical society’s meetin _
place and museum. Few changes have been made to the building in the 20t iption
century. Indeed, the only important 20th century extericr change appears
to be the installation ol the asphalt shingles on the rear gable end, whig
was done by the 1950s.

St. Augustine’s Chapel is a small Shingle Style chapel that stands on
jrounds of a private home on the southeast side of Cotton Hill Road in
ord. The chapel's one story, gable roofed main block has a one story,
e roofed entry porch centered on its northwest gable end, a shorter, one
hip roofed sacristy on its northeast side, and a cne stage belfry astride
oof ridge above the northwest gable end.

The main block and the sacristy are both set on fieldstone foundations,
thed with wood shingles, and trimmed by similar box cornices with
ldings, friezes and returns. They are lit by 1/1 sash windows with mould-
atries, four in the southwest side of the main block, three in the north-
side of the main block, and one in the sacristy. The northwest gable end
&'main block coniains the only entry, a five panel door with moulded
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The small entry porch has low walls with wood shingles on the outside
and a moulded coping. The opening for the steps in the center of the north:
west side is flanked on each side by a decorative wooden cap on the coping:
Two square corner pillars with simple bases and capitals stand on the low
walls to support the pedimented boz cornice with mouldings and frieze. Th
open gable features three vertical struts rising from the horizontal cornice
of the pediment. The gable roof has flared eaves. :
ted on i i istor

The square belfry’s base has slightly sloping walls, covered with asphal & Hational Register of Historic Places
shingles and topped by the continuous sill of the belfry openings. Above th
sill, the belfry ie sheathed with wood shingles. A plain framed rectangula
opening is found in each face of the belfry. The tall pyramida! roolf has
box cornice with mouldings and frieze, flared eaves, and a simple crowning
Cross.

History

St, Augustine’s Chapel was built as a private chapel for Rev. Williar
Walter Webb, the Episcopalian Bishop of Milwaukee, at his summer home
The house, which still commands a line view of Laconia, Lake Winnisqua
and the mountains, had been purchased by his mother. The chapel, buil
in 1905, is said to have been the work of a Gilmanton carpenter named
Hoadley. It was consecrated on October 8, 1907. The original building con
sisted of just the main block and the sacristy. The belfry was added after Worl
War T to house a bell from a Belgian church destroyed during the war'hy
German shellfire. In the mid 1920's, the Bishop added the entry porch 1e
complete his modest chapel. Althouch a very simple structure with little orn:
ment, the chapel is an atiractive and charming building. (The chapel rema
privately owned and stands on private property which is not open to

public.)

: be.-.Centre Congregational Church is a Federal style church that stands
he e@_st side of Province Road (Route 107} in Gilmanton Corner village
d urgh is set parallel to the road, with its main facade facing south ’fowards.
! of the Gilmanton Academy building. The three criginal sections
Ch: rch include the gable roofed, one story main block; the gable roofed
y_.}entry pavilion centered on the south gable end of the main blockf
rrower and shorter than the main block; and a two stage belfry tower’
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that rises from the roof of the entry pavilion. Recent renovations have e _H'istory
posed the basement level on the east side of the main klock, and added a

small one story, gable rocfed basement vestibule there. On February 26, 1826, twenty-five members of Gilmanton's First Con-

gregahonal Church were dismissed to form a new Congregational church
: Gilmanton Corner village. Two days later, a lot for the new church building
as purchased in the center of the village, just north of the Giimanton
Academy. The purchase of the lot actually predated the formal organization
the church on March 8. Unfortunately, the surviving church records say
nothing about the construction of the building. All we have is & brief state-
ment by Rev. Daniel Lancaster, the church’s second pastor, in his 1845
HISTORY OF GILMANTON that “the frame...was erected June 22, 1826. The
Meeting House was finished outside the same season, and the next summer
_completed within - the whole expense was 33,500. It was dedicated to the

rvice of Almighty God Sept. 20, 1827.” The names of the designer and the
builders are not known.

The pavilion and the main block share a smooth granite foundation, and.
the same box cornice with mouldings and frieze, as well as the same main.
level windows. The large semicircular arched windows each have 20/20 sash
beneath an 11 pane fanlight, and a moulded frame with “keystone” and i
post blocks”.

The entry pavilion is clapboarded on the shallow sides, but the main
facade, the south gable end, is sheathed with flush boarding. The pavilion
is trimmed by sillboards, cornerboards and the pedimented box cornice. Wide
granite steps with metal railings stretch the full length of the main lacade;
In the center of this south facade is the main entry, large double, six panel
doors. The doors are framed by pairs of columns, with very pronounced en-
tasis, supporting an entablature with a projecting cornice. Direcily above
the entry is a rectangular recessed panel with a moulded surround, contair
ing a sawn swag shaped ornament. The entry is flanked on cach side by a
large arched window.

. Few changes have been made to the building's exterior since it was
ected. The most significant change was the excavation of the basement to
d service rcoms. The project, completed in 1984, gave the church its pre-
sent granite foundation, east basement wall, and basement vestibule. Other
20th century changes were limited ‘o an exterior chimney, and lights and
raﬂlngs at the main entry. Basically, the exterior appears today as it did when
hrst completed. The Centre Congregational Church is now the finest Federal
yle church in the county, unrivaled in its state of preservation and architec-
tural quality. Notable for its fine proportions and judicicus use of ornament,

The first stage of the tower is clapboarded with cornerboards and a box
cornice like that on the pavilion. The second stage, the belfry, is sheathed
with flush boarding and trimmed by corner pilasters. In each face is & large
semicircular arched louver with wide slats and the same moulded frame seen
on the arched windows of the main block and pavilion. The same box ¢
nice is used again to top the beliry, although here it projects above the cor:
ner pilasters. A metal sheathed square convex roof covers the belfry.

The main block is clapboarded with sillboards and cornerboards. The
hox cornice seen on the pavilion and the tower is used on the lateral side:
and is continued horizontally across the gables, connecting on the soui:
facade with the pavilion cornice. The rakes of the gables, however, only hav_
close verges. In the east corner of the pavilion and the main block is an ex
terior brick chimney. The west and east sides each have four large archer
windows. Two more large arched windows appear in the north gable enid
The north gable features a semielliptical louver with a plair sill and a mouldé
frame with “keystone”. The new basement level of the east side has three 1041
sash windows in moulded frames with cornerblocks. The basement vestibul
is sheathed with flush boarding on the east gable end, and with clapboatd
on the sides. T is trimmed by sillboards, cornerboards, and a box cornic
with mouldings, frieze, and returns. The vestibule has an eastern entry, doubl
paneled doors with small built-in windows, framed by pilasters and an
tablature. It is lit by two 6/6 sash windows in moulded frames with corner
blocks, one in esach side.
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SMITH MEETING HOUSE

The Smith Meeting House derives its name from its predecessor, the
ilmanton town meetinghouse, which was named for Rev. Isaac Smith. Rev.
Smith, the town's first Congregational minister, preached in the old meeting-
use from its construction in 1774-5 until his death in 1817. The meetinghouse
as not {inally finished until 1790, and was seldom used for town meetings
ter 1797, when the voters began to meet at the Gilmanton Academy. The
aintenance of the building therefcre fell increasingly upon the First Con-
egational Society, founded about 1816. By the late 1830's, the two story
ectinghouse was in disrepair. And at the end of the decade, it was torn down.

Meetinghouse Road
c. 1840

-Materials salvaged from the old mestinghouse were used to build the
present smaller one story church, which retains the old name. The dates of
demolition of the old building and of the construction of the new building
a matter of some small dispute. The historians of the period, the town
orian writing in 1845 and a church historian writing in 1856, agreed that
= Ieetinghouse was torn down in 1839 and the new building erected in
40, A later histerian of the building dates the demolition of the cld building
101838 and the erection of the present church to 1839. The new church, said
ave cost $625, was a modest mid 18th century vernacular church.

‘The congregation using the Smith Meeting House had been seriously
ticed in the two decades belore the building of the new church by the
friiation of two other Congregational churches in Gilmanton, in the villages
tlmanton Corner to the west and Gilmanton [ron Works to the east. The
aining rural territory between the two villages could not really support
Qngregational church of its own, particularly as the hill farms of the area

Desacription

The Smith Meeting House is a one and a half story, gable roofed, Ve
nacular church, which stands on the southwest side of Meetinghouse BOE}
The building’s main facade, the southwest gable end, does not {ace the pr

sent road, but is set so as to be seen irom a now abandoned. highway th gan to decline after the Civil War. The building was little used in the lat-
paralleled the northwest side of the building. Set on a cut granite block io? r part of the 19th century and fell into some disrepair. However, in 1897,
dation, the clapboarded walls are trimmed by cornerboards. The roo vlvester 1. Gale decided to do something about the decaying building and
trimmed by lateral box cornices with mouldings and friezes, and by clo nced others to join him in an attempt to preserve the church. The Old
verges with returns of the lateral cornices. iMeeting House Improvement Society was formally organized in 1898.
ithin the next few years, the church was repaired and refurbished.
e eﬁ&terior changes were made to the building after the mid 189C's, as
e seen by a comparison with a photograph taken before the renova-
The doors in the entries were replaced, and a concrete landing and
‘were built to serve them. The small paned sash in the windows were
ced by larger paned sash and, in one case, a stained glass window. New
e¥s were installed on the rear gable end. {(Unfortunately, these changes
ld 1ot be dated for this survey.) In 1992, the usetulness of the building
greatly increased by the construction of a full basement under the old
rch'to house a meeting room, kitchen and restrooms. The exterior evidence
tiew level is limited to a few small windows in the foundation, a bulkhead
‘&mergency exit on the rear gable end, and the entrance to a tunnel
asement found down the hillside to the southwest of the building. At
e sanie time, the concrete landing and steps were replaced by a wooden
ig-and steps.

The southwest gable end has two entries, one at each end of thg faca
Fach is a large [ive panel door with & wide plain frame. The entries sh_:
a wooden landing and steps that cover much of the facade. Between ﬂ.le__:
tries are three plain framed windows, set 50 high in the wall that their sill
are found at the levels of the door lintels. The central Winr.:low now hé
memorial stained glass window with a geometric and pictor@i design. f
flanking windows have 6/6 sash. The northwest and soutbeast smd?s each hh
four large 6/6 sash windows, whose plain frames have drip rgouldmgs on t
lintels. The rear gable end has two more large windows in the main 1¢
and a smaller window in the gable, all with 6/6 sash and plain: frames. ._T:w
tall exterior brick chimneys and a very low bulkhead are also found on

rear gable end.
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close verges. The two identical main entries are found in the side bays
he three bay southwest gable end. Each entry has tall paneled double
wors, a granite step with metal railings, and flanking pilasters with entasis,
Ided bases and capitals which support an entablahire with a pronounced
ice. In the center of the first story is a 26/26 sash window with colored
s.and simply moulded frame. Each sash has six large central panes with
rder of twenty smaller panes. Simply moulded frames are also found on
liree 12/12 sash windows in the second story and the double window with
ane sash in the “clipped” gable. The northwest and southeast sides each
ve five tall, large 32/32 sash windows, while two more large 32/32 sash
dows appear in the rear gable end. Like the ceniral window on the main
cade, these windows have colored glass and simply moulded frames. Each
_"-h"as six large central panes and a border of twenty-six smaller panes.
basement level on the southeast side has two triple windows and the base-
vestibule. The vestibule has a high fieldstone foundation, clapboarded
erwalls with cornerboards, and a box cornice with mouldings, Irieze and
's_ Double paneled doors with built-in windows, fluted side trim, and
sulded lintel are found in the southeast gable end, while each side of
é_'tibule has a double window. The rear additien has concrete walls
ed by a band of clapbcarding with cornerboards and close eaves. Its
' of is covered with gravel. The rear addition’s own vestibule, similar
basement vestibule, has a stuccoed concrete block foundation, clap-
ded walls with cornerboards, a box cornice with mouldings, frieze, and
5;-double paneled doors with fluted side trim and moulded lintel in
qébl_e end, and a doubkle window in each side.

UNITED CHURCH OF GILMANTON IRON WORKS

Route 104, Gilmanton Iron Works
1826-1827

tie clapboarded walls of the tower's first stage are trimmed by paneled
» pilasters and a box cornice with mouldings, architrave, and frieze.
three public sides each feature a large round wooden clock face with
urnerals and ornate hands in a simple round frame. The smailer open
stage is surrounded by a railing with paneled corner posts, moulded
ind slats with a geometric design that combines diamonds and squares.
liry stage is sheathed with flush boarding and is trimmed by paneled
pilasters and a box cornice with mouldings, frieze and architrave. Each
as'a large semicircular arched opening, through which can be seen
1. The simple frames of these arched cpenings are ornamented by
d “impost blocks”. The beliry roof is surrounded by a low parapet
aneled 51des and paneled cornerposts Crowmnq the belfry is alarge,

Description

The United Church of Gilmanton Iron Works, a building that combi :
features of both the Greek Revival and Federal styles, stands on the n@r_‘_th
east side of Route 140 in the village of Gilmanton Iron Works. The gable ro_c'_)'
main block is basically one and a half stories high, but it has a two an
half story main facade, the southwest gable end, and a basement level
is exposed on the southeast and northeast. A two stage tower with spire
from the roof above the main facade. (The peak of the southwest gable
been omitted to provide a horizontal base for the tower.} Two one story ac
tions are found at the basement level, a gable rocfed vestibule on the southe
and a flat roofed rear addition (with its own gable roofed vestibule) ot

rear northeast end.

The main block's clapboarded walls are set on a stucceed concrete
foundation and trimmed by sillboards. Wide paneled corner pilasters
moulded capitals grace the street front corners, but the rear corners;
have cornerboards. Similarly, the three public sides of the roof are trim;
by a box cornice with mouldings, frieze, and returns, while the rear fg_

n;fﬁ_he year 1826, a desire began to be manifested for preaching at the
ks Village, and a meeting house was erected in June 1826, com-
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pieted in June, dedicated and the pews sold July 4, 1827.” So wrote Re RST BAPTIST CHURCH
Daniel Lancaster, the Gilmanton town historian, in 1845. The only other: :
formation we have on the origins of the building is the deed from Joseph Mar,
tc the proprietors of the Iron Works Meeting House for the land “wheré
their meetinghouse now stands”, signed on May 30, 1832, five vears after
the building was completed. The new meetinghouse was regularly used:
the Congregationalists and soon became & Congregational church. In 1828
a Congregational society was formed, followed by a Congregational chuir
in October of 1830. The lack of early records and views makes it difficult
say definitively that the basic appearance of the church dates from its ¢
struction. The building, which uses a common early 19th century compo
tion and form, combines decorative elements from the Federal and Gre
Revival styles. The Federal style can be seen in the main entries, the wind
frarmes, the arched belfry openings, and the belfry railing. The Greek Heviv
style probably inspired the wide pansled corner pilasters and the box co
nices, The church therefore illustrates the transition from the Federal sty
to the Gireek Revival style. :

:'o_vi'nce Road, Lower Gilmanton
42

:"E'{sd on Naticnal Register of Historic Places

The building has seen some exterior change since the early 19th de
tury. In 1885, colored glass was installed in the church windows. On M
28, 18185, a great fire swept through the village, destroying & number
buildings, including the Free Will Baptist Church, whose tower held th
village's only public clock. A tund raising campaign for a new tower clock
in the Congregational church was soon underway. Preparations for the i
stallation of the clock began in November of 1915. And the clock was actiis
!y installed in early 1916. In order to make room for one clock face, the angl
peak of the gable on the main facade was removed and replaced by a low
horizontal cornice. A semicircular louver in the same gable (still to be gee
in a 1909 photograph) may have been replaced by the present double
dow at the same time. Another consequence of the loss of the Free Will B
tist church was the federation of the Baptists and the Congregalionalis
1915. In 1952, the two churches formally united to form the United Ch
of Gilmanton Iron Works. In 1969, a new basement with a basement vesti
was built. And the church was moved back some 33 feet (half of its lengt
from the street onto the new basement. In 1987-1989, the basement level
further enlarged by the construction of the rear addition and its vestiby

Sription

he Greek Revival style First Baptist Church stands on the east side of
v_i_ﬁce Road (Route 107) in the small village of Lower Gilmanton. The tall
le roofed main block is one and a half stories high, save on the southwest
sble ‘end, the main facade, which is two stories high. Rising from the

h\'{v'est end of the roof ridge, above the main facade, is a two stage belfry
wer.._'." :

'-The main block’s walls are clapboarded, save for the flush boarded
iented southwest gable. The three public sides share several features,
tgranite block foundation, wide projecting sillboards, wide corner
ers with moulded bases and capitals, and a prenounced pedimented
¥ cornice with mouldings, frieze, and architrave. The rear gable end has
impler sillboard, comerboards, and close verges with returns of the lateral

'T}“]'e main facade is divided into three bays by the corner pilasters and
wo intermediate pilasters of the same design, all supporting the pedi-
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ment's horizontal cornice. The central bay contains a large, tall 20/20 sa
window in a paneled frame with upper cornerblocks. Each side bay contai
an entry, a two panel door in a paneled frame with upper cornerblocks. The
eniries are served by a broad wooden landing with metal railings, a long
board step on the southwest, and a ramp at the northwest end. The second
story of each side bay contains a short 7// sash window in a paneled frame
with upper cornerblocks. The northwest and southeast sides each feature thr
large, tall 20/20 sash windows in paneled frames with upper cornerblocks;
like the ceniral southwestern window.

Dg’cember 1841 and February 1842. In March, Silvester H. French, a building
committee member, was chosen by the Society as the foreman to superin-
_e_fr:1d the {raming. In April, it was voted that the shareholders would each
provide two men io raise the frame. Presumably, the frame was raised in the
spring of 1842, as, on May 21, the Society chose a committes to contract for
th's-finishing of the house. The plastering of the interior was discussed at
eetings in July. By October 15, the building must have been nearing com-
plétion, as the Society then chose committees to sell the pews and to make
arrangements for the dedication. The pews were sold on November 2, and
the_ church dedicated on the following day, November 3, 1842. The 1845 town
story states that the cost of the building was "less than $1500".

The tower is sheathed with horizontal flush boarding. The first stage 1
set on a low base that barely rises above the roof ridge and is topped by a
narrow board frieze. The first stage proper is trimmed by cornerboards and
a wide box cornice with mouldings and frieze. The upper bellry stage has
a very low base, barely one board high and ornamented by an upp
moulding. In each face of the belfry proper is a large rectangular louver i
a paneled frame with upper cornerblocks. Pilasters flank each louver ang
trim the corners of the belfry. The low pitched gable roof is trimmed b
box cornice with mouldings, frieze, and narrow architrave. In the center o
each side, the cornice, but not the frieze and archifrave, is pedimented. T
small pediment tympanums are sheathed with flush boarding.

Few exterior changes have been made since the church’s construction.
Louvers were placed in the belfry openings in the 1830's. The front landing
d steps have been renewed, most recently in the 1980's, when the ramp

d railings were also installed. But, essentially, the church appears today
At did in 1842,

: In many elements of its design, notably the tower, the Lower Gilmanton
}z_rch is a copy ol the Northwood Congregaticnal Church. The major dif-
erence from the earlier church is the replacement ol the columned

pedimented portico on the Northwood church by a pedimented gable supi
ried by pilasters on the Gilmanton church. The copying of another building
s & common practice of the period, as the builders were mare coxicerned
th guality than originality. The result in Lower Gilmanton was in fact one
the best Greek Revival siyle churches in the county and the state.

History

The TFirst Baptist Church in Gilmanton was organized in 1773.
meetinghouse was erected in 1774 on the training lield in Lower Gilmant
The building was “'soon after” moved to the present church lot, which wa
deeded to the Baptists in 1788, after the move. In 1811, the Baptist Chur
was divided, with the Baptists of what is now Gillord forming a new chur
The church in Lower Gilmanton declined after the division, but was revivi
and recrganized in 1818.

By 1841, the old meetinghouse was in pcor shape. So, a meeting of_tb‘
First Baptist Society was called to consider the two options of repairing
old building or demolishing it and building a new church. The Novem:
17, 1841 meeting decided to “take down the present Meeting House and bu
anew one”. A building committee, starting with five men but soon enlargs:
to eight members, was established and asked to procure subscriptions.
shares in the new building. On November 27, the commiltee was ins‘trui;_i_e
to procure a plan for the new church. At the next Society mesting
December 4th, it was “voted to build a Meeting House forty by fifty feet w
a belfry, after the model of the Northwood Meeting House”, that is to's
the Northwood Congregational Church, which had just been erected in 18
It was also voted to begin demolition of the old meetinghouse. The bidd
off of lots of lumber needed for the new church was held at auction
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- The main block rool is Irimmed by a box cornice with mouldings and
eturns. Above the vestibule in the south gable end is a large round window,
et in a moulded frame with four “keystones”. The round window has an in-
eresting mullion paitern, with a small central circle (divided into four
uarters) from which radiate mullions, creating large “trapezoidal’’ sections,
'h_ich are each further subdivided into two panes by semielliptical mullions.
e east and west sides of the main block each have four large tall main level
indows with diameond paned sash and moulded frames. The exposed bage-
ment level on the east side has three 6/6 sash windows and a paneled door
jith a transom window and a gabled hood. The north gable end features a
a:rge central, semicircular arched, stained glass window in a moulded frame.
his window contains two tall semicircular arched windows beneath a round
:__indow and two spherical triangles. The stained glass has fleral, geometric,
nd pictorial designs.

LACONIA
TRINITY METHODIST CHURCH

Tower and Maple Streets, Weirs Beach
1925-1926

The square stuccoed belfry tower, set astride the south end of the main
lock roof, has a semicircular arched louver in each face. The louvers have
moulded frames and share a continuous moulded sili that encircles the belfry.
: moulded box cornice trims the pyramidal rocl, from which rises an asphalt
hingled octagonal spire topped by a cross.

= Simpson Memorial Hall, the northern addition at the lower level, has
ncrete walls, save for the brick sheathed east wall. The flat metal roof is
rimmed by close metal and wood eaves. As the roof is almost at ground level
the uphill side, it is protected by a tall stockade fence. Moulded frames
rim the 6/6 sash windows, the northern paneled dcor, and the eastern paneled
ouble doors with built-in windows and a shed roofed hood.

Description

Trinity Methodist Church is a vernacular wooden church, which stand:
at the corner of Tower and Maple Streets in Weirs Beach. Because of th
slope of the lot, the one and a‘half siory, gable roofed main block has:'
exposed basement level on the east downhill side. A square beliry tpwer wif
spire sits astride the south end of the main block's roof ridge. The maln faca:
the south gable end, is covered by a one story, hip roofed vestibule. In the
center of the vestibule's south facade, a one story, gable roofed porch shelt L
the main entry. At the north end of the main block’s basement lev.el is a onie
story, flat roofed, brick and concrete addition, Simpson Memorial Hal

The Methodists began holding summer services at camp meetings at the
irs as early as 1872, Regular year round services began in 1882. In May
1885, a lot was donated for a church. The church was built in 1886, with
Airst services being held October 17, 1886. However, on November 8,
1, a sovere fire destroyed a significant section of the Weirs, including
Methodist church, the Hotel Weirs, and other buildings. The small con-
sgation, with financial help from summer residents, was able to build
other church in 1925-26. But, the only information we have on its construc-
lon-are a few brief items in the local newspapers. The foundation was laid
ly of 1925. The first Sunday services were held in the new church on
y 9, 1926. The dedication was held on August 26 as part of the annual
odist camp meeting at the Weirs. The new building was an early 20th
ury vernacular church, with many features, such as the stuccoed walls,
e diamond paned and stained glass windows, and the arched bellry louvers,
t are typical of the period.

The main block and the vestibule share a brick foundation and stucc:
walls with sillboards. The vestibule’s hip rool is trimmed by a moulded co
nice. In the center of its south facade is the main entry, double paneled door
with built-in windows and moulded frame. The entry is sheltered by a po
whose board floor is reached by wooden steps on the south and by a ©
crete ramp on the west. Four square pillars with bases and capitals, arrary
in two pairs at the front corners, and two correspondging pilasters at the .bac
corners support the porch roof with its stuccoed gable and a pedlmented_i.
cornice with mouldings, frieze, and architrave. Flanking the main entry @
each side is a double window with 4/4 sash, moulded {rame, flower box,

plastic shutters.
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The exterior of the church has charged little since its construction.
hood was installed on the basement level door. In the mid 1980's, a ramt
for the handicapped was built at the main entry. The most significant chanig
was the addition of Simpson Memorial Hall, built in 1964 by a Belmont ¢
tractor to the design of architect Harry Ericson.

pper sash, and large central panes bordered by small panes, appears in
“gable. The north and south sides each have three large 9/2 sash windows
rith colored glass and moulded lintels.

A box cornice with mouldings and frieze trims the tower's pyramidal roof
hzch features flared eaves and a turned wooden finial. The main entry, in
he cast facade of the tower, is a modern plain framed twenty panel door.
he entry is sheltered by a porch with fieldstone base and sidewalls, con-
rete steps and floor. On two concrete capped fieldstone front posts stand
he two turned wooden posts that support the porch roof. The porch’s low
itched hip roof has a box cornice with mouldings and frieze. The tower has
ut one window, a 6/2 sash window with colored glass and moulded lintel,
1the south facade's first story. The second story has three plain framed rec-
angular louvers, in the south, east, and west sides. The louvers share a con-
inuous sill that encircles the tower.

THE BIBLE SPEAKS CHURCH

40 Belvidere Street, Lakeport
1910-1911

. The rear addition’s hip roof has a box cornice with frieze. The east strest
ade contains two paneled doors with built-in windows, one on each side
tthe main block. The 1/1 sash windows in the north end have moulded lintels,
ut the other windows have 4/1 sash and plain frames.

The Second Advent Christian Church of Lakeport was organized in 1872.

he congregation lost its chapel in the great Lakeport fire of May 26, 1903.

O some years therealter, the Adventists met in local halls. Bui, in late ] anuary
'_910 the church purchased a small lot on Belvidere Street, At the same
me, a "Mrs. Greenleal” gave “the Joseph Gilman barn” to the church. In
rch of the same year, the barn was moved onto the Belvidere Street lot.
hé{ conversion of the barn into a chapel began in 1910 and continued into
ly 1911. The new church was dedicated on February 3, 1911. Although
fhumble origin, the chapel was given the architectural features of a larger
'_fch, Gothic arched windows, a two story tower and an entry porch. But,
emains a relatively modest early 20th century vernacular church.

Description

The Bible Speaks Church is an early 2Cth century vernacular chu
that stands on the west side of Belvidere Street in Lakeport. The one and
halt story, gable rooled main block is set with its east gable end facing
street. At the southeast corner of the main block is a short two story towe
The main entry, in the tower's east facade, is sheltered by a one story,
roofed entry porch. Covering the rear gable end of the main block a
overlapping it to the north and south is a one story, hip roofed addition
taining the secondary rooms (hall, kitchen and office)}. All three sectio
the building have clapboarded walls trimmed by cornerboards.

.The only major later change made by the Adventists was the construc-
on of the rear addition for classrooms and other service areas, probably in
& late 1940's. In 1964, the Advent Christian Church purchased the larger
lethodist church just down Belvidere Street. In 1966, the old church was
old to the Knights of Pythias. The Knights of Pythias sold the building to
present occupants, the Bible Speaks Church, in 1980. Apparently, the
nly significant exterior change made since the Adventists left was the replace-
ant of the main doeor in the 1980's.

The main block’s gable roof is trimmed by a box cornice with mouldirnigs,
frieze, and returns. In the center of the east street gable end is a large Go
arched window of colored glass, with large central panes, a border of small
panes, and, in the arched upper portion, curved mullions reminiscent of in er
secting tracery. A lancet arched 8/6 sash window, with colored glass, arched
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ADVENT CHRISTIAN CHURCH 0ol 'is trimmed by a cornice with sloping soffit, mouldings and frieze, that

imilar to the main block’s cornice. The west corner wall has a double win-
6w in the street level and a single window in the upper story. These two

idows, like most of the other main block windows, have moulded frames
nd 13/12 sash with colored glass. Each sash has a large central pane and

order of saller panes. The four bay southeast and northwest sides are
tite similar in design. Starting from the southerly end of each side, we find
both stories a double window, a tripie window, a double window, and &
igle window. (The only break in this pattern is the substitution of a paneled
de door for a single window in the lower level of the northwest side.) The
ear gable end has a single 13/12 sash window of the typical design in both
lower level and its main level, and another semicircular window with
diating mullions in its gable. '

25 Belvidere Street, Lakeport
1903-1904
Orvis T. Muzzey, builder

The square tower at the south corner of the main block covers the angled
ner and overlaps it slightly to the east. The clapboarded tower walls are
med by cornerboards. A sillboard with watertable above the west strest
vel foundation is continued around the tower above the lower story on the
hér two sides. A shallow moulded cornice tops the second story at the level
the main block’s lateral cornice. And a box cornice with mouldings, den-
-and frieze trims the pyramidal tower roof. A large plain wooden cross
ands at the apex of the roof. Moulded frames trim the windows and doors.
1e only opening in the lower level is a southern paneled door with transom
indow. The street level is lit by two 13/12 sash windows, of the same design

| :_é main block windows, one each in the east and south sides. In the west
de of the street level is the main entry, double seven panel doors. The en-
sserved by a board flooring landing, that is reached by steps to the west
d by a long ramp to the northwest along the main block’s gable end. The
iin'deors are sheltered by a wide large hood with plain braces, open caves ;
plywood gable, and a gable roof.

Description

The Advent Christian Church {originally a Methodist church) is an edr
20th century vernacular church, showing the influence of the Gothic Reviv,
style. It stands at the corner of Belvidere Street and North Street in Lakepo
on the shore of Paugus Bay. The gable roofed main block is two and a h
stories high, but the lower level is below street level and is exposed or
but the scuthwest gable end and the clipped western corner. Both the weste
and southern corners of the main biock are cut off on the diagonal. .
western corner is topped by a-gable roofed projection in the upper stor,
The southern corner is covered by a three story square tower, whose fir

story is also below street level and is exposed only on the south and east si e The Methodist church in Lakeport was organized in the 1840's. The fisst

ilding of this church was a chapel on Fairmont Street that subsequently
Came & tenement house and was burned in the 1903 Lakeport fire. The

1wodist church was reorganized in 1879. The chureh purchased a lot at
5 cj_érner of Belvidere and North Streets, on the shore of Paugus Bay, in
. There the second Methodist church was dedicated in 1892. But, this
ﬂd_ing suifered the same fate as its predecessor, as it was destroyed in the
tfire of May 26, 1903 that devastated much of Lakeport.

The main block has a brick and concrete foundaticn and clapboar_de_"d
walls trimmed by cornerboards. A sillboard with watertable above the st
level foundation on the southwest facade and the west corner is contintt
above the lower story on the three exposed sides. The gable roct is trirrim:
by a box cornice with mouldings and frieze, and with returns on the nort
east gable, but not the southwest gable. The zouthwest gable end fe_z_g_l._
Belvidere Street leatures a large wide Gothic arched stained glass Windc'
with an elaborate geometric, floral, and pictorial design and a moulded frf:_i_z_j.r_i
The gable contains a semicircular window with radiating mullions and mé
ed frame. The angled west corner is topped by the upper story projec_:t_:l_
which also has clapboarded walls and cornerboards. The projection’s gab

In early August of 1903, the Mefthodigt society voted unanimocusly to
ild the church as soon as possible and chose a building commitee (Fred
, G.H. Lang, Thomas Adkins, Hosea Blaisdell, John Crapo, Milton
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Woodbury and W.S. Calderwood). By early October, the contract for th NITED BAPTIST CHURCH OF LAKEPORT
new church had been awarded to local builder Orvis T. Muzzey. The foun
dation was laid in the same month. The carpenters had nearly completed the
exterior work by the end of December. In March, the large Gothic windo
in the Belvidere Street facade, the gift of the local Grand Army of the Republi
Post, was installed. On Easter Sunday, April 3, 1804, the first services were:
held in the new church. The building had cost “about $4000”. The newspape
described the new building as “almost identical to the old one”. And, i
deed, there is a very strong resemblance to the earlier 1892 structure. On
eloment that was “temporarily” omiltted was the tower’s steeple, which nev
was actually built. The church was basically & turn of the century vernaculaff
building, with some Gothic embellishments, notably in the large arched wil
dow and the belfry on the tower, which had a crenelated parapet. The unusu
form, with its clipped corners, one covered by the tower, was an interesting

adaptation to a unigue site.

Park Street, Lakeport

$01-92

gorge H. Guernsey, architect and builder

ged on the National Register of Historia Places

In 1964, the Methodists sold the building to the Advent Christian Chure
which had occupied a smaller church nearby (now The Bikle Speaks Church
The Adventists have made some exterior changes. In the late 1970’s, a hot
was installed over the main entry in the tower. In 1984, a wheelchair ram
was built at the main entry. The most significant change was the removal
around 1989 of the belfry that had formed the fourth gtory of the tower. T
belfry, with its paneled and louvered sides, paneled corner piers, box ¢o
nice, and crenelated parapet, had deteriorated from rot. It was replaced.
a pyramidal rocf topped by a large cross. :

escription

_h_e United Baptist Church of Lakeport is a Victerian eclectic church

:_g.-eiemen’fs irom the ltalianate and Gothic Revival styles, as well as othe;
cal late 19th century features. The church stands on the southeast side
._ .a;‘_k Street in Lakeport. Save for its two towers, the church is two and a
ali stories high with a tall clapboarded and shingled main level above a brick
gthed lower story. Because of the slope of the land, tha lower level is fully
::ed on the rear southeast end, the northeast side, and part of the
th;_west side, but is reduced to a high basement on the main street facade
art of the southwest side. The main block, covered by intersecting gable
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The main street facade of the main block hag a short basement with four
.__f._short windows. The gable end has the usual large memorial stained glass win-
dow and, in the gable, a frosted glass semicircular window. To each side
ofthe main gable end are narrow sections of wall, beneath shed roofs, which

are treated like the lateral walls. The two towers complete the main facade
of the church.-

rooks sheathed with slate, is cruciform in plan, with wide transepts on the
northeast and southwest sides. Its northwest street facade is enlivened by a
shallow, wide central projection covered by an exiension of the main gabl
roof. (Short shed roofs cover the narrow sections of the main facade to each
side of this front projection.) The main facade ig framed by towers, a two stor
stair tower at the north corner of the building and a five stage belfry/entr;
tower at the west corner. On the lower level of the northeast side is a forme
porch. now enclosed as a vestibule, between the stair tower and the transept The nertheast and southwest sides of the main block differ only in the
estern sections of their lower level. Because of the higher ground level on
e southwest, the lower level is a short brick basement there. On the north-
est side’s lower level, we find the former porch, now a vestibule, between
e tower and the transept. The shed roofed vestibule retains its bc;x cornice
th mouldings and frieze. But, it now has a wall of vertically grooved
_ywood, a 2/2 sash window, and a paneled door with a built-in window. The
0 sides have two 1/1 sash windows in the lower level and two semicircular
_g}—led windows in the main level to the rear (east) of the transept, and one
setiicircular arched window in the main level to the west of the translept. Each
insept gable end has six lower level windows, a large central memorial win-
W flanked on each side by a smaller semicircular arched window in the
: ain level, and a semicircular louver in the gable. The rear gable end has
fDur lower level windows and the rear enlry, a paneled deor with a semi-
lfcular transom window beneath a semicircular brick arch. The rear entry
sheltered by a gabled hood, with large ornate sawn and carved brackets
;ched ceiling, and a shallow cornice with mouldings and sloping soffitl
e main level has three smaller semicircular arched windows, while 5;
icircular window appears in the gable. I

The windows of the main block's brick sheathed lower level all have 1/,
sash, granite sills and lintels. A wide sloping wooden watertable marks the
junction of the two levels. The four wide gable ends of the upper level ar
treated differently than the narrower lateral walls. Ali of the main level wall
are irimmed with cornerboards and sheathed with clapboards beneat
decoratively cut woed shingles. On the lateral walls, the ghingling is a nar
row band of lishscale shingles above a simple moulded board. On the gabl
ends, the entire gable, above a moulded board at the impost level of the mai
windows, is covered by shingles, including courses of fishscale, trianguld
and staggered shingles. The lateral walls have box cornices with moulding
sawn brackets, and Iriezes of beaded boarding. The gables have box cof
nices of a different design, with mouldings, larger ornate sawn brackets, an
moulded friezes. At the lower corners of the gable cornices are gablets, eag
supported by a large bracket and ornamented by sawn brackets an
mouldings. The small pediments of the gablets face the sides. The corné:
boards of the gable ends are topped by small triangular panels beneath t5
gablets.

The fenestration of the main level also [ollows a consistent pattern. Tk
emaller windows are semicircular arched, stained glass sash windows, wit
semicircular transom windows. These windows have bracketed sills and
trim that is flared at the base. Their arches are rusticated (divided into blog
with beveled edges), and are ornamented by “impost blocks'” with app]
triangles. Large memorial windows are found in each of the three main gab
ends, on the street front and the two transepts. The memorial windows
set in large semicircular arches, which also have bracketed sills, side tii
flared at the bage, and rusticated arches with moulded “impost blogk
decorated with pendant triangles. The arches also have “keystones”. E
memorial window contains a bank of four large rectangular stained glass
dows beneath a large stained glass rose window, the corners belween
rose window and the lower windows being filled by “riangular” stained g
windows. The tracery of the rose window features a central round wiii
from which radiates eight pointed “petals”, between which are found éig
spherical triangles on the outer rim of the window. High in each gable
semicircular window or louver with a bracketed sill and a rusticated
with a “keystone”. Moulded boards cross the gables at the sill levels o
cemicircular windows.

The stair tower at the north corner is circular in plan, with a conical roof
12 main level is sheathed with wood shingles, laid in reqular, fishscale anci
. .gered courses, that flare out over the brick clad lower level. A moulded
rd encircles the tower at the impost leve! of the four semicircular arched
ndq'WS, all of the same design as the smaller main level windows of the main
.k.- The tower’s cornice is like that seen on the main block’s lateral walls
steep conical roof is sheathed with slate and crowned by a carved finial.:

The square five stage belfry/entry tower is sheathed, save for the third
with horizontal beaded boarding. The tower has a wide sleping water-
le. The corners of the brick foundation project to support ¢lasping wooden
-ttr:_?sses that rise about one third of the height of the first stage. Above the
pi_ng buttresses, angle buttresses rise at the corners to the tower roof

r_;‘_they are crowned by pinnacles. The butiresses have vertical beadeci
vard sides and paneled faces. The panels are filled with beaded boarding
ane topped by a moulding. Metal covers the sloping tops and steps of the
esses. The angle buttresses are stepped back at the tops of the first three
es; with the third stage steps being ornamented by gablets with moulded
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pediments. The slate covered pyramidal pinnacles at the tops of the an
buttresses are trimmed by shallow cornices and crowned by metal pyrami

Plans and specifications for the new church were prepared by architect-
uilder George H. Guernsey of Montpelier, Vermont in the spring of 1891.
-mid April, ground was broken for the church foundation. Tn July, while
Q_rk was still underway on the foundation, the contract for erecting the
lilding was awarded to the architect. His carpenters began work on the frame
rthe end of the month. The frame was mostly boarded in by late August.
arly October, the slaters had finished the main roof. The bell and the
ock were installed in the main tower in December. The finishing of the in-
rior continued into the spring of 1892. The church was dedicated on May
1892. 1t had cost, including furnishings, $19,427.68 (of which Guernsey
ived $12,358.00).

The main entry, in the street front of the tower, is tall, paneled deou
doors, whose panels are embellished by chamfered edges and elabor
mouldings. The entry has a semicircular arched stained glass transom win
dow, side trim with flared bases, and a rusticated semicircular arch, decord
by & “keystone” and “impost blocks” like those on the windows. A plain:
roofed hood shelters the entry, which is served by modern board steps W
metal railings. Another semicircular arched stained glass window is fou
in the southwest side of the first stage. A shallow cornice with a frieze of béad
ed boards tops the first stage between the buttresses. A pair of tall semicircy
arched stained glass windows with frames like those of the smaller main bl
windows is found in beth the northwest and southwest sides of the sect
stage. A shallow moulded cornice with modillions and beaded board frie
crowns the second stage, between the buttresses. The third stage is md_'
covered by very steep slate roofs, ornamented by courses of hexagonal slat
beneath simple cornices. Short blind arcades over beaded boarding are fou
above the slate roofs. The third stage is topped by a box cornice
mouldings, sawn brackets, and frieze. The cornice is shared by the ga
on the buttresses at the same level,

The church has changed its name twice since its construction. The Lake
ge Free Will Baptist Church was renamed the Park Street Free Baptist
rch in 1898. The church joined with the Gilford and Gilmanton Baptist
urch in 1920 to form the United Baptist Church of Lakeport, But, the ex-
or of the church has seen almost no change. In the 1970’s, the main entry
ps were replaced and the lower level porch on the northeast side was
closed as a vestibule. More recently, an inconspicuous hood was mounted

oiké the main entry doors. But the church still appears virtually as it did
1892,

The style of the United Baptist Church can only be described as eclec-
8 it uses elements from different styles. The Gothic Revival style was
ource for the large stained glass rose windows and the form of the main
ver with its buttresses and its crown of pinnacles and spire. The window
ﬁ_oor frames are [talianate in inspiration. The use of many differing sur-
e materials is typical of the Queen Anne style. The cornices combine

nate brackets and Gothic gablets. The architect was not searching for
i's{_ic purity, but was interested only in creating an impressive building.
that he was successful, ag he designed and built a dignified but lively
Iding, a superb Victorian eclectic church that must be ranked among the
1 late 19th century buildings in the county,

The slightly smaller fourth stage is the open bellry with a large sef
circuler arched opening in each face. Each opening is protected by a’
balustrade with turned balusters and is topped by a rusticated arch w
“keystone” and moulded “impost blocks”. The belfry stage is topped by
shallow cornices with mouldings and paneled friezes. The fifth stage i he
clock stage, each side containing a large round clock face with Romen
numerals. The clock faces are set in semicircular arches with “impost ble
and rusticated arches. The sides of the fifth stage are topped by small gables,
trimmed by box cornices with mouldings and friezes. Rising above the ok
is a tall slate sheathed octagonal spire, which is crowned by an elab
knob and an crnate weathervane.

History

The United Baptist Church of Lakeport stands on the site of an’
church built in 1852-53 for the Lake Village Free Will Baptist Churd]
1890, the congregation had outgrewn the building. Seo, an addition wasb
to enlarge the church. But, on December 15, 1890, a fire starting in the
dition, then under construction, destroyed the entire building. The ne:
the proprietors (the pew owners) of the church voted to build a new ch
and established committees to raise funds and to obtain plans and spe
tions for a new building. At & later meeting, the pew owners agreed t
new building would be the property of a new society. '



80

The Historic Churc:: Bél}map County a1

SACRED HEART CHURCH

298 Union Avenue

1893-1894

Peter Ford, architect

Thomas . Guay and Harvey Stone, builders

Description

Sacred Heart Church is a large Romanesque Revival style brick chy
that stands on the southeast side of Union Avenue in Laconia. The tall,w
gable roofed main block is one story high, save at the northwest street
end, where it is two stories high. In the center of the sireet gable end,
four story tower projects from the main block. At each end of the street face
is a two story, gable roofed wing. In the center of the main block’s northi
and southwest sides are found shallow, gable roofed transepts. On thé re
gable end of the main block is a tall semi-octagonal apse. The lower portion
of the apse is encased by a one story, hip roofed sacristy, which covers

e.’_S.sides and the gable end of the main block and overlaps the main block
& northeast., All sections of the church have cul granite block founda-
oris with dressed watertables and brick walls, laid in common bond, flemish
iation, with a reddish colored mortar. A dark sandstone is used for the
mings, such as the window sills and some stringcourses. The slate covered
fa'are trimmed by copper ridge mouldings.

The street front is dominated by the tall square central tower, Clasping
ck:buttresses with sloping sandstone tops enliven the front corners of the
story. Brick pilasters with moulded sandstone capitals trim the corners
& second story and part of the third story. The first story features the
circular arched central entry, served by a wide granite landing and steps
ith granite sidewalls. The eniry is now metal framed, double glass doors,
pd by a large metal framed plate glass transom window. Above the new
n’sk_:'m window can still be seen a moulded wocden lintel, and a row of seven
nd stained glass windows in wooden frames. Above another moulded lintel,
ympanum is filled by flush boarding, on which are applied three mould-
poden circles. The main entry retains its granite sill, moulded outer
den frame, and compound semicircular brick arch. The brick hoodmould
€ the arch is continued as a stringcourse at the impost level to the cor-
uttresses. Above the hoodmould is a more elaborate sandstone moulding,
Hruns from butiress to buttress in horizontal, vertical and diagonal sec-
At the apex of this moulding is a carved foliated stone finial. The second
s street front has two tall semicircular arched windows with clear glass,
oulded wood frames, brick arches, and joined semicircular hoodmoulds
h short returns. The windows’ sandstone sills are incorporated into a sand-
& stringcourse crossing the wall.

The tower’s third story rises above the main block roof, but is still partly
red by the main block on the rear. The third story is crowned by wide
circular brick arches, which rise from the capitals of the corner pilasters.
sw brick panels appear in the spandrels of the arches. Each of the three
i¢ sides features a large round stained glass window, set within the arch.
‘window incorporates four large rcund windows, a central “spherical
e”, and small spherical triangles and has a moulded wooden frame and
er brick frame. Each round window is topped by a semicircular hood-
suld, which is continued as a stringcourse to the capitals of the corner
asters. The fourth story, the beliry stage, has two large semicircular arched
ors in each face, decorated by boards with applied circles and half circles,
v applied round frames in the flush boarded tympanums. The louvers
hare a-sandstone sill that is continued around the tower. The compound brick
5:0f the louvers are flanked by pilasters at the tower corners and be-
neach pair of louvers. The brick hoedmoulds of the louvers rise from
ie sandstone capitals of the pilasters. The belfry is topped by a brick corbel
and a moulded copper cornice. The pyramidal roof with flared eaves
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ular arched windows beneath a round window and two spherical triangular
ndows, all with geometric and foliated patterns enlivened by small religicus
bols. The windows have moulded wooden frames, sandstone sills, and
ick arches. Brick stringcourses are found beneath the window sills and be-
h the windows at the impost level. The side walls are lopped by brick
el tables and moulded copper cornices. The shallow, gable roofed
nisepts in the center of each side of the main block have the same brick
Is"with stringcourses. The transepts narrow near the top, each transept
¢ having a shoulder of sloping sandstone blocks. The narrow transept sides
opped by moulded copper cornices abave brick corbelling. The transspt
bles have parapets with moulded copper cornices, and, at the peaks, ornate
sses on pedestals. Each gable end features another large arched main level
ndow of the same design as the windows on the main block’s sides, and,

& gable, a round stained glass window in a brick frame. The rear gable
| of the main block is topped by brick parapets with copper coping and
corative gablets at the lower ends and at the upper ends, where the parapet
5 the apse roof.

is crowned by a copper pyramid and an ornate copper finial on which stan
a large cross.

The tower covers the central bay of the main block's three bay street gab
end. The two side bays are identical, 2ach having a tall, narrow, semicircu}
arched window in each story. The windows have stained glass of geomets
design, moulded window frames, sandstone siils, and brick arches with bri
hoocdmeulds. The hoodmoulds are continued as brick siringcourses at il
impost levels of the arches. Brick stringcourses cross the walls beneath the
first story window sills. And the second story window sills are incorpora’g
into stringcourses. The walls are topped by brick parapets with copper cop-
ings and copper gablets at the upper ends. Two round tall brick turrets{_'
the front corners of the street gable end cover the junctions of the main bléi
and the side wings. Fach turret is set on a granite foundation and is divi
into three sections, each smaller than the one beneath it. The circular jun
tions of the sections are marked by courses of sloping sandstone blocks. E
turret is topped by an octagonal stone finial, built of granite blocks, in Bo
rockifaced and smooth courses.

The lower portion of the semi-octagonal apse is hidden by the sacristy.
ive sides of the apse are topped by the same brick corbel table and cop-
ornice seen on the sides of the main block. The sémi-octagonal roof is
ned, at the peak, by a large Celtic cross mounted on a copper globe,
ace of the apse features a large semicircular arched window of the same
‘design as the main block’s side windows, differing only in the stained
‘design, with pictorial views here replacing the geometric and foliated
ns of the main block windows. The semicircular brick hoodmoulds are
bited by a brick stringcourse. Another brick stringcourse encircles the apse

ath the window sills. Two tall exterior brick chimneys rise from the sacris-
oof at the junctions of the lateral sides and the angled sides of the apse.

The main facade of the church is completed by the two story wing
each end. The lateral sides are topped by brick corbel iables and mould
copper cornices. The gables each have a brick parapet, with moulded =
per copings, and at the peak, an ornate cross on a moulded pedestal. The
corners of the gable ends are graced by tall round brick turrets of the san
design as the main block’s corner turrets. The northwest strest front of &4
wing features an entry of the same design as the main entry in the to
Again, the brick hoodmoulds above the entries ars continued as stringcoirs
at the impost level across the walls. Originally, each gable end had a narrg
semicircular arched stained glass window in both the first and second stor
These windows have moulded wooden frames, sandstone sills, and a b
hoodmould continued as a stringcourse to the corner turrets. The first sto
window on the northeast wing has been replaced by a modern metal fras
glass door, although the arch and hoodmould still survive. This side'd
is reached by a long curved concrele wheelchair ramp. The ramp has & b
veneer on the cutside, brick copings and low pipe railings. Because ot
slope of the lot, the southwest wing has a partly exposed basement level top
by & sandstone stringcourse on its gable end and rear southeast side.

Eﬁ’e sacristy envelops the apse, covers the southeast end of the main
- and overlaps it two yards to the northeast. The slate roof is hipped,
6ligh on the northeastern overlapping section, it appears as a shed roof
1.4 half gable on the northwest side. A brick corbel table and moulded
per cornice trims the horizontal eaves, while the northwestern half gable
3 brick parapet with moulded copper coping and & copper gablet at the
end. The narrow northwest side contains the semicircular arched sacris-
ntry, reached by granite steps and landing with granite sidewalls. The
now has a modern metal framed glass door and plate glass transom win-
But it retains its moulded lintel and outer frame, stained glass window
tympanum, brick arch, and brick hoodmould. The main level of the
15ty is lit by semicircular arched, stained glass sash windows, with
1etric patterns, arched upper sash, sandstone sills, brick arches and
dmoulds. Brick stringcourses connect the hoodmoulds at the impost level
encircle the sacristy beneath the window sills. On the southwest side is

ly basement entry, modern double metal doors, with granite sill and
ndstone lintel,

The northeast and southwest sides of the main block are virtually 1d
tical, differing only in the basement level, which is more exposed on
southwest side. The two pane southwestern basement windows are t6
by a sandstone stringcourse. The northeastern basement windows are
filled by glass blocks and have their own sandstone lintels. The main l-:é
each feature six large, semicircular arched, stained glass windows, th"_ ;
each side of the central transept. The windows each contain two tall se
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History

In 1891, the Roman Catholic Bishop of Manchester decided to organiz
the French Canadians of Laconia into a separate French speaking parish
In July, Rev. Joseph I. Monge, criginally from Nimes, France, was appointé
the first pastor of the new parish. He arrived in Laconia on July 11 and he
the parish’s first mass on July 26 in the parish hall of St. Joseph's Churc
At the end of July, the parish rented the Moulton Opera House for its se
vices, until its own c¢hurch could be buili.

__'mes O'Shaughnessy, architect
Walsh Brothers, builders

Rev. Monge began raising funds for a church soon alter he arrived.
November of 1891, five acres of land with a house on Union Avenue was pu
chased for $10,000. Architect Peter Ford of Boston prepared plans for a gran
Romanesque Revival style church. On June 27, 1892, the building contrat
for $30,000 was signed with local builders Thomas J. Guay and Harvey Storig
Work began in the spring of 1893. But, construction was slowed by the'd
ficulty of obtaining materials. On July 1, 1894, the church was blessed_'b
the Bishop and the first mass was celebrated in it. At that time, the buildin
was essentially complete. But, the windows were filled with clear glass. Th
plan was to install stained glass windows later. In time, the windows we
all filled with stained glass, but only the sanctuary windows, installéd
Seplember 1907, can be dated. (The second story windows of the tower w
once filled with stained glass. But, after the stained glass was broken, 1
replaced with clear glass.) B

Few exterior changes have been made to the church. In the early 1:_98 g
modern metal framed glass doors were installed in the main level enirie
1981 saw the installation of a side door and a wheelchair ramp on the nort
east wing. At some unknown date, the basement level acquired glass bloc
in its northeastern windows and modern metal doors in the sacristy’s sout
entry.

escription

St Joseph's Church is a Gothic Revival style stone church, with a com-
I form, that stan_ds on the north side of Church Street in downtown Laconia.
H church has a long, tall, wide, gable rocfed main block, which contains
uditorium and the sanctuary. At the south end of the main block is a
wer, tall, two story structure, containing the choir and the main vestibule
his covered by an extension of the main block’s gable roof. In the:
agt corner of the main block and the choir section is the tall, narrow
Ty, gable roofed front wing. In the southwest corner of the main bloclé
e choir section is the tall, square, four story tower. The south gable
he choir section is covered by a shallow, short, one story section con-
the recessed entry and two small flanking roorms. In the corners flank-
‘thoir section (the southeast corner with the front wing and the
thwest corner with the tower) are small one story side vestibules. The west
b .'_Sides of the main block sach have a shallow, short, gable rocfed
Wwing, which contains the confessionals. Near the north end of bothl.
f:thg main block are found one story, gable roofed transepts, each with
FNArrow, one story, gable roofed addition on its gable end, a vestibule
stern transept, a baptistry on the eastern transept. In the north

Sacred Heart Church is easily the best Romanesque Revival style ch
in Belknap County. It is, in fact, one of the most impressive churche_s
county, notable not only for its large size and height, but also for t 1€
proportions and massing of its forms and for its well executed and jud
ly applied ornament.
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corners of the two fransepts and the main block are found one story, shed:
roofed sacristies, one for the altar boys in the northeast corner, and a larger
sacristy for the priests in the northwest corner. The church is built of rock:
faced granite blocks laid in random ashlar with gmooth limestone trim. The:
roofs are sheathed with slate and trimmed with copper ridge mouldings

great window has in and out bond on the jambs and a hoodmould with short
;_e‘turns. High in the gable is a limestone plaque in a pointed oval shape, with
he symbols of Saint Joseph, a flowering branch and a saw. The plague i,nter-
rupts a limestone band with the inscription “Sanctus JToseph”. The sast and
west sides of the choir section each have an upper level double casement

window in a limesto ith i .
The ceniral feature of the south front of the church is the tall choir se e ne surround with in and out bond on the jambs.

tion, which has moulded wooden cornices on the east and west sides, and
a parapet on the south gable with gable springers, limestone coping, an
a limestene cross at the peak. The front corners ars ornamented by steppe
granite corner buttresses. The corner buttresses on the east and west sid
are actually two superimposed butiresses, an outer buttress topped by a
limestone block and a taller, wider inner buttress topped by a limesto
gablet. The southern corner buttresses are more elaborate and are set on the:
same granite foundation with limestone watertable found on the other elements |
of the southern part of the church. These south front buttresses each ha
a limestone shoulder near the fop of the first story, a limestone gablet abt
the parapet of the same section, another limestone shoulder and gablet, a
finally, at the top, a rectangular limestone panel, with a blind cinguefoil are

- The two side vestibules each have a granite foundation with limestone
watertable, granite walls with limestone stringcourses, and a granite parapet
with limestone coping. The south street facades each have a small six pane
window with colored glass in a limestone surround with in and out bond on
he jambs. The sides (east cr west walls) of the two vestibules sach have a
board door with small built-in windows of colored glass, moulded wooden
rame, and limestone surround with in and out bond on the jambs. Above
each door, the parapet steps up to a carved stone cross. Attached to the door
J_nbs and the parapet are two flanking applied pinnacles, like those at the

N The tall, narrow east front wing has a granite foundation with limsstone
__t'e:f‘table. Two story high stepped granite buthresses with limestone shoulders
grace the east corners of the north and south sides. The east gable has a
rapet with gable springers and limestone coping, while the north and south
gs have moulded wooden cornices. The east gable end features a double
I:;_dow with colored glass set in a limestone surround with in and cut bond
t:i_n'__.the jambs. High in the east wall is a limestone plague, in the shape of
pointed oval, containing a carved cross.

Nastled between the two southern butiresses is the entry section, whi
has a granite base with limestone watertable. The side bays of the three bay
wide entry section have granite walls with limestone stringcourses aﬁ&
granite parapet topped by a limestone coping. Each side bay has a small’
pane window of leaded and colored glass, set in a limestone frame wii_h_-
and out bond on the jambs. The main feature of the entry section is the ce
tral entry, which is served by wide granite steps. The deep recess of the'd
try has a granite floor, limestone walls and a Gothic arched limestone ce
ing. The rear wall of the recess is filled by double doors (with small built:in
windows of colored glass), vertical boarding in the tympanum of the arch
and a moulded wooden frame. The entry's outer limestone jambs are laid
in and out bond. The recess is topped by a compound Gothic arch. Abg
the entry, the wall and the high parapet are made of limestone and decora
with carved shields. The central parapet is stepped with a moulded copl
and a carved cross crowning the highest central section. Attached to the g
ners of the central parapet are two applied pinnacles, square limestone sha
attached to the wall at their corners, which rige from the entry’s jambs to abo
the parapet. The pinnacles are decorated by panels with crosses af their baise
and by crockets and moulded caps at their tops.

~The tall square tower also has a granite foundation with limestone water-
able. The tower corners are ornamented by stepped granite angle buttresses
th limestone shoulders at the top of the first story and limestone gablets
_t'h'e top of the third and fourth stories. The first three stories have only a
g_w_:Windows, all with colored and leaded glass and limestone surrcunds with
n -r:::md out bonded jambs, a double casement window in the first story, and
all six pane windows in the second and third sicries. The fourth s‘[(;ry is
belfry stage, with two large limestone Gothic arched louvers filling each
e/ The louvers have sloping limestone sills, limestone slats, and limesteone
ches with hocdmoulds. Between each pair of louvers, a narrow granite but-
88 rises from a limestone block at sill level to a limestone gablet. The belfry
iopped by a shallow limestone cornice and by a granite parapet with
1 'e$tone coping. The crenelated parapet is stepped up at each corner and
s crowned by a carved cross in the center of each face. Two vertical limestone
u_idings near each corner of the parapet extend the vertical line of the but-
sses. An applied square limesfone finial topped by small gablets with
ckets is found above the central butiress in each face of the beliry.

In the upper level of the choir section’s souih gable end is an impressiy
large, wide and tall, Gothic arched window, with pictorial stained glass
flowing iracery. The iracery inciudes four tall cinguefoil arches in the lo
‘section, two elongated quatrefoils and a trefoil in the upper section, a
as spherical triangles and flame shaped sash. The limestone surround of:
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reet between 1867 and 1869. But, it was struck by hghtnlng and burned
the ground on July 1, 1877. A new church was soon begun on the same
ite: The basement of the new building was occupied in 1879. But, the second
urch was not completely finished and dedicated unti] 1881. By the late
}920 s, the parish was outgrowing its second building. The parish had aiready
acquzred a more prominent site for a church on Church Street in 1904, when
= Busiel house, with its ample grounds, was purchased for a rectery. Plans
o:_a large granite Gothic Revival style church were drawn up by architect
ames Q'Shaughnessy of Boston, with associate architects Smith & Walker,
_Esp of Boston. Seeking to reduce the “prohibitive” estimated cost of $100,000,
‘building committee substituted brick for granite, thus saving cver $9000.
wever, a late anonymous gift of $9750 allowed the parish to return to the
ginal plans for a stone church. The building contract was awarded to the
alsh Brothers of Cambridge, Mass. Ground was broken for the new building
May 5, 1929. The completed church was dedicated on September 1, 1930,
Wlth much ceremony. Since its construction, the only exterior changes have
ejf} the replacement of the original doors on the east transept and the east
Tisty with modern metal doors in the 1980's.

The main block has moulded wooden cornices on its gast and west si
and its north gable. The east and west sides, between the tower or the ir
wing and the transepts, are each divided into six bays by stepped granil
buttresses with sloping limestone shoulders. Five of the six bays feature a larg
double window with lancet arched, stained glass windows sharing a limeston
surround with in and out bonded jambs. The other bay on each side is og
cupied by the small shallow confessional wing. The windowless confessictia
wings each have granite corner buttresses with stepped limestone shoulder
at their outer corners, and gable roofs trimmed by moulded wooden cornices
The north gable end of the main block has one small lower window with moul
ed frame, granite sill and lintel. And, high in the north wall, ancther i
pressive large Gothic arched stained glass window with flowing tracer
duplicates the large window found in the church's south gable end.

The west transept has a moulded wooden cornice and a stepped granit
buttress with a limestone shoulder at the west end of its south wall, but
openings. On its west gable end is the shorter, narrower vestibule, which
also has @ moulded wooden cornice and stepped granite buttresses, as
as an entry in its west gable end. The vestibule entry is a board door wil
grmall builtin windows of colered glass, a moulded wooden frame, granite
and lintel. North of the transept is the priest's sacristy, whose shed roo
trimmed by a lateral box cornice with mouldings and by a shallow moulde
cornice on the northern half gable. The sacristy is lit by casement wmd
with colored and leaded glass, granite sills and lintels.

The architect James O'Shaughnessy is said to have worked in the office
Ralph Adams Cram. And the design of St. Joseph's does have that quality
boldness and forcefulness often associated with Cram’s work. The mass-
r'of the building is almost sculptural. The street facade is a fine composi-
The well designed ornament is carefully placed. The result is a power-

church, an excellent example of the 20th century (Gothic Revival style

The east transept is asymmetrical in profile, as the side eniry &t its soulh ts hest.

end gives its gable roof an asymmetrical shape. The roof is trimmed b
moulded wooden cornice. The entry in the narrow south side is a mod
metal door with builtin window, granite sill and lintel. The east gable:
has two windows, one on each side of the baptistry. Both windows h
limestone surrounds with in and cut bondec jambs. One window is a ¢as
ment window with colored glass, while the other is a stained glass window
with pictorial design. The baptistry wing on the transept’s east gable end!
corner buttregses and a moulded wooden cornice. The baptistry’s only
dow is a double window with lancet arched stained glass windows]
limestone surround with in and out bonded jambs in the east gable end..
east sacristy has a laieral box cornice and a shallow moulded cornice on
north half gable. Its only openings are both in the east wall, a double a8
ment window with colored glass, granite sill and lintel, and a modern met:
door with builtin window, concrete sill, and granite lintel. 3

History

St. Joseph's Church was organized as a Roman Catholic mission in:182
and became a parish in 1871. The first church building was erected on Me
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Ble roof. Most of the main block’s east gable end is covered by the pavilion
d the tower base. The pavilion is set on a high concrete foundation and
cheathed with flush boarding. Fluted pilasters with moulded bases and
pitals ornament the pavilion's corners and divide its east street gable end
othree bays, a wide central bay and two narrower side bays. The pavilion's
ble roof is trimmed by a pedimented cornice that copies the main block
rnice. The church’s main entry, plain framed double six panel doors in
ecentral bay, is sheltered by a portice with high board floor, paneled base,
d board steps. Two fluted columns with moulded bases and capitals and
Wo corresponding pilasters of similar design on the pavilion wall support
& portico’s gable roof and its pedimented cornice, which is similar to the
ain block and pavilion cornices. In the pavilion's pediment is mounted a
ern metal symbol of the denomination. The windows in the main block's
rth and south sides have moulded frames. Generally the lower level win-
5ws have 12/12 sash, while the larger upper level windows have 16/16 sash.
¢ exceptions are the double casement windows with twelve pane sash at
hig‘east ends of the twe sides. Also found at the east end of the south side
he side entry, a paneled door with builtin window and moulded frame,
ich is sheltered by a portico similar to the main entry portico, but with
ower open base and without pilasters.

UNITARIAN-UNIVERSALIST CHURCH

172 Pleasant Street
1939-1840
Walter E. Dunlap, builder

‘Rising from the roofs of the pavilion and the main block is the square
se of the tower. The tall base is sheathed with [lush boarding and is trimmed
by cornerboards with moulded caps and by a cornice like those of the main
ock and the pavilion. The smaller octagenal belfry stage is surrounded by
uare railing, with simple balusters and rails and square cornerpests topped
. (The front railing and two urns are now missing.) The belfry is
eathed by flush boarding and trimmed by cornerboards with moulded caps.

semicircular arched louver occupies each face of the bellry. The belfry's
ntiled cornice is similar in design to the main block and pavilion cornices,

is more delicate in scale. The tall octagonal spire with flared eaves is
éwned by an arrow shaped metal weathervane.

Description

The Unitarian-Universalist Church is a Colonial Revival style churc
stanids on the west side of Pleasant Street. The gable roofed main bloc:k"
a shallow, gable roofed entry pavilicn in the center of its east gable end
street facade. Ons story porticos ghelter the main entry in the pavilion'sie
front and a southern side entry in the main block. Rising from the root
the pavilion and the main block is the two stage tower with spire. Atwos
hip rooled rear wing covers the entire west gable end and part of the s¢
side of the main block and cverlaps it to the north and the south. An._
one story portico shelters the rear wing's main entry, in its east facade
the south of the main block.

The hip roofed rear wing is trimmed by moulded window and door
mes, narrow aluminum corner strips, and a moulded wooden cornice. A
eled door with builtin window in the east street facade is sheltered by
jortico of the same design as the portico on the main block’s south side
¥. Two paneled doors with builtin windows and shallow shed roofed hoods
found in the rear west side. The rear wing is lit by casement windows,
pat-of them double windows with either twelve or eight pane sash.

The main block and the rear wing are both now sheathed with alumin
“clapboard” siding above concrete foundations. The main block is tri ;
by tall fluted weoden corner pilasters, with moulded bases and capitalg
the front corners and by narrow aluminum corner strips on the rear corn
A wooden box cornice with mouldings, dentils, {rieze, and returns trims

_'Ihe Unitarian church in Laconia was organized in 1838 and reorganized
67 as the First Unitarian Society. The congregation’s Main Street church
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was so severely damaged by fire in 1938 that it was demolished the followin HST CHURCH OF CHRIST SCIENTIST
year. In June of 1939, the Society purchased land on Pleasant Street for:
new church. Ground was broken for the building on June 22, And contra
tor Walter E. Dunlap began work the following day. According to traditiol
within the church, the architect hired to design the new church produded
plans that were not approved by the church members. It is said that eithier
the plans were modified by the builder or that the builder drew up his ow
plans. Unfortunately, neither the architect's name nor any church records
describing the design process now survive. The cornerstone of the churt
was not laid until November 19, by which time the church was nearing cot
pletion. Although first used for services on December 24, 1939, the chur
was not formally dedicated until September 22, 1940. The Unitarian Chu
is the earliest example of the Colonial Revival style ameng the churche
Belknap County. The church, with its sophisticated design and line of
ment, is a good example of the style as it was used in the 1930's and 1940/

B Pleasant Street

73-1924

arles T. McFarland, architect
rry Sleeper, builder

The church has seen only two significant exterior changes. The addi
of the Unitarian-Universalist symbol in the pavilion pediment reflects
merger of the Unitarian and Universalist denominations. In the 196
aluminum siding was installed over the wooden clapboards of the main bl
and the rear wing. Fortunately, the siding installation was more respect
of the original building than is often the case. The tower, pavilion, port{
and most of the ornament on the main block and rear wing were

untouched.

iption

he First Church of Christ Scientist is a Classical Revival style church
: tands on the southwest side of Pleasant Strest. The gable roofed main
k is two stories high above a lower level that is exposed on the sides and
rear. But, because of the slope of the lot, the lower level is only a high
ment on the northeast street facade. A monumental gable rooled por-
overs most of the main block’s main facade, the northeast gable end.

n¢ the main block at the street ends of the southeast and northwest sides
ower one story wings. Again, the lower levels of the wings are exposed
ie sides and rear, but are reduced to high basements on the street front.

: ings are basically rectangular in plan, but both have small rectangular
ctions at their southwest ends which extend along the sides of the main
The small corners formed by the main sections and the small projec-

the two wings are both filled by one story, hip roofed basement
bules at the lower level.

he_ main bleck and the two wings have concrete walled lower levals.
heir main and upper levels have wooden framed walls covered by stucco.
Iihree sections, the lower level is topped by wooden sillboards with
sles. The main block's upper level and the wings’ main levels are all
ed by shallow wooden cornices with mouldmgs friezes, and architraves.

ain block cornice is deeper.) The wings' cornices are topped by stucco
arapets with wooden baseboards and metal copings, which hide the
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wings’ low pitched roois. A similar parapet on the main block has recen
been crowned by a gable roof which is trimmed by a box cornice
mouldings, moulded frieze, and returns. Medillions grace the cornice on
front gable, but nct on the sides and the rear. The moulded frieze contifii
across the front at the level of the returns beneath the pivwood sheathed gab
The rear gable, also plywood covered, has a plain box cornice on the rake
Still to be seen at the base of the rear gable is a deep horizontal cornice'w:
mouldings and sloping soffit, that once trimmed the flatter roof that has begn
covered over.

&& more casement windows and a main level louvered glass door opening

to a metal stairway. The stairway's upper landing is sheltered by a simple
oden shed roof.

-The two side wings are also very similar. Their northeast street facades
th have a plain framed double casement window i the basement and a
uble casement window with colored glass and moulded frame in the main
el: The sides of the twe wings contain more double casement windows in
both levels. The basement vestibules at the corners of the lower levels of the
wings both have stucco covered walls, moulded cornices with friezes,
d hip roofs. Moulded frames trim the modern paneled door with builtin
indow and the 16 pane window in each small vestibule.

In the center of the three bay street lacade of the main block is the mi
eniry, double glass doors with moulded wooden frames beneath a trarsc
window of colored glazs. The doors and transom window are set in a méu
ed irame with lower cornerblocks. On each side, the moulded frame is flank
by side trim with a lower cornerblock, and, attached to the side trim, a lon
ornately carved console. The two consoles support the eniry’s moulded box
cornice, which is ornamented by dentils and a pulvinated frieze. Abovéith
main entry in the upper story is a sixteen pane window with colored glag
and a moulded frame which rests on the entry's cornice. The window is fla
by ornately carved scrolls resting on simple bases. The side bays featur__
casement windows with colored glass and moulded frames, each bay having
a ten pane windew in the main level and an eight pane window in the u"_
story.

By 1897, Christian Scientists were meeting for services in a small Laconia
In 1805, the group applied for a charter from the Mother Church. And,
ovember 25, 1905, the First Church of Christ Scientist was organized.
ay of 1922, the church purchased a lot on Pleasant Street, not far from
rans Square. The ground was broken for the building in the fail of 1922
&l construction began the following spring. The cornerstone was laid
ugust of 1823, The first services were held in the building on January
24, although the formal dedication was not held until August 17, 1924,
church was designed by Boston architect Charles T. McFarland and
éd by Laconia builder Harry Sleeper. The First Church of Christ Scientist
the only church in the county to employ the Classical Revival style that
s¢ popular in the late 19th and early 20th centuries. The building’s sym-
trical design, its well proportioned composition of large simple masses
nted by a monumental portice, and its well executed decoration, make
dignified and impressive building, cne of the county’s best churches.

Most of the main block's sireet facade is covered by a monumentalip
tico set on a high stuccoed base. The portice’s brick and flagstone ﬂb
reached by wide brick steps, which are flanked by stuccoed sidewalls topg
by extensions of the portico floor. The portico’s four two story tall wogd
columns have cbvious entasis, moulded bases, and bell shaped capitalt
deccrated by mouldings and acanthus leaves. Simpler wall pilasters with base
and capitals, at the ends of the portico, alsc help to visually suppor
pedimented cornice with architrave, frieze, mouldings, and Ca
modillions. The tympanum of the pediment is covered with stucco.

lt is said that the main block parapet was added two or three years after
ohisiruction of the church, although it does seem to have been very much
of the church's design. At some urnknown date, the basement steps on
eéar of the two wings were covered by small shed roofed, beaded board-
stibules. About 1964, major interior renovations led to some minor
ges on the sides and rear of the main block, the boarding up of a lower
swindow on the southeast, the addition of a main level window on the
hwest, and the addition of the door with its exterior stairs on the rear.
her renovations in 1990-91 included the placement of a new gable roof
the main block parapet, the replacement of the old basement vestibules
{h'new ones, and the installation of new window sash in the tall windows
e basement windows on the southeast and northwest sides of the main
::This rencvaticn was guite sympathetic, as can be seen in the details
cornice on the new front gable that were copied from the portico’s cor-
aﬁd in the stucco covered walls of the new basement vestibules.

The southeast and northwest sides of the main block are similar, alth
not identical. The easterly section of each facade is covered by a sidew
leaving just the upper story visible. Above each side wing can be fourx
guadruple windows with moulded frames, and on the northwest side, _d-’t
window with plain frame as well. West of the wings, each side has thrée;
with a plain framed lower level triple window, and a two story high't
window in the main and upper stories. These tall windows now have two ey
with three eighteen pane windows in each level, and moulded frames:W
of the tall windows, the northwest side features double casement wim
one in the lower level and two in the main level, while the southeast s1d
a boarded up lower level opening, a double casement window in the’
level, and a double window in the upper level. The rear gable end fea
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CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH OF LACONIA

- The southwest and northeast arms of the cruciform main block share a
able roof that is somewhat taller than the subsidiary gable roofs of the north-
st and southeast arms. All of these roofs have slate sheathing and flaring
/es. The wide lateral eaves have mouldings, beaded board scffits, and
scoratively sawn rafter ends. The geble saves feature moulded bargeboards,
ecorated with mouldings and projecting purlin ends, and supported by large
oden braces on stone corbels. Three of the gable ends, on the southwest,
+hwest, and northeast, are similar in design, with three or four basement
dows (now hoarded up or filled with louvers}, and an impressive, large,
& and tall, Gothic arched window in the main level. The large window
At a-gray granite sill, diamond paned glass, and elaborate panel tracery.
s fracery includes five tall lower cinguefoil arches, ten tall upper trefoil
hes, and two large Gothic arches, as well as smaller asymmetrical cusped
h. The main: level of the rear southeast gable end features a large blind
ic arch with gray granite gill. The rear gable end does retain two base-
windows and the basement vestibule. The southeast arrn is the only sec-
of the cruciform main block to project sufficiently to have windows in
lateral sides. Each side has a boarded up basement window and a Tudor
rched main level window with moulded frame, and gray granite sill and

69 Pleasant Street
1505-1906

Willard P. Adden, architect
I.H. Mendell, builder

The wooden basement vestibule on the main block has a granite foun-
on, exposed wooden posts and beaded board sheathing on the walls, and
tal sheathed gable roof. The door in the gable end has triangular panels,
uiltin diamend paned window, and a moulded lintel. Each side features
) Tudor arched diamond paned windows above panels of beaded board-
i The roof is trimmed by lateral cornices with sloping soffits, mouldings,
iriezes, and by bargeboards with mouldings and elaborate sawn corner
ckets.

Description

- 'The tall tower at the west corner is the church’s most conspicuous feature.
Pleasant Street facade contains the main entry, double board doors with
¢ ornate hinges, set in a moulded frame and a Tudor arch with granite
. The entry is sheltered by a wooden porch. The porch’s granite steps and
rete floor are flanked by Weymouth granite sidewalls topped by gray
nite. On the sidewalls sit the porch's heavy posts with chamfered braces.
side of the porch has two Tudor arched openings. The gable end is
ped by an open gable iruss with five vertical posts supporting the rafters.
g gable roof has flared eaves, exposed rafters with decoratively sawn ends,
déioverhanging eaves with mouldings, and paneled bargebeards with
uldings, corner braces, and projecting purlins. To each side of the porch
“he tower’s first story is a diamond paned window with moulded frame,
v granite sill and lintel. In the second story above the eniry are two double,
ond paned windows set in Tudor arches with gray granite sills. Three
“of the third story each have a small diamond paned window with gray

granite, laid in random ashlar, above a high Weymouth granite baset
which has a watertable and a foundation of gray granite. The building is'c
plex in form. The tall auditorium, covered by intersecting gable root
cruciform in plan, with large gable ends facing southwest (fowards Pledsant
Street). northwest (towards the Square), northeast and southeast. Thefo
angles of the cross are filled by a four story, square tower in the west cor,
small, one story, shed roofed wings in the south and east corners, and a larg
one and a half story, gable and shed roofed chapel wing in the north cér

The tower has a one story, gable rocfed entry porch on its southwest (Ple
sant Street) facade and a one story, shed rooled stairhall addition on its nior
wast {Velerans Square) facade. The chapel wing has two small recent dd
tions, a two story, shed roofed elevator tower on it northeast side and &
story basement vestibule on its southeast side. An older, one story base
vestibule appsars on the southeast gable end of the main block, :
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'alls with panels of gravel covered concrete beneath large plate glass win-
ows. The hip roof has @ moulded wooden cornice. At the northeast end of
he long vestibule are its double, metal framed glass doors.

granite sill and lintel. The third story is topped by a gray granite and met
cornice. The fourth story, the slightly smaller belfry, has three large louve:
with moulded frames and continuous granite lintels in each side. The belf;
is topped by a gray granite cornice with large granite brackets and
crenelated parapet with gray granite coping. The low pitched pyramidal ¢
is crowned by an elaborate copper weathervane. On the Veterans Square
side of the tower is the shed roofed stairhal! addition. The Pleasant Stré
end of the addition is covered by a tower buttress set flush with the fow
wall. The Weymouth granite buttress has the same high base with watert
as the walls, and two sloping granite shoulders. The Veterans Square si
of the addition is also of Weymouth granite with the same foundation an
lateral eaves as the main block, and featuring two double, diamond panet
Tudor arched windows with gray granite silis and lintels.

- The church, originally known as the Meredith Bridge Congregational
-hurch was organized in 1824, The Congregationalists used the Union
eetinghouse for their services, until the structure burned in February 1836.
\ new building was erected at the corner of Church and Main Streets in that
ine year. Although later remodeled, the wooden church seemed outdated
o many members of the congregation by the beginning of the 20th century.
ey wanted & more modern church of brick or stone. The city government
ad its own plans for the church land, which it wanted to widen Church Street
o-the south and the library grounds te the north, On December 6, 1902, a
in a nearby commercial block exploded a supply of gunpowder in a hard-
iare store. The explosion seriously damaged the Congregational Church and
rompted the decision to finally abandon the old church. On January 5, 1903,

Congregational society voted to enter into negotiations for the sale of the
and. The city’s offer was accepted in June. On june 22, the society voted
sell the old building to the People’s Christian Church, to build a new
hurch, and to buy a lot on Church Street for the new building. (The old
'_i"ch was moved to another site on Veterans Square, where it still stands
the Evangelical Baptist Church.)

The small wings in the south and east corners are virtually identical. The
have the same granite walls with high basement and the same cornice as
main block. Each southeastern wall of the wings has a triple window, whi
the sides each have one sash window. The main level windows all have: i
mond panes, Tudor arches, gray granite sills and lintels.

At the north corner of the church, facing the Square, is the chapel w;
The wing is covered by two roofs, a gable roof with flaring eaves set perp
dicular to the Square, and a shed rocf covering the area between the §
roof and the main block’s northwest arm. The basement level and mainl
of the wing received the same wall treatment as the rest of the church. Ab
a horizontal box cornice with mouldings and numerous simple brackets:,'i"
upper level is stuccoed. The gable eaves have mouldings and theirow
shallow brackets. The Square facade has a triple window with diamond parié
Tudor arches, gray granite sill and lintel in the main level, and a doublewi
dow with diamond panes, Tudor arches, and rectangular moulded fram '
the gable. At the north corner of the wing is an inset entry porch, whig
now enclosed by vertical beaded boarding. (The boarding was once erg
seasonally, but is now left in place year round.) The boarding is placed bel
the porch’s wooden posts and wooed railings with arched openings. Thres
Tudor arched diamond paned windows punctuate the beaded board wal
the Square side. At the northeast end of the porch, granite steps serve a b
ed board recess containing the entry, double paneled doors with builtin:
dows. The wing’s northeast and southeast sides each have a window with
mond panes, Tudor arches, gray granite sill and lintel - a triple window
the northeast, a single window on the scutheast. Attached to the northea
side of the wing is a shed rooied elevator tower with stuccoed walls, a ]at
kox cornice like that on the chapel wing, and shallow moulded cornice
the half gables. The elevator tower has a modern metal door with metal £
and a tall, diamond paned, Tudor arched window. The basement vesti
covering the basement level of the wing's southeast side has metal frame

Plans were prepared for a church on the Church Street site, but the lot
ved too small and poorly shaped. So, both the site and the plans were
bandoned. Another property was purchased at the corner of Veterans Sguare
nd Pleasant Street. And a new architect, Willard P. Adden of Boston, was
ed to prepare entirely new plans. In 1904, the second set of plans was
wn, and the construction was put out to bid. On December 20, 1904, the
lding contract was signed by the low bidder, J.H. Mendell of Manchester.
rk began on April 10, 1905. The cornerstone was laid on June 19 with
impressive ceremony. The completed building was consecrated on June
906. The church, which cost, including furnishings, nearly $70,000, was
icated free of debt. The Congregational Church is an impressive building,
ajor landmark in the city and one of the county’s best examples of the
sothic Revival style. Inspired by English Gothic churches, the architect
ated a building that is at once dignified and picturesque and that takes
‘advantage of its location at a major corner in the downtowr:.

“Since the church’s construction, only a few miner changes have been
deé to the exterior. The temporary walls of beaded bearding, designed to
lose the chapel wing porch in the winter, are now lelt in place year round.
974, a metal and glass basement vestibule was added on the chapel wing.
he late 1970's saw the covering of many basement windows. In 1987, the
vator tower was built onto the chapel wing to improve handicapped ac-
s Recently, the door in the older basement vestibule was replaced.
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ofthe main block is two stories high to provide a protecied exit from the second
ry auditorium in the main block.

EVANGELICAL BAPTISET CHURCH

Veterans Square
1836
Listed on the National Register of Historic Places

- The main block is clapboarded, save tor the flush boarding of the
sedimented northwest gable., The main Square facade has a moulded
Iboard. Wide paneled pilasters with bases and capitals crnament all four
corners. The box cornice with mouldings, deep moulded frieze, and large
orriate sawn brackets is pedimented on the front gable, but only has returns
| the rear gable,

In the center of the main block’s Square facade is the tower, which is
eathed with flush bearding on the front and with aluminum “clapboard”
iding on the sides of the third story that rise above the roof. It is trimmed
by corner pilasters that are paneled in the lower two stories, but are plain
ifithe third story. The church’s main entry is found in a semicircular arched
racess, sheathed with beaded boarding, in the first story. The entry is served
by carpeted granite steps with flared concrete sidewalls. The tall, double,
ineled doors have a moulded surround and a shallow cornice. A semi-
reular hoodmould with returns crowns a paneled tympanum over the doors.
culded boards divide the tympanum into two lower semi-circles and an
pper spherical triangle. (Both the hoodmould with returns and the pattern
ed in the tympanum are motifs used elsewhere on the church.} The recess
framed by a moulded semicircular arch with moulded imposts. The first
ory is topped by a box cornice with mouldings, deep Irieze, and dentils,

The second story of the tower contains a double window with two semi-

roular arched stained glass windows with geometric and floral patterns. They
are a plain frame and a joined hoodmould with returns. The second story
‘topped by an extensicn of the main block pediment’s horizontal cornice
ound the tower, The third story, which rises above the main block roof,
as its own box cornice with mouldings and deep frieze. A recessed semi-
__f_cuiar arched panel with moulded arch and imposts on the Sguare facade
the third story contains a semicircular arched louver, which is subdivided
to two semicircular arched gections, topped by a spherical triangle. The
rge louver has a typical hoodmould with returns. The spire stands on a short,
uminum sheathed, octagonal base, which has a large recessed panel in each
e, and a shallow moulded cornice. The tall spire is covered with aluminum
anels and ornamented by ridge mouldings. At the base of the spire, each
:the eight slopes has a semicircular arched louvered dormer, topped by
convex rool with flat side roofs, whose shape and moulded cornice echoes
he shape and ornament of the hoodmoulds with returns found over the win-
ows below. The spire is crowned by a carved knob and a Celtic cross.

Description

The Evangelical Baptist Church is & Victorian eclectic church, com
ing elements of the Italianate and Romanesque Revival styles. The church
stands on the southeast side of Veterans Square in downtown Laconia. Tk
two and a half story, gable roofed main block has a three story square towet,
with an octagonal spire, projecting slightly from the center of its northwi
gable end, which faces Veterans Square. In the center of the main blog
rear southeast gable end is a shallow, two story, hip rooled addition. Attac_}i d
to the rear of the main block and the addition is an irregularly shaped;{éur
sided, concrete block rear wing. Most of the rear wing is one story high-will
a flat roof, but a small shed roofed section that overlaps the southwest sid

Returning tc the side bays of the three bay wide Sguare facade of the
ain block, we lind a 6/6 sash window with entablature in the first story of
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the west bay. (A similar window in the east bay was replaced by a churt
sign/bulletin board.) The second story of each bay contains a tall, semicircul
arched, stained glass window, incorporating two semicircular arches and th
resulting spherical triangle in its tracery and featuring geometric and flot:
patterns in its glass. A typical hoodmould with returns tops each second sto
window. The northeast and southwest sides have similar fenestration. The fir
story windows are mostly 6/6 sash windows with entablatures. The secon
story of each side contains three tall, wide, semicircular arched stained glé{_éjs-
windows, with the same design and hoodmould as their counterparts on th
Square facade. The rear gable end has a shallow, two story addition, which
is clapboarded with narrow corner pilasters and a box cornice like the mas
block’s cornice. In the second story on each side of the addition is a narro
semicircular arched 2/2 sash window with hoodmould.

hne example of its style. But, inevitably, within a few decades, it came to
e seen as old fashioned and therefore unatiractive.

.In 1871, the Congregationalists decided to modernize their building.
tey turned to local architect-builder Arthur L. Davis, who not only designed
he renovation, but contracted for the work, save for the masonry. 1he entire
uzldlng was raised six feet to build a new lower level with vestibule, kit-
én, vestry, and other service rooms. The old steeple was removed and a
w three story tower was built projecting from the street gable end. Above
the tower rose a steeple with belfry and clock stages and a tall octagonal spire.

he spire reached some 170 {eet above the street, making the church the tallest
ilding in the town.: The exterior was completely remodeled, with a new
0x cornice and large arched stained glass windows in what was now the
ond story. An addition on the rear gable end, lit by arched windows on
¢ ‘sides, provided a recess behind the pulpit. When the church was
édedicated in F ebruary of 1872, it was a thoroughly Victorian building, the
riginal Greek Revival style church having been almost completely
bliterated. Most of the features of the remodeled church were ltalianate,

hough there was a hint of the Romanesque Revival style in the arches of
e windows, louvers, and entry. But, these Romanesque elements were ful-
incorporated intc a fine Victorian Italianate design.

The rear wing, built to fit the rear boundaries of the lot, is almost a triang
in shape, as its northeast wall, which continues the line of the main blodl{
northeast side, is only a few leet wide. Most of the rear wing is cne story higt
with concrete block walls ornamented by brick quoins, and a flat roof wi
close metal eaves. But, a small two story section of the rear wing does pr
ject a short distance down the southeast side of the main block. The Squa
facade of the two story section and the second story of its rear end are cla
boarded with cornerboards. The shed roofed two story section has simple
wooden box cornices with friezes, save on the concrete block southwest sid
which has close eaves. Each story of the Square facade has a plain framet
paneled door with builtin window. The upper level door opens onto a s
fire escape. The rear wing windows have concrete sills, plain wooden frame
and, usually, single pane pivoting sash. The rear east wall also containg
metal door with builtin louvers and plain frame.

* Since 1872, the church has changed both its location and its congrega-
n. By the beginning of the 20th century, a new generation of Congrega-
onalists had come to see the remodeled church as again outdated. Many
nted a new brick or stone church. And the city government wanted the
and beneath the church to enlarge the library grounds on the north and to
en Church Street on the south. On December 6, 1902, the Masonic Tem-
&, a nearby Main Street commercial block, was destroyed by fire. When
16 fire reached the gunpowder stored in a hardware store in the Templs,
heiresulting explosion seriously damaged the Congregational church,

troying many windows and knocking much plaster from the walls. This
roved to be the final blow for the Congregationalists. On January 3, 1903,

Congregational Society established a committes to negotiate with the city.
ind, on June 1, the Society accepted the city's offer for the land. On June
:the Society voted to build a new church and o sell the old building for
00 to the Pecople’s Christian Church. (The Pecple's Christian Churceh,
nded in 1890, was subsequently renamed twice, first as the First Chris-
n.Church and later as the Evangelical Baptist Church.) The bill of sale
s signed October 7. Late November found a Concord contractor moving
‘bailding cut into Veterans Square, then turning and backing it onte a

g site aboul two hundred feet away on Veterans Square facing the railroad
ation.

History

The only church in the village of Meredith Bridge burned on Febru
27, 1836. The Meredith Bridge Religious Society, which owned the destroye
church, met on March 15 to consider building a new church. The Sot
voted to raise $3500 by selling $25 shares and to accept the donation of
lot at the corner of what are now Church and Main Streets. There the chu
was erected in the same year. Unfortunately, we cannot now identily i
designer or its builder. The church was built to serve the local Congré
tionalists. So, in 1837, the property was deeded to the Meredith Bridge C
gregational Socisty, which was later renamed the Lacenia Congregatic
Society, after Meredith Bridge became the nucleus of the new town of Lacont
The Congregational Church appears in early views as a Greek Revival &
church with a gable rooted main block. Its Main Street gable end featire
four pilasters supporting a pedimented gable. On the roof above the m
facade was a three stage tower with an octagonal cupola. The church
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ound the small, short, one story, gable roofed vestibule. Both the main block
nd the vestibule are set on high brick foundations, sheathed with wood
h_ingles, and ornamented by narrow sillbcards and box cornices with
wuldings. The horizontal cornices have wide friezes, which do not appear
n the raking cornices. On the gables, the box cornices are pedimented. But,
fie windows on the main block's gable ends interrupt the horizontal cornices
{the pediments. Both gable roofs are covered by slate and trimmed with
opper ridge mouldings.

On its new site, the church has seen a few exterior changes. The mos
important was the loss of the upper steeple, the belfry and clock stages and
the spire, which were toppled by the 1938 hurricane. A new bell was place
in the third story of the tower. And a shorter octagonal spire on an octagonal
base was designed by Laconia architect Norman Randlett and erected by coni:
tractor Elmer Boynton & Son in 1939. The main entry has acquired concrete
sidewalls and new doors. The concrete block rear wing, designed by archite
Clifford Breker, was built in 1957 by contractor Sylvester Rand. About 198
a church sign replaced a window in the first story of the main facade. And
in 1988, the spire and its base were resheathed with aluminum, and alumindm
siding was instelled on the sides of the tower's third story.

- In the south gable end of the small vestibule is the church’s main entry,
_now served by concrete steps. The entry is double doors of vertical beaded
'r_iarding, with large ornate iron hinges. The east and west sides of the
;ej}stibule each contain a high window of leaded glass, mostly diamond paned
osted glass, with a stained glass border of small rectangular panes. The door
zﬁd window frames have simple outer mouldings, which continue up over
he frieze of the box cornice.

OLD ST. JAMES EPISCOPAL CHURCH

95 Water Street

1894

Bodwell & Sargent, architects
Gardner Cook & Son, builder

The high brick basement of the main block is interrupted by modern
nigle pane windows (or louvers) with brick sills. On the north side, the base-
ent also has a modern metal door, reached by descending concrete steps
a concrete walled stairway. The basement door and stairs are sheltered
¥ a metal sheathed shed roof, trimmed by moulded eaves and verges and
upported by metal posts. The south and north lateral walls have modern 1/1
ash windows in older wocden frames, five on the south and six on the north.,
he eastern widnow in each wall is narrower than the other windows. The
indow frames have simple outer mouldings that continue up over the friezes
f ‘the cornices.

The west gable end is dominated by a large, tall window, now contain-
1§ six large panes arranged in two levels of three panes each. The window
ame is decorated by a simple outer moulding and by two carved brackets

arking the ends of the horizontal cornice where it is interrupted by the win-
dow. The east gable end once featured two high stained glass windows. They
rere replaced by two lower and smaller 1/1 sash windows which have sim-
ple outer mouldings on the frame. The interrupted horizontal cornice of the
able pediment still has carved brackets at the ends of the two cornice sec-
ons. South of the two central windows appears another 1/1 sash window.
O 'the north of the windows is a modern, metal framed glass door with a simply
moulded frame. Each gable contains a semicircular arched louver with a sirn-
ple cuter moulding.

Description

The Old 5t. James Episcopal Church is a former church building, né
an office building, Unit 4 in The Foundry, a condominium complex. It star'i_ds"_
on the north side of Water Street in downtown Laconia. The building com
bines elements of the Shingle Style and the classical and medieval traditioﬁs;
The one story, gable roofed main block is set with its south lateral facad
facing Water Street. Near the west end of the main block’s street facade

is%ory

Inthe fall of 1893, an Episcopalian church was crganized in Laconia.
he first meeting was held in the waiting room of the railroad station. Regular
rvices were held, beginning in November, in the local YMCA rooms. But,
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the Episcopalians almest immediately began searching for more permaner
quarters. In mid November, a local newspaper reported that the Episcopalian
had reached an agreement to buy a Pleasant Street lot, on which they planned
to erect “a plain church building of moderate cost” the next spring. B
December, the Concord architéctural firm of Bodwell & Sargent was at work
on the plans. The architects’ plans were accepted by the five man buildin
committee on May 15, 1894. May also saw the removal of the old house s
the lot. In June, the building contract was awarded to local builder Gardne
Cook & Son. The foundation was [inished by the second week of July. An
the completed church was dedicated on October 16, 1894. It had cost “clos
to $10,000”. The building was relatively modest and was set near the bac
of the lot, so that a large church could eventually be built in front of it A&
that time, the original structure would become the parish house. The architect
had to strike a balance between the dignity appropriate for a church andth
simplicity appropriate for a parish house. The result was an aftractive building
but one that was hard to place stylistically. It combined the wood shingle
sheathing typical of the Shingle Style, with pedimented box cornices fror
the classical tradition, and leaded glass windows and pointed entry arches
from the medieval tradition.

e side entry in the street facade was replaced by & window. Another arched
beaded board door in the east gable end was replaced by a modern metal
nd glass door. And a roof wag built over the basement stairway.

OUTH BAPTIST CHURCH

The Episcopalians made few changes to Old St. James Church in th
seven decades of ownership. Two stained glass windows were installed in {h
east gable end in 1924. The side entry on the sireet facade of the main bloc__
an arched door of beaded boarding, lost its hood sometime in the 1940's or
1050's. The Episcopaliang eventually did need more space. In 1948, a pla
10 enlarge the building with a major addition towards the street was unveﬂe
But, this proposed addition was ultimately abandoned for a new church'dg
a new site. The present St. James Episcopal Church, a large modern chu
on North Main Street, was dedicated on June 9, 1965, In 1967, the old chu
was sold to the Salvation Army. The Episcopalians did remove the easier
stained glass windows, before leaving their old church. The Salvation A:
replaced the two removed windows with 1/1 sash windows and added a bas
ment vestibule {later removed when the building was relocated). In time,:
Salvation Army also moved to newer larger quarters, and sold the old ch
in 1982,

-

Little used for the next few years, the building was moved in 1886 to make
way for a new city parking lot. On its new Water Street site, the buﬂd o
was placed on a new foundation and basement. The plans for The Foun
a condominium complex, were aporoved by the city planning board in 18
In September of 1988, the old church, Unit 4 of the complex, was deede
by Streetcar Place Associates, the developers of the condominium, to the B
nette, Page & Stone Realty Partnership, the present owners. In late 1988
carly 1989, the building was converted to offices. The leaded, diamond pan
and stained glass of the main block windows was replaced by clear gias

cription

The Scuth Baptist Church is a large Victorian Italianate style church that
tands on the north side of Court Street, at the corner of Rowe Court, in
owntown Laconia. The tall, two story, gable roofed main block has a tall
are tower projecting slightly from the center of its main facade, the south
able end. In the center of the main block’s rear gable end is a two story,
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mmed by moulded baseboards and cornices with dentils, mouldings and
friezes. The plain framed, paneled double doors, with tall builtin windows,
the rear wall of the recess. The recess is flanked on the exterior by pilasters
vith bases, chamiered edges and capitals. The capitals are projections of the
dentiled cornice that tops the recess sidewalls and continues across the south
nt to the buttresses. The recess is crowned by a semicircular moulded arch
i¢h rises from the pilaster capitals. The slightly recessed tympanum contains
wo'quarter circular panels with chamiered edges and beaded board infill.

e arch has a large ornate keystone that rises into the moulded cornice top-
hqg the first story. The second story is sheathed with flush boarding. Only
short portion of the second story rises above the main block roof. On the
uth front are found two large shallow recesses. The larger lower recess has
tornate top with moulded quarter circular upper corners, which project
“glightly into the recess, and are supported by sawn brackets at their bases.
rectangular projection at the top of the recess is ornamented by a moulded
rnice with brackets. In the lower recess is a large semicircular arched,
stained glass window, whose tracery incorporates three semicircular arches.
The window is ornamented by chamfered edges on the jambs and by a mould-
ed:arch with rosettes on its face and pendants on its imposts. The arch has
deep hoodmould with returns that are continued as cornices to the corner
pilasters. An elaborate keystone with applied, sawn, and incised ornament
owns the window arch. Above the lower recess, a moulded cornice stretches
adross the south front. Above this cornice is the upper recess, a rectangular
panel with a moulded upper cornice boasting an elaborate sawn, incised,
d chamfered frieze. The second story is topped on all sides by two cornices
with mouldings and iriezes. The lower cornice’s frieze is cut into rectangular
ojections, while the upper cornice’s frieze incorporates a row of blind
gemicircular arches.

hip roofed rear wing. In the northwest corner of the main block and the rea
wing is the shorter, two story, gable roofed office wing.

Cn the three public sides of the main block, the first story is COVeré
by horizental boarding with grooved joints, and is topped by a shallow mould
ed cornice with frieze. The upper story is covered by flush boarding on th
south front, but with vinyl “clapboard” siding on the east and west sides. Vlny
siding covers both stories of the rear gable end. The main block does retai
its wooden corner trim and cornices. The corners are all ornamented by larg
wooden quoins with rounded edges. At the top of the first story quoins, th
frieze of the first story’s shallow cornice is cut into half circles and quarte
circles. The wide main cornice with mouldings, sloping soffit, and deep friez
also features decorative sawn heavy brackets. Many brackets ornament thi
south gable cornice. But the cornice brackets appear only at the corners &
the east and west sides, and do not appear at all on the rear gable.

The central bay of the main block’s three bay south gable end is covere
by the tower. The side bays are windowless in the first story. But, each bé'
has a tall, semicircular arched, stained glass window in the second story
Each window has a moulded sill, side trim with shouldered upper and lowe:
corners, and & hoodmould in the shape of a semicircle with a rectangula
upward projection at the apex. The lirst story windows of the east and we
sides have moulded frames and, usually, 4/4 sash. The west side also has ’:W__é
modern metal doors with builtin windows and plain frames. (The northerly
deor is sheltered by a gabled hood.) The upper stories of the two sides sach
have four large double windows, each window having two tall semicircula
arched stained glass windows. These upper windows all have geometric and
foliated patterns in the glass, chamfered side trim, and a semicircular hood
mould with a rectangular projection at the apex, like the hoodmoulds on the
scuthern windows. :

- The upper stage of the tower, the open bellry, is sheathed by flush board-
g and is trimmed by corner buttresses topped by gablets with applied orna-
énts and ridge mouldings. Each face of the belfry is topped by a gable,
which is trimmed by a cornice with mouldings and a frieze with large rec-
n&ular projections. The shallow slate covered gable roofs are crowned by
ornate metal crosses. Each face of the beliry containg a large shallow recess
W1th a triangular top reaching up into the gable. In the apex of this recess
an applied sawn ornament. Most of the recess is devoted o a large semi-
réular arched opening, through which can be seen the bell. Each belfry
ening has a moulded sill that is continued across the wall as a cornice,
railing with sawn slats, an ornate keystone, and a moulded arch with pen-
nts. The large recesses are framed by pilasters with capitals. Flanking each
cess are two tall narrow panels. The tall belfry roof, a truncated pyramid,
sheathed with slates of different colors and shapes. The steep slopes of the
of are topped by a moulded cornice whose Irieze is cut into triangles. An
p;ate iron railing with tall cornerposts encloses the square roof top. At each
rner of the tower roof, square pinnacles rise from the belfry's corner bui-
tresses The pinnacles have chamfered edges, gablets, tall slate covered
pyramidal roofs, and elaborate crowning iron crosses.

The square tower, which projects about three feet from the main block's
south front, is the church’s most prominent and most elaborate feature. The
- moulded sillboard projects at the street corners. The lower portions of these
corners are trimmed by wooden quoins (like those on the main block), which
are ireated as clasping bultresses, and are topped in the second story by
gablets on both outer faces. The gablets have moulded pediments, friezes
cut fo create quarter and half circles, and roll ridge mouldings on their smal_
roofs. Above the buttresses, the corners of the second story are trimmed by
corner pilasters with chamfered edges and capitals with mouldings and sawn
ornament. The narrow tower sides beneath the main block roof are cover
by flush boarding, interrupted only by & shallow moulded cornice at the gablet
level. The first story of the south front, now sheathed with plywood, is mostly
devoted to the main entry, which is set in a deep recess with concrete flooy
and steps. The recess sidewalls are sheathed with beaded boarding and
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The hip roofed rear wing is now sheathed with vinyl “clapboard” sidinig:
But it retains its wooden trim, cornerboards and a wide box cornice with
mouldings and deep frieze. The east side’s upper level leatures two sem
circular arched, stained glass windows in simple arched frames.

HRISTIAN AND MISSIONARY ALLIANCE CHURCH

‘surt and Lawrence Streets

The office wing, sheathed with vinyl siding, is trimmed by vinyl “cort
boards”, vinyl window and door frames, and a wooden box cornice Wit
mouldmgs and frieze. The office wing is ht by 1/1 sash windows and is ser
by two doors, a plain metal door in the south end, and a paneled door '
builtiin windows and a shed roofed hood in the west side. :

History

The First Free Will Baptist Church (later renamed the South Bat
Church) was crganized on March 17, 1838. The church's first building: was
erected on the present site in 1841 and was substaniially enlarged:
remodeled in 1873. However, just three years later, the church was torche
by an arsonist on the night of October 13/14, 1876. The church was redu
to piles of smouldering debris in the basement. Although the insurance; ha
been allowed to lapse, the Baptists soon decided to rebuild. The ilee
newspapers report the selection of a committes to decide upoen the plan
the new building, but do not identify the designer of the new church. In la
and form, the new church was similar to the old church, which had.a
story vestry, a second story auditorium, and a tall tower. Bui, in its archﬁe
tural design, the new church differed significantly from its predecessor. F
raising for the building continued through the winter and the sprlnq.-___The-
construction of the new church began in the spring of 1877. In Tune, the :
paper reported that the frame was up and that the work was progressing ra e
ly. The bell was installed in the belfry in September. On Friday, Novetn
18, 1877, just thirteen months after the lire, the new church was formaj
dedicated. The first Sunday services were held two days later.

Bescription

The Christian and Missionary Alliance Church, a mid 20th century ver-
tiacular church, stands at the corner of Court and Lawrence Streets. The tall,
é story, gable roofed main block is set with its southeast gable end facing
17t Street. In the center of that main facade, a one story, gable rocfed
rtico shelters the main entry. Attached to the rear gable end of the main
ook is a one stary, gable roofed addition, of the same width as the main
ock, but not as tall.

Some of the ornament on the church is derived from the Victorian Goth
style, as can be seen in the buttresses and finials of the tower. But, basic
the church is an excellent example of the High Victorian Italianate style,.
ite semicircular arches and elaborate ornament. The composition of the st
front is simple but effective. The result is a building that is both ornat
its details and boldly simple in its massing, a picturesgue siructure that mu
be considered one of the best late 19th century churches in the coun

The main block's walls, sheathed with asbestos shingles, sit on a stuccoed
ncrete block foundation. A wide box cornice with mouldings, frieze, and
turns irime the gable roof. The main entry, in the center of the strest gable
dis double metal framed glass doors, with a moulded wooden frame. The
v is sheltered by a portico, which is enclosed by wrought metal railings
and is set on a high base with latticework sides and concrete piers. The por-
s reached by carpeted concrete steps on the southeast front and by a
‘board floored ramp, with latticework base and simple wooden railings,
runs along the southeast gable end and the northeast side of the main
ock. Two reused wooden columns, with fluting, moulded bases, and simple
ﬁals support the pertico’s gable roof and pedimented box cornice with
Duldlngs and frieze. Asbestos shingles cover the portico’s pedimented gable.

\& main level of the main block is lit by large rectangular stained glass win-
bws; with geometric, floral, and pictorial designs, plain wooden frames, and

The South Baptist Church has seen some changes. The one major g
tion was the office wing, probably built in the 1920°s. The front door
rebuilt with builtin windows in the same decade. Undated changes, allpr
bably in the mid 20th century, include the concrete floor and steps ©
main entry, the plywood on the tower’s first story, and the modern door
the main block's west side and the office wing’s south end. The most 31gn1
cant change was the installation, circa 1984, of vinyl siding on the office;
and rear wing, as well as on the rear gable end and the upper stories o
sides of the main block. The use of the vinyl siding was fortunately restrat
leaving the tower. the main lacade, and much of the sides unscathed
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the building in March and April of 1939. The bell, which had been trans-
_:_ferred from the union church, was returned to the Rumney Town Hall. The
roof rafters and windows were removed. And the walls were cut into six foot
sections. {Some sections of the structure, including the roof boards, the floor,
:.c_'and the belfry tower, were abandoned.) The materials were then ‘rucked to
‘Laconia. The wall sections were set on a new foundation and reassembled.

The roof rafters were reinstalled. Although the basic structure and the win-
‘dows of the Rumney church were reused, most of the exterior of the Laconia
.church dates from the 1939 rebuilding. A new sheathing of asbestos shingles
‘was applied to the walls. The roof was finished with new bearding and a new
cornice. The side walls each had three windows, like the old church, but the
‘main facade, the strect gable end, was given a central entry and two win-
dows. (As the new design required eight windows and the Rumney church
rovided only seven windows, ancther stained glass window had to be
‘especially {abricated.) The main entry was given a pedimented portico that
corporated two columns salvaged from a White Mountain hotel. The result
- was essentially a new building, a 20th century vernacular church. Construc-
on, supervised by Rev. Kennedy, was surprisingly rapid. The first service

decorative shutters. The southeast gable end has two such windows flanking
the main entry. Three stained glass windows are found on each side of the.
main block. The rear gable end is almost entirely covered by the rear addition:

The rear addition has vertically grooved plywood walls, plain lateral box
cornices, and ghallower plain gable cornices. Plain frames surround the open-.
ings, notably the 1/1 sash windows in the main level, and the rear entr ;
double modern paneled doors in the rear northwest gable end.

History

Much of the present church, particularly its siructural elements, began
as parts of the Methodist church in Rumney. The Methodist church in that
town was organized in 1856. The Methodists joined with the Universalists in
building a union church, that still survives as the Rumney Town Hall. Bu
by 1859, the two sects were arguing over the use of the building. The
Methadists left the union church and met in a hall for the next six month
They also began gathering donations of money and materials for their own
church. A lot on the south side of the Rumney village common was purchasec
in 1860. There the Methodist church was erected in 1860 or 1861, The priz
cipal bill Ior labor was paid to carpenter and builder Alired Kelly. The
Rumney church had a gable roofed main block, with its gable end facir
the common and with a two stage belfry tower astride the roof ridge abo
the main facade. A pedimented box cornice trimmed the roof. The main gab s
end had a central window and two side entries, while the sides had ihr
large windows apiece. The windows were originally filled with clear glas
but they were later replaced by stained glass memorial windows. In the early
20th century, the congregation declined. The last services were held in 1l

spring of 1923. The church was then closed. And the building slowly
deteriorated. By the 1930's, the roof was leaking and the plaster was fallir
from the walls. W

-+ In 1985, the church was almost doubled in size by a rear addition that
rilarged the auditorium and provided additional service rooms. In 1992, a
heelchair ramp was built to serve the main entry. The only cther important
xterior change has been the installation of glass doors in the main entry.

The Laconia church now known as the Christian and Missionary Alliah
church was founded as an independent church, the Christian Mission,_
January of 1928. Beginning with its first meeting in February of that ye
the church met in a second story pyblic hall. Soon after Rev. Leroy Kennedy
became the new pastor of the Ci}lﬁ"Ch in late 1938, he decided that the grot
needed its own building, “a place on the street where people could see
$400 was pledged by church members for a building. On February 14, 1
the pastor’s birthday, ‘Bé/rtha Elkins gave the church a lot on Court Stréet.
An old house on the ot was scon torn down. Miss Elkins's gift was followed
by another offer’ from Wilbur J. Cate, who had learned that the Ruitiey
Methodist Church could be bought for $310. He proposed to buy the
churchpnd donate it to the Christian Mission. After an investigation o
bu}ld'iﬁg, Cate's offer was accepted. Contractor J. Elmer Boynton dismat
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TEMPLE B'MAI ISHAEL haped grooving, and whose two square builtin windows have diamond panes.
The elaborate main enlry frame is a wooden rusticated semicircular arch,
with a moulded lintel and an inner moulding that frames the dcor and the
lush boarded tympanum above the door. Between the inner moulding and
a more elaborate outer moulding are wooden blocks that suggest a stone arch.
'he entry is served by a high concrete landing and steps with wrought metal
handrails. The side bays of the first story each contain a double window with
narrow and tall 4/4 sash and colored glass. Between the windows in each
double window is a small simple pilaster from which springs the blind moulded
arches above the two windows. A triple window of similar design appears
nthe cenler of the second story, above the main entry. Above this high win-
dcw the center of the wall is covered by metal sheathing, into which the three
ndow arches project. Above the metal sheathing, the parapet projects up-
Wc_i_'r'd, The metal sheathed parapet projection has stepped ends and a curved
per edge in the center. Flanking the triple window on both sides in the
cond story are large apolied Stars of David. The northeast and southwest
ides of the main block have similar features. The two north bays of the three
3y northeast side and the three north bays of the six bay southwest (Kent-
ield Court) side each have a tall, narrow 4/4 sash window, with colored glass
d moulded frame, in both the first story and the second story. The south
y of the northeast side and the three southern bays of the southwest side
edch contain a tall, large 12/12 sash window, with colored glass and mould-
d frame, that lights the main auditorium. Most of the rear end of the main
ck is covered by the rear vestibule and the Community Center. The
stibule has a single opening, a paneled door with a large builtin window,
rhoulded Irame, and concrete steps.

210 Court Street

1837

Neorman Randlett, architect
Leon Draper, builder

Description

Temple B'nai Israel is a synagogue that stands at the corner of G
Street and Kentfield Court. The arched windows and entry of the main fac:
show the influence of the Romanesque Revival style, which often inspl
the design of synagogues. The two story main block faces northwest towa
Court Strest. Covering most of the main block’s rear southeast end is a hlgh
one story addition, the rear section of the Max Chertck Community Cen
which stretches beyond the main block to the northeast. Set in the southg
ner of the main block and this rear addition is a small, short, one story, |
vestibule. In the north corner of the main bleck and the rear addition
covering the Court Street side of the rear addition, is the shorter, one
front section of the Community Center, which contains such subsidiary spa
as the kitchen and restrooms. All four parts of the building have flat o
pitched roofs hidden by parapets.

. The two sections of the Community Center are covered by siding, like
he 31d1ng on the main block, but without the “wood graining”. Close metal
-aves top the walls, save for the rear southeast side of the rear section, which
5:a box cornice with wooden soffit and metal sides. The front section’s Court
_'eét facade features four tall, narrow, 4/4 sash windows with colored glass
d moulded frames, separated into pairs flanking a large applied Star of
d. At the southerly end of the street facade is a recessed entry, plain
med double paneled doors with builtin windows beneath a transom win-
‘The recess has a concrete floor, brick sidewalls, and a simple moulding
its outer frame. The northeast side of the front secticn contains two double
ment windows with moulded frames. The higher rear section has two
rtheastern doars, a paneled main level door with a gabled hood, and a
rt attic door, both with moulded frames. Six large tall windows with mould-
Arames appear in the rear southeast side.

The main block and the rear vestibule are covered by a compo:
board siding with “wood graining”. Metal flashing covers the top of
parapets. The main block is ornamented by horizontal boards, sillbo
a wooden board at the first story lintel level on the northwest street front an
part of the northeast side, and another board at the lintel level of the se
story windows on all of the walls. In the center of the three bay Court_St'
facade is the main entry, a door whose square lower panel has dia

tory

Jewish services began to be held in Laconia in the early 20th century.
20, the first rabbi was established in the city. But, services still had to




The Historic Church‘___ _-t:if Belknap County 117

be held in public halls. In November of 1930, the Sons of Israel purchased
a Court Street property that included a house. The house was used for o
fices, classrooms, and other Jewish community functions. In the late 1830/
plans were developed for an addition to the house, containing an auditoriur _
However, after the plans were presented and considered, it was decided__ftci
erect a separate building as a synagogue on the property. The synagogu
the only one ever built in the county, was designed by Laconia architect No _
man Randlett. The building's style can best be described as a variant of tHe
Romanesque Revival style. In April of 1937, the building contract was award__e_&
to local builder Leon Draper. The ceremonial ground breaking was held @
June 29, 1937. The synagogue was used for the first time on September 15
of the same year, for Yom Kippur services, although the building w
described at the time as "nearing completion”, rather than as finished._Th
original building is the present main block, whose exterior seems to h__a._
changed little since 1937, The only significant exterior change has been th
addition of the Max Chertok Community Center, completed in 1955, on't
rear and side of the original synagogue. :

-

‘Sorenson Road in Patrician Shores. The long, ene story main block is covered
by a roof that is hipped at the west end, but gabled at the east end. In the
center of the main block’s east end is a shallow, one story, shed roofed pro-
jection, which once housed the altar. The altar projection is now completely
sheltered by the one story, gable roofed, screened porch that has been built

on the east end of the main block. A large wooden deck is found on the north
side of the main block.

The main block is set on a concrete block foundation, which is quite high
at the downhill east end. The walls are sheathed with wood shingles, save
for the vertically boarded east gable, which is sheltered by the screened
porch. The roof is trimmed by a plain cornice with sloping soffit. At the east
_énd of the south road facade is a modern paneled door with builtin windaw,
plain frame, and simple shed roofed hood. This door and the southern door
of the porch are served by a high landing with a'slat covered base, board
steps, and simple wooden railings. The four double windows in the south
facade and the four single windows in the west end all have 6/6 sash, plain
frames, and decorative slat shutters. The north side has six more windows
and two paneled doors with builtin windows. One northern door has a shed
rooted hood. The sastern portion of the north side is covered by a wooden
deck with wooden posts and railing, board floor and steps. The east gable
é_nd has a doubls sliding window with simply moulded frame on each side
of the altar projection.

MEREDITH
GOREN CAMP

Sorenson Road, Patrician Shores

early or mid 20th century The shallow shed roofed projection for the altar also has a concrete block

oundation and wood shingled walls. The east front of the projection now con-
ains large, plain framed, double, sliding glass doors which open onto ths
screened porch. The porch, almost as wide as the main klock, has & high
slat base, large screened panels, and plain wooden railings. Its gable roof,
which continues the slopes of the main block roof, is irimmed on the south
by a cornice like the main block cornice, and on the nerth by shallow open
eaves with exposed rafters and fascia boards. The vertically boarded east
gable is trimmed by close verges. Paneled and screened metal doors on the

orth and south sides of the porch open onto the northern deck and the
outhern landing.

- The date of the construction of this former chapel, one of the buildings
f St. John's Seminary camp, is unknown. The summer camp for the students
15t. John's Seminary in Brighton, Massachusetts was started in 1918 on a
skafront estate owned by William O'Connell, the Archbishop of Roston. In
939, Cardinal O'Connell deaded the property to the Archdiccese (or, to
moare precise, The Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston, A Corporation
ole). The camp was sold by the Archdiocese in 1967 and then subdivided

Descripticn

The Goren Camp is a vernacular wooden building, a [ormer s
camp chapel converted to a summer home, that stands on the north sid
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for seasonal home lots as the Patrician Shores development. Most of the formé PATRICIAN SHORES HALL
camp buildings were sold off on separate lots. This particular camp buildin i
is said to have been used as the camp chapel before the construction ofia
larger chapel, now known as Patrician Shores Hall. But, it is also poss1ble_
that the building was used as a supplemental chapel, as there were a numbet.
of priests associated with the camp, who needed tc say masses regularly..In
the last years of the summer camp, the building was apparently used primari
as a recreation hall. In its camp days, the chapel was a one story, hip roofe
building with a small eastern shed roofed projection which contained the alta
The building was set on posts, sheathed with novelty siding, and entered b
two sets of double doors in the south facade. :

_atrician Shores Circle, Patrician Shores
‘early or mid 20th century

After the sale and subdivision of the summer camp property, the building
was purchased in 1971 by W. Earl and Phyllis Sorenson. In the early 1970
the Sorensons converted the camp building to a residence. They built a con-
crete block foundation, removed one of the southern double doors and 1
placed the other southern double door with @ modern single door, serve
by a new landing and steps. Windows were added in the north and east sides:
A new door and a large wooden deck were installed on the north side. At
the exterior was resheathed with wood shingles. In 1976, the house was 50
to the present owners, James and Barbara Goren. The Gorens subsequenﬂy
remodeled the eastern end of the house, adding the screened porch and {]
gable roof that now covers the formerly hipped east end of the main blogk
roof. New sliding doors were installed in the small altar projection, and ne
steps and landing were built at the south door.

- The Patrician Shores Hall is a 20th century vernacular building, a former

mmer camp chapel that is now used as a community building and recrea-
orrhall by the Patrician Shores Association. It stands on the east side of Patri-
#idn Shores Circle in Patrician Sheres. The long, one and a half story main
ock is T-shaped in plan, with shallow one story projections at the south ends
£ﬂ'_1e lateral east and west sides. Both projections are covered by shed roofed
tensions of the main block’s gable roof. On the north gable end of the main
lock are found a shallow, one story entry pavilion and a large porch, which
hare the same gable roof. Rising from the roofs of the pavilion and the main
b]ock is a sgquare one story tower, with a pyramidal roocf.

- All sections of the building are set on concrete piers, sheathed with wide
__f[herboards, and trimmed with cornerboards and plain window and door
es. The roofs of the pavilion and the porch, the main block and its pro-

ctions all have wide open eaves with exposed rafters and moulded fascia
irds.
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The north gable end of the main bleck, largely covered by the pavilic
and the tower, has a small casement window on each side of the pavilio
The west and east lateral sides each have a double casement window at the
north end, six triple casement windows with transom windows in the centér;
and double paneled doors with transom windows at the south end. These side
doors are served by wooden landings and steps with board steps and wooden
railings. Small decorative gables, with the same open saves as the main gab
roof, are found above the side entrys and the northernmost triple window:
The two small southerly projections each have a iriple casement window'in
the lateral (east or west) side. The south gable end of the main block leatures
two double casement windows in the main level and a large louver in the
gable. All of the main block casement windows have single pane sash.';

TRINITY EPISCOPAL CHURCH

Route 25, Meredith village
1911
Roux & Bisson, builders

The four foot deep pavilion has windowless sides. In the center of its nort.
front is the main entry, double eight paneled doors. The triangular and re :
tangular door panels have diagonal boarding and moulded frames. To ed
side of the eniry iz a small single pane casement window. The porch covers
the north front of the pavilion. Large plain framed openings occupy mut
of the porch’s three cuter walls. The wider opening in the north gable eﬁd
is divided by two pairs of boxed posts, which support the lintel. The port
has board steps and walls of wide weatherboarding.

The tower’s pyramidal roof is trimmed by a box cornice with mouldings
and frieze. The only opening in the tower is & round window in the no__;"_'
front. The window is divided by vertical mullions and horizontal sash ba
into sixteen panes. The tower window differs from the other windows in‘
frame, which is moulded with four “keystones” at the cardinal points. &

- Trinity Episcopal Church, now a modern vernacular church, stands on
he southeast side of Route 25 in the eastern outskirts of Meredith village.

et on a hillside, the cne story, gable roofed main block has a fully exposed
ement on its southwest side and a partly exposed basement on its rear
able end. Ir the center of the main block’s roadside facade, the northwest
able end, is the small, one story, gable roofed vestibule. A small steeple
erches on the main block’s roof ridge. A one story, shed roofed rear addi-
on is found at the lower basement level on the main block’s rear gable end.

History

Patrician Sheores Hall was erected as the chapel for St. John's Semin
Camp. This Lake Winnipesaukee summer camp for the students of $t. John
Seminary in Brighton, Massachusetts was established in 1918 on an es
owned by Cardinal William O'Connell, the Archbishop of Boston. The Cs
dinal had acquired the land on which the building stands in 1816. [n 193
he deeded the property to the Archdiccese, or to use the proper legal titl
the Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston, A Corporation Sole. So.fa
research has not yielded any date for the construction of the chapel, althd
there does seem to be a consensus that the chapel was erected before Worl
War II. The entire camp was sold by the Archdiocese in 1967. The property
was subseguently subdivided as the Patrician Shores subdivision. But; #hs
chapel was reserved as commmon property, owned and cared for by the s
division’s owners association, the Patrician Shores Association. The building
now serves as a recreation hall for the subdivision. The only mgnlflcant
terior change since its change of function has been the removal of the c
that once crowned the tower roof.

.The main block and the vestibule are both sheathed in vinyl “clapboard”
dmg and trimmed by narrow vinyl corner strips and by vinyl clad cornices
h sloping soffits. The church’s main entry, in the vestibule's northwest street
gable end, is double paneled doors with a transom window and a plain frame.
entry is served by a board flocred landing, reached by board steps on

northwest and by a board floored ramp on the northeast, all sharing simple
ooden railings.

The main level of the main block is lit primarily by 6/6 sash windows
f plain viny! frames and, on the three public sides, plastic shutters. Thess
dows include two on the northwest street gable end (one on each side
he vestibule), four on the northeast side, five on the southwest side, and

!
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ot build a new church, but to renovate the old chapel. An April 1956 meesting
¢cided to build a winterized basement. So, in 1956-57, the present base-
ient and its rear addition, which houses the furnace, were constructed slightly
ownhill of the church, and the church was then moved onto the new base-
ent. 1962 saw the addition of the small steeple, which was dedicated in
ugust. Major improvements in 1965-66 included clapboarding the exterior
nd replacing all of the windows. In the early 1980's, vinyl siding and vinyl
im covered the entire building. New steps and a ramp were built at the main

ntry about 1884. And a stained glass window was installed in the rear gable
nd in 1986.

two in the rear gable end. The rear gable end also features a central roun
stained glass window with a geometric design and plain wooden frame. E
gable has a small plain framed louver. At the south end of the northeast sid
is a paneled door with plain vinyl frame. The basement level on the southwe
side has three more 6/5 sash windows and two paneled doors with builtin wir
dows and gabled hoods. At the northwest end of the main block’s roof ridg
above the main facade, is a small steeple. The square steeple is sheathed Wit
vinyl “clapbeard” siding and is frimmed by narrow vinyl corner strips &t
close vinyl eaves. A louver with simply moulded frame is found in each fac
of the stesple. The tall pyramidal roof with flared saves is crowned by a cros

The rear addition appears to be only a half story high, as it is partly bufi_é
in the slope of the hill. The shed roofed additicn has concrete block wall
two plain framed windows, vinyl clapboarded half gables, and a vinyl cla
box cornice. :

ALVARY BIBLE CHURCH

t: James Street, Meredith village
911-1912
ev. William Pottle, designer

History

The church was criginally built as a Roman Catholic summer chape
The funds for the building were raised by The Meredith Association, “ca
posed of summer visitors of Roman Catholic faith, who yearly visit Meredi
and vicinity in great numbers, especially from South Boston”. The lot was
purchased in February of 1911. May saw the beginning of construction, w
was quite rapid. The frame was raised, boarded, and roofed within two day
The entire building was erected in about two months, with the dedicalit
being held on Sunday, July 2, 1911. Cosling about $3000, the chapel'w
built by contractors Roux & Bisson of Laconia. (The designer is unknown,
The chapel was operated as a mission of St. Joseph's parish in Lacenia. @ '
Lady of Lourdes Church was strictly a summer chapel, a one story buﬂdmg
with a small vestibule and walls of novelty siding set on concrete piers. (The
open space beneath the building was shielded by latticework.)

In time, the Catholics needed a larger, vear round church in Meredit
Construction of the present St. Charles Church began in 1946. The old s
mer chapel was sold to Willis Reid, Ir. in April of 1948. Mr. Reid soo
fered the free use of the chapel to the newly formed Trinily Episcopal Churd
Qrganized in March of 1947, the Episcopal ¢hurch held its early servicest
the Legion Hall. The Episcopalians accepted Reid's ofler and began holding
services in the chapel in July of 1948. A parish meeting in August decid
to purchase the chapel. And the property was deeded to the Episcopalidng
in September.

" "The Calvary Bible Church is @ wooden church, now very modern in ap-
sarance, that stands on the west side of 3t. James Sireet in Meredith village.
wever, the main facade is now the south facade which faces Main Street
across the church parking lot, The older portion of the church building (the
ginal 1911 church and the 1930z addition) is a one and a half story, gable
ofed structure. Its basement level is tully exposed on the south and west,
cause of the southerly slope of the land. The clder church has become the’
rear (northwestern) section of the present building. Covering the east gable

The new owners at first regarded the chapel as a temporary hor
Through the early and mid 1950's, the Episcopalians tried unsuccessfully
raise lunds for a new church. Finally, in January of 1956, it was decided:
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doors. In the center of each story of the south facade are found two dou
windows with large horizontal plate glass sash and simply moulded fram
Vertically grooved plywood covers the space between the two levels
windows. :

In the 1960's, however, this simple church was transformed in an exten-
sive rebuilding that began in 1963. The additions and alterations were de-
signed by the paster, Rev. Gerald Flewelling, who is described as a trained
architect. Twe buildings, including the parsonage, which stood between the
church and Main Street, were removed. The renovation of the church re-
oriented the building towards Main Street and the church parking lot. The
tower was removed. And the criginal St. James Street facade of the church
was covered by the new main block, which gave the church a new main entry
in its south gable end facing Main Sireei. Also included in the enlargement
were the steeple and the porch on the new main block and the office addition
16 the west of the new main block. The original church was almost complete-
1y hidden behind these modernistic additicns. The older portion of the church
later received two new entries, a northern door with a small entry porch and
4'west gable door with a fire escape, both apparently added in the 1970’s.

The small, shed roofed, stairhall addition is trimmed by cornerbodrd
and a box cornice with mouldings and irieze. The walls are clapboardet
save for the first story of the south side, which is covered with vertic': v
grooved plywood. The scuth side also contains the only entry, double mod_ f
plain doors with a simply moulded frame. The doars are sheltered by a 1k
roofed hood with plain metal and wooden close eaves. The addition’s |
windows have 6/6 sash and plain frames.

History

The first Adventist services in Meredith were held in the mid 19th
tury in what is now the Union Church of Meredith Neck. By the late 19th ce
tury, the Adventists were meeting for services in various halls in Mef_e:'
village. It was not until the early 20th century that a more formal ¢
organization was established, with the arrival of the first settled ministe;
1907 and the incorporation of the Meredith Advent Christian Church in 190¢
(The church was renamed the Calvary Bible Church in 1976.) The memt
of the young church wanted their own building. But, the real driving foro
behind the construction of the church seems to have been the second pas
Rev. William F. Pottle, who was appointed in March of 1910, A building _c':
mittee was established in April of the same year. A lot on St. James Str
was purchased in April of 1911. Well wishers denated standing timbe
Moultonboro. The pastor and church members cut the trees and rafted:
logs across Lake Winnipesaukee to a Meredith sawmill, where they were'é_aWn
into lumber for the new church. By June, work had begun on the founda
The church was built under the supervision of the pastor, who spent m
long hours at work on the building. Much of the labor was donated by chu
members and friends. The Manchester Unicn credited Rev. Pottle with pl
ning the building, although that task may have been shared with the build
comrnitiee (C.I. Swain, N.D. Morrisor;, W.H. Brown, and Bert Harvey).’
church was completed in January and dedicated on the evening of Janu
31, 1912. It appears in early views as a relatively simple vernacular buildi
The one story, gable roofed main block was set with its gable end facing
James Street, and with an exposed basement level on the downhill south's
At the northeast corner of the main block was a two story tower contain
the main entry. In the 1930’s, the building was enlarged to the rear to'p
vide Sunday school rooms. But, the addition was designed to be compatible
with the existing building, so that the walls and roof appeared to be sim
extended to the rear. The enlargement did include the small two story stairha
addition on the south side of the building.

FIRST CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH
Highland Street, Meredith village
1832

‘onathan W. Crane, huilder

escription

The First Congregational Church stands on the west side of Highland
treet in Meredith village. The building consisis of three connected struc-
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‘segmental arches above the wider sides. The four wider sides each contain
around wooden clock face with Roman numerals, ornate hands, and simply
frioulded frame. Above each clock face, a simple hoodmould echoes the shape
o the curved cornice. The tall octagonal spire crowning the clock stage is
heathed with flush boarding, trimmed by corner mouldings, and topped by
a'simple deccrative cap, on which stands ar: ornaie lyre shaped weathervane.

tures, the church proper, the chapel, and a connecting wing, arranged i
a U-shape. The church proper is an early 19th century building, originall
Federal style in character, but modified by Victorian and Colonial Revivs
style embellishments. The gable roofed main block is one and a half storig
high, save for its two and & half story main facade, the east street gable end
A three stage tower with spire is set astride the roof ridge above the cast gabl
end. Atftached to the western half of the main block’s north side and’se
perpendicular to it is the connecting wing. The wing’s asymmetrical qabl
roof makes it one and a half stories high on the east street front and two storia
high on the rear. Covering the north end of the wing and set perpendicula
to it is the one and a half story, gable roofed chapel.

The connecting wing has clapboarded walls, cornerboards, close mould-
d eaves on the east, and a box cornice with mouldings and frieze on the
west. The narrow visible portion of the south gable end, which overlaps the
main block to the west, has close verges. In the center of the one story high
east facade is the entry, pansled double doors with a moulded lintel, wooden
"s’teps and landing. The street facade also contains four 6/6 sash windows with
moulded lintels and louvered shutters. These windows and the entry are
eltered by a long hip roofed hood with close moulded eaves. The east slope
‘of the roof is largely occupied by a wide shed rocfed dormer with clapboarded
: valls, cornerboards, a lateral box cornice with mouldings and frieze, and
close verges with returns of the lateral cornice. The dormer’s four short 3/6
sash windows have plain frames and louvered shutters. Most of the windows
‘on the rear west side have 6/6 sash. The rear side also has a plain modern
second story door which opens onte a metal fire escape.

The main block of the church is clapboarded with sillboards ard corn
boards. A pedimented box cornice, with mouldings, narrow frieze, an
numerous scrolled modillions, irims the three public sides of the gable rost
The rear gable has close verges with returns of the lateral cornices. In th
center of the east gable end is the main entry, paneled double doors, toppe:
by a moulded lintel and a semieliiptical louvered fan. The door and fan ar'
flanked by pilasters with simple bases and moulded capitals, which SUpPoT
a broken pediment with mouldings and frieze. The pediment’s horizontal cor
nice is interrupted by the fan. The entry is served by a wide granite landii
and steps now covered by boards. Wrought metal railings enclose the land:
and the board floored ramp serving it. To each side of the main entry, ir
both the first and second stories, are found 6/6 sash windows with mouldet
frames and louvered shutters. A semielliptical louver with radiating siats an
plain frame appears in the pedimented gable. The sides feature tall, larg
semicircular arched windows, two on the north side and three on the so
side. The windows have six pane lower sash and arched ten pane upper sash
the latter with six lower rectangular panes and a tympanum of four pan
two of them shaped as Gothig pointed arches. The lower sash and the low
portion of the upper sash are filled by frosted glass with geometric and flo
patterns. The four upper panes are filled by painted glass with floral p
terns. The arched windows all have simply moulded frames and tal] louvere
shutters with “arched” upper ends.

The chapel's clapboarded walls are trimmed by paneled corner pilasters
‘at the easterly street corners, but only by cornerboards at the westerly rear
orners. A box cornice with mouldings, frieze, and returns trims the gable
so0f. In the center of the east gable end is the chapel’s main entry, paneled
ouble doors beneath a transom window and an entablature with a pro-
nounced cornice. To each side of the entry is a 4/4 sash window with mould-
‘ad lintel and louvered shutters. The gable contains a plain framed, five sided,
ve pane window in the shape of a rectangle topped by a triangle. The south
‘and north sides both have large 6/6 sash windows with moulded lintels and
louvered shutters. The north side also features a modern, plain framed,
:.'paneled door, sheltered by a tall gabled hood. The modern hood has long
janqular braces, which are covered by clapboards on the outside. The win-
ows of the west gable end have plain frames and 6/6 sash.

The square first stage of the tower is clapboarded with cornerboards ai
a box cornice with mouldings, frieze, and the same modillions seen on the
main block cornice. The square belfry stage is sheathed with flush boarding
and topped by a cornice like the first stage cornice. The walls of the bellr,
stage are divided by simple mouldings, which create tall panels at each cor:
ner. In the center of each face is a tall, wide, semicircular arched louver w
simply moulded frarze. The third stage, the smaller octagonal clock stagé
is sheathed with flush boarding and trimmed by corner mouldings. The angled
corner sides of the clock stage are narrower than the main faces. The mould:
ed box cornice is herizontal above the angled sides but is curved in shalicw

istory

The Congregational Church in Center Harbor and Meredith, organized
11".1815, was, as the name implied, a church that served both towns. Early

hurch services were held in a small meetinghouse near the town line. In
. .817, the First Congregaticnal Society in Meredith was fermed as the pro-
erty holding arm of the church. And in 1831, the church was renamed the
irst Congregaticnal Church in Meredith. {The Center Harbor members
ithdrew in 1838 to form their own separate church.)
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On March 27, 1832, the society voted to build a meetinghouse in Mered
village and appointed David Norris, Samuel Bean, and J.W. Berry as “a co
mittee to make a draft of said meetinghouse”. On April 4, the society acoep
the committee’s plans with some alterations and elected a five man comm
tee to superv1se the construction of the church. Less than a week later;:
April 9, it was “voted to accept Jona. W. Crane’s proposals for building 3
Meeting House” for the sum of $940. (We should note that the name of %
builder is somewhat illegible in the sccisty records, but that “Crane” seém
to be the most likely reading.) The building was erected near the shore
Meredity Bay on Lake Winnipesaukee at the east end of the village. The pé
were sold on January 19, 1833. And the building was dedicated on February

the pedimented box cornice and the gable louver, as well as in the basic
‘m of the church. The tower, and possibly the arched windows, are Vic-
ian Ttalianate additions. The present main entry was ingpired by the Col-
ial Revival style. But, despite these elements representing three eras of
aste, the church remains an architecturally cohesive and attractive building.

RST BAPTIST CHURCH

Main and High Streets, Meredith village
1833-1834

In 1842 or 1843, the building was moved to its present site on Highlan
Street. (The exact date of the move is not recorded, but the church wa:s;
its new site by May 27, 1843.) In 1871, the church was repaired, “enlarge
and remodeled at a cost of $4368.83. The original “square tower” of the churg]
was removed and was replaced by the present tower, with its spire, but witho
the clock stage. The other details of the renovation are not recorded. As
usetul pre-1871 view could be located, it is difficult to say what other change
were made in 1871. The arched side windows and the modillioned box ¢
nice could well be the result of this rencvation, but they might also be origi
features of the building.

In 1878, the chapel was built to the north of the church as a separal
building, presumably by the three man committee (Joseph Stone, John'&
Long, and Joseph W. Long) who were instructed in May of 1878 to procut
a plan and erect the chapel. According to the 1889 Sanborn insurance mat
of Meredith, the chapel then had a small, one story kitchen addition orn.
rear west gable end. In 1903, Virginia Ladd gave a town clock to the church
The present third stage of the tower was built to house the gift. In the earls
1920%s, a wing was built to connect the church and the chapel. The sa
period alsc saw the remodeling of the first story of the church’s main facadé
In earlier views, the east gable end had two entries in the first story,:
beneath the two second story windows. The two entries were now replac
by windows. And the present Colonial Revival entry was built between th
in the center of the facade. Since the 1920's, exterior changes have been lég
dramatic. A 1951 fire severely damaged the kitchen addition on the rear
the chapel. So, it was replaced by a short extension of both stories of the
chapel. New front steps were installed at the church’s main entry in the 1970
a new door and hood at the chapel’s north side entry in the 1980's, and
ramp al the church’s main entry around 1991,

Description

. The First Baptist Church is a somewhat altered Federal style brick church
located at the corner of Main and High Streets in Meredith village. The gable
soofed brick main block is two and a half stories high on the front east gable
end, but one and a half stories high on the sides and reer. The east gable
i¢ clipped at the peak to provide a horizontal base for the two stage brick
and wood belfry tower at the east end of the main block roof. A wide one
éry wooden vestibule covers much of the main block’s east (Main Street)
‘gable end. Attached to the rear of the main block is a long, two story, gable
ofed, brick sheathed rear wing, which has a small, one story, gable roofed,
ooden vestibule on its north (High Street) side.

The present extericr appearance of the First Congregational Chu'_r
represents a long architectural evolution. The originat building seems to ha
been a late Federal style structure, whose design can probably still be seen
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The front vestibule is sheathed with asphalt “red brick” siding
trimmed by cornerboards and a deep box cornice with mouldings and ffi
The low pitched roof is surrounded by an ornate metal railing. In the ca
of the east facade is the church’s main entry, plain framed, paneled, double
doors, served by concrete steps with metal railings. On each side of the en
is a plain framed 15/18 sash window with colored glass. Each sash has' i
large central panes and a border of eleven smaller panes. - History

- The vestibule at the sast end of the rear wing’s north side is clapboard-
ed, save for the vertically boarded north gable. The vestibule is trimmed by
rnerboards, close verges, and simple lateral box cornices with friezes. The
vestibule has a 1/1 sash window in the west side and a paneled door with
builtin window and simply moulded frame in the gable end.

The church now known as the First Baptist Church was organized in 1831.
he church’s original title was the Second Baptist Church, and it was later
own as the Meredith Village Baptist Church, belore it acqguired its present
me.) In June of 1831, the Baptist church society voted to build a brick
éehnghouse then an unusual decision in an area where virtually all
bu11d1ngs including churches, were wooden. The logation, "upon a rock”
‘the main street in Meredith village, was selected by Rev. Wiliiam Taylor.

End the land was purchased in July of 1831. It appears that the Federal style
éhurch was erected in 1833 and 1834. A photograph taken arcund 1865 shows
the present main block and tower base, and an open octagonal belfry with
an ogee shaped "dome”. A photograph published in the 1890's reveals that
the belfry was enclosed by louvers sometime in the late 19th century.

The brick walls of the main block are laid in common bond, flemish
tion, on a cut granite block foundation. The gable roof is trimmed by
pedimented wooden box cornice on the three public sides and by &
wooden verges on the rear gable. The first story of the east gable end is 1ates
covered by the vestibule. The second story features two 15/15 sash win
with plain wood frames, colored glass, and the same sash design as 't
vestibule windows. In the brick walled pediment is a semielliptical louv.
fan with wooden sill and brick arch. The peak of the east gable is chpp
by the square tower base. The east front of the tower base, set flush with
east gable end of the main block, is brick walled. The other three sid
the base are clapboarded. All four sides of the base are trimmed by cor
beards and a box cornice with mouldings and frieze. A semielliptical louv &
fan, a smaller version of the louvered fan in the gable below, appears i
east front of the base. The smaller octagonal belfry stage is surroundé
a railing, whose wooden cornerposts have turned knobs, and whose ralhn
have wooden rails and wrought metal infill. Each face of the belfry is’ f:ll
by a large louver. The belfry is trimmed by cornerboards and a box cé&¢
with mouldings and irieze. The belfry is covered by a metal sheathed_,-
teen sided, ogee shaped dome. An elaborate lyre shaped metal weather
crowns the dome. The north and south sides of the main block each’]
three tall, large, semicircular arched windows, all with plain wooden fram
and sills, and brick arches. The eastern window on the north side is &
torial stained glass window. But, the other arched windows are 22/14 sa
windows with arched upper sash and colored glass. Each sash has larger
tral panes with a border of smaller panes. The arched upper sash |
radiating mullions in their tympanums. The north side also has a plain fra
paneled door in the main level and plain framed double board doors i
basement.

. In April of 1902, the church was struck by lightning, which hit the beliry
id started a fire which gutted the church. In the repairs and renovations
jat followed in 1902, the interior and the belfry were rebuilt, new window
éa:sh was placed in the windows, and extensive changes were made fo the
ain facade. The belfry was rebuilt in approximately the same design as its
predecesser. Although a Laconia paper noted that the new belfry was "made
a different shape than formerly”, the alteration seems simply to have been
change in the shape of the dome. The remodeling of the main facade was
ore drastic. The criginal three bay east facade had a central window and
two side entries (both topped by arched louvers) in the first story and three
indows in the second story. The central second story window was now
icked in. The first story was covered by a one story wooden vestibule, featur-
Lj & central entry and sheathed with asphalt siding designed to look like
ick. The new vestibule was topped by a wooden railing. But, photographs
‘the church collection show that semetime in the early 20th century (before
31) the vestibule roof railing and the balusters of the bellry railing were
nplaced by wrought metal. The most significant change since 1902 was the
ddition of the rear wing for classrcoms, meeting rooms, and church offices.
He rear wing was begun in Tune, 1972 and dedicated in September, 1973.
e open porch that sheltered the rear wing’s principal entry was enclosed
“a vestibule in 1990.

The two story rear wing is sheathed in brick, laid in stretcher bond. &
wooden verges and plain lateral wooden box cornices with friezes trim
gable roof. The windows of both stories in the north and south sides are jo;
visually by painted wooden panels between them. All of the windows ha
1/1 sash and simply moulded {rames. The first story windows also have
sills. The west gable end hag one more first story window of the same d
and two doors, a modern wooden door in the first story, and a paneled i
with builtin windows and an exterior wocden stairway in the second star
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UNION CHURCH OF MEREDITH NECK card sided spire, ornamented by an upper moulding and a crowning globe

on which stands a cross.
Meredith Neck Road

1839 The wide, deep portico has a concrete fleor. Four square pillars with

ases and moulded capitals and two similar pilasters support the roof. The
able roof is trimmed by a pedimented box cornice with mouldings, frieze,
d architrave, although the frieze and architrave are omitted on the raking
ornices. The flush boarded pediment contains a central semicircular win-
ow with radiating mullions and a moulded frame. The slopes of the portico
of are continuous with those of the main block roof.

istory

. The church was built in 1839, with donated materials and labor, to house
Free Will Baptist congregation that had split off from a Meredith village
Hurch. The site was deeded by Stephen Boardman for a church, for as long
s services were held there. The Free Will Baptist congregation soon dwindled
size. So, in 1843, the church was turned over to the Adventists. Under
& leadership of Rev. Charles C. Young, the building was remodeled in 1898,
he nature of this remodeling is not known. Nor is it clear whether it includ-
dieﬂerior changes. A photograph of the church, taken in 1898, shows a
lain, one story, gable roofed building, with clapboarded walls, and simple
itn. The roadside gable end appears with two simple entries and a gable
indow. The church was then a rather simple 19th century vernacular
building.

Description

The Union Church of Meredith Neck is a 19th century vernacular chir
with significant Colonial Revival style additions, that stands on the northe.
side of Meredith Neck Road on Meredith Neck, a peninsula in Lake Wi
pesaukes. The gable roofed, one story main block has a square tower:
bellry and spire in the center of its roadside southwest gable end. Surrc
ing the tower and covering most of the road facade of the main block
gable roofed portico.

The Adventist congregation in turn dwindled in numbers around the
eginning of the 20th century, with the remaining church members ultimately
ing the Advent church in Meredith village. The Meredith Neck church
entinued however to be used, primarily for summer services by a group of
thodist ministers who had purchased nearby Pine Island in Lake Win-
wesaukee in 1893, In 1940, the governing body was reorganized as the Union
iety of Meredith Neck, which has continued to operate the church as a
ori-denominational summer chapel. In 1954-55, the church was remodeled
the addition of the tower and the portico at a cost of nearly $3000. These
'olonial Revival style features were designed by local architect Ralph Flather
built by contractor Clyde Smith and builder James P. Leighton & Son.
& former bell of the steamer Mount Washington was donated for the new
eliry.) The resuit was the transformation of the building from a relatively

lain vernacular structure o a small mid 20th century Colonial Ravival style
hurch.

The main block, set cn a granite block and fieldstone foundation, is
boarded with cornerboards. A cornice with mouldings, sloping soffit,
frieze trims the gable roof. To each side of the tower in the southwest'g
end is found a plain framed door with four panels and four small builtinw
dows. The main block is lit by plain framed 9/6 sash windows, two in the
gable end and three apiece in the northwest and southeast sides.

The square tower is clapboarded with cornerboards. A frieze en
the tower under the portico reof. The southeast side features a plain fr
six panel door. Above the portico roof, the tower rises to a box cornice
mouldings and frieze. The smaller beliry is sheathed with flush boarding
is trimmed by corner pilasters and a box cornice with mouldings and frig
Each face of the belfry contains a large semicircular arched louver wit a
moulded frame and a “keystone”. The belfry is topped by a tall, octagon:
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CAK HILL MEETINGHOUSE i_des each have three large and tall 12/12Z sash windows with moulded lintels

nd louvered shutters. A similar window appears in the main level of the rear

Winona Road able end.
c. 1802 :

Listed on the National Register of Historic Places * The vestry is set on a concrete block foundation, clapboarded on three

es, and sheathed with woed shingles on the rear northeast gable end. The
walls are trimmed by cornerboards. Plain frames surround the 2/2 sash win-
ows and the two four panel doors. The northwest door is unaltered, but the
outhwest door is now covered by a sheet of plywood. The gable roof is
{immed by a box cornice, with mouldings, frieze, and returns, on the more
ublic southeast and southwest sides, by cloge moulded eaves with frieze on
he northwest, and by close verges on the northeast gable.

The shed roofed privy is sheathed with clapboards on the northwest and
h wood shingles on the northeast and southeast. Tt is trimmed by corner-
oards, close verges, and open lateral eaves with exposed rafters and fascia
Dards The four panel door and the small window have plain frames. The
pen wooden deck-walkway on the northwest sides of the privy and the vestry
ds-a board floor and a simple wooden railing.

igtory

= The first Free Will Baptist meeting in Meredith was held in the Gak Hill
sction of the town in August of 1800. So successful was that meeting and
sequent meetings that a Free Will Baptist church was organized in Oc-
_ber The new church grew rapidly, reaching a membership of 134 within
vo years. The prosperous young church soon built a meetinghouse. But,
s the early church records cannot be located, little is known about its con-
ruction. On April 8, 1802, James Peas leased the meetinghouse lot to the
hurch for 999 years, for a total rent payment of $10. The lease describes
e meetinghouse as already standing, but does not indicate whether or not
‘was finished. A later pastor of the church, writing in the county history
883, reported that “a house of worship was built between 1800 and 1804,
long after the establishment of the meeting”. The early appearance of
e church is not known. But, we can speculate that the building was similar
e Dana Meetinghouse, ancther Free Will Baptist Church built in the same
eriod, a gable roofed meetinghouse with the main entry in the center of a
eral side and the pulpit in the center of the cpposite wall. There is however
tle evidence to prove or disprove such a theory.

Description

The Oak Hill Meetinghouse, erected as a Free Will Baptist Church;
serves as the museum of the Meredith Historical Society. A mid 19th Cé)‘:;1
vernacular building that shows the strong influence of the Greek Revivals
it stands on the northeast side of Wirona Road. The building consists of:
one story sections. The tall, gable roofed main block is set with its sou
gable end facing the road. Attached to the main block's rear northeast ¢
end and extending beyond it to the southeast is the shorter and smaller, gable .
roofed vestry. At the north end of the vestry’s rear northeast gable
the shed roofed privy. An open wooden deck-walkway covers the contznuo
nerthwest sides of the vestry and the privy.

The main block's clapboarded walls are set on a cut granite block_ i
dation and are trimmed by sillbcards and wide cornerboards with sin
moulded caps. A wide box cornice with mouldings, deep frieze, and ret
trims the three public sides of the gable roof. The rear gable has close ve
with shallow friezes and simple returns. In the center of the main facade; the
southwest gable end, is a high, large, and tall 12/12 sash window with m&u
lintel. On each side of the central window is an entry, a four panel door
piain but wide side trim and a deep lintel with a simple moulding. The nor!
erly entry hag stone and concrete steps, while the southerly entry now
a concrete landing and ramp with metal railings. The northwest and southe

‘Local traditions state that the church was remodeled twice, in 1848 and
98 The details of these remodelings are not known. But, it is clear that
present appearance of the church dates from the mid 19tk century. The
urch’s basic design is typical of the small rural churches of the period.
ﬂnd the exterior details, the cornerboards, box cornice, and door frames,
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all show the influence of the Greek Revival style. A photograph of it
mestinghouse, published in the mid 1890's, shows the main block with
present exterior, but does not show the vestry. The vestry may have b
built in the remodeling of 1898, or it may have been built in 1909. Chur
records contain a very brief reference to a later building alteration - *
of 1909 work began on church chimneys and vestry”. Unfortunately, this
biguous statement does not tell us if the vestry was added, remodeled; or
repaired at that time. Clearly, however, the vestry was built around thes
of the century. {No date has been found for the privy.)

T. JOHN'S ON THE LAKE CHAPEL

ear Island, Lake Winnipesaukee
898 (tower), 1927 (main block)

The Oak Hill Meetinghouse was saved from further changes by he
decline of its congregation. Newer Fres Will Baptist churches, notably
church established in Meredith village, claimed many members of the churg
The Oak Hill church did survive until 1946, but the congregation did
have the funds to modernize the building. As a result, the meetinghousé
mains a fine, well preserved example of rural church architecture in mid-’_
century New Hampshire. In 1950, the building was purchased by the ne
formed Meredith Historical Society, which has used the church ag a musein
and meeting place. The Society has made only a few significant exteri
changes, the addition of the walkway to the privy, the construction of &
crete bleck foundation under the vestry ¢. 1988, and the installation of a":c___
crete ramp for the handicapped at one entry . 1990.

St. John's On The Lake Chapel is a wooden and stone summer chapel
at stands on a hill on Bear Island in Lake Winnipesaukee. The chapel is
ached by footpaths, notably a path from the chapel association docks at
eep Cove. The building employs the “rustic” architecture of the summer
camps of the late 18th century and early 20th century. The design owes much
::the Shingle Style, but also reflects, in the main block windows, the influence
the Gothic Revival style. The building consists of two sections, a four story,
uare, wooden entry tower and a one story, gable roofed, stone main block
ontaining the auditorium and covering the rear northeast side of the tower.

The tower is sheathed by wooden shingles (without corner trim} on its
st three stories. On the southwest front is the only entry, double six paneled
oors with plain frame and concrete steps. The doors are sheltered by a gabled
ood, supported by two wide moulded curvilinear brackets. The broad hood
15 close moulded eaves and verges, wooden shingled gable and roof. The
rée lower stories are lit by just three plain framed windows. The first story
ndow on the northwest and the second story window on the southeast both
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have an unusual shape, with rounded upper corners and a rectangular;it
ward projecticn in the center of the top. The southeast window still has'i
clear panes. The first story northwest window now has a stained glass Wi
dow depicting a lakeside landscape. In the second story of the southwest fro
is a tall narrow single pane window with a shallow pointed arch. The thi
story is topped by a shallow cornice with mouldings and frieze. The fou
story has a central square room surrounded on all sides by a porch. The ce
tral room now has walls of composition board siding with strapping, topped
by short sections of clapboards with cornerboards. The only opening in-th"
walls is a plain framed door on the southwest. The roof shared by the porch
and central room is supported by these inner walls and by the porch pos
The older posts at the corners and at the centers of the four bay sides ha
chamfered edges, moulded basss, and ornate sawn brackets. The two new
intermediate posts in each side are plain timbers, as are the rails and diagénal
struts of the railings connecting the posts. The tower’s pyramical roof has fi
open eaves with exposed rafters. The roof is crowned by a large cross:
a short pedestal.

e consgtruction of the chapel. In 1925, Bishop Edward Melville Parker, the
Episcopal bishop of New Hampshire, acquired an opticn on the property as
one of the last acts of his bishepric. After Bishop Parker's death, his successor,
Bishop John Dallas, purchased the property from E.C. Manstield in September
1926,

The conversion of the tower to a chapel began with the ground breaking
i May of 1927. The open framework of the observation tower was enclosed
in'a “wooden shell” to create the present large wooden shingled church tower.
And the stone main block was built on the inland (northeast) side of the tower.
Local stone mason Edward Ambrose laid the stone walls. The cost of the chapel
has been given by varicus writers as $3000, $40C0, and $7000. The chapel
was dedicated on July 31, 1927 in memory of Bishop Parker.

In 1954, the Diccese was considering the sale of the property, much io
e dismay of the islanders. The Bishop agreed however to the creation of
the St. John's On The Lake Chapel Asscciation to raise funds for the chapeal
d to provide clergy for the services. In 1976, the chapel was deeded by
ihe Episcopalians to the non-denominational asseciation which continues o
aintain the building and to hold summer religious services.

The main block walls are built of fieldstone. The gable roof is trimin
by close moulded verges and by open lateral eaves with decoratively sa
rafter ends. The main block windows have moulded wooden frames. T
northwest and southeast sides each have five Gothic arched windows w
clear leaded glass, mostly diamend paned with a border of smaller rectangula:
panes. High in the northeast gable end is a wide Gothic arched window w
panel tracery, three lower ogee arched sash and six upper sash with vert_i"
sides. The window is again filled by diamond paned leaded glass with bord:
of small rectangular panes. The glass is clear, save for two stained glass se
tions, depicting a chalice and the eagle of 5t. fohn. :

Changes to the building since 1927 seem to have been limited. The fourth
story of the tower has seen the covering of the walls with composition board-
ing, the addition of more porch posts, and the replacement of the porch rail-
ing. And in the summer of 1993, the clear glass of the tower’s first story win-
dow was replaced by a memorial stained glass window.

History

St. John's On The Lake Chapel has an unusual history. The towet
built as an observation tower in the summer of 1898 for Ellery Channing
Manslield on the highest point of Bear Island. It was then described by ik
Meredith News as “a room ten feet square on top of some spruce timbers tht
feet high”, with the room being “surrounded by a piazza”. A photog
of the observation tower shows that only the first and fourth stories were ¢
closed and that open stairs led from the top of the first story to the u
roon. The tower did then have the pyramidal roof and the ornate porch pg
still seen today. :

The proposal to turn this observatory into & summer chapel is s&
have begun as the project of Rev. Kenneth Riplevy Forbes, pastor of 5t
drew’s Church in Stamiord, Connecticut. Rev. Forbes, whose summer héo
was nearby on Birch Island, has been described as the driving force behi
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MEBEDITH CENTER FREE BAPTIST CHURCH The main block has a cut granite block foundation, clapboarded walls,

s1llboards and cornerboards. A box cornice with mouldings, frieze, and
returns trims the metal sheathed gable roof. The side bays of the three bay
south gable end sach contain a six panel door with a plain heavy frame. Both
entries have granite steps, but a wooden landing and ramp with simple
wooden railings has been built over the western entry's step. An 8/12 sash
window with plain frame and louvered shutters appears high in the central
bay and in the second story of each side bay. Larger 8/12 sash windows ap-
pear in the cther sides, four in the west side, three in the east side, and two
in the north gable end. The western windows have plain frames and louvered
shuﬁers while simple mouldings top the lintels of the northern and eastern
wmdows.

Meredith Center Road, Meredith Center
c. 1831

The square tower has a clapboarded base, trimmed by cornerboards and
d box cornice with mouldings and frieze. The smaller belfry stage is sheathed
with flush beoarding and again trimmed by cornerboards and a box cornice
with mouldings and frieze. A large, plain framed, rectangular opening is
{ound in each face of the belfry. All four openings have lower panels with
an applied design of rectangles and diagonals. Three of the openings are
filled with louvers, while the north opening is boarded in. Rising from the
belfry roof is a tall octagonal spire with flush boarded sides, simple ridge
i’houldings, and a crowning kneb with a metal finial.

The vestry has clapboarded walls, cornerboards, plain window and door
frames. The gable roof is trimmed by a box cornice with mouldings, frieze,

ind returns on the three public sides and by close verges on the north gable.

The vestry is lit by 2/2 sash windows in the lower level and by 6/6 sash win-
dows in the main upper level. The one story high west side and the two story
high south gable end each feature a paneled door. The two additions on the
north gable end of the vestry share a continuous roof, but because of the slope
of the land, they are of different heights. Both additions have clapboarded
walls, cornerboards and plain windew frames. The smaller western addition
topped by a moulded cornice and has just one opening, a 1/1 sash win-
dow The larger eastern addition has 2/2 sash windows and a box cornice
with mouldings and {rieze. The same box cornice appears on the two story
privy, which is sheathed with clapboards, but not cornerbeards. Maost of the
lower lavel of the eastern addition’s north side is covered by the kitchen ad-
dition. The small kitchen addition has novelty siding, cornerboards, a sim-
ple box cornice, and one opening, a plain framed double casement window.

Description

The Meredith Center Free Baptist Church, a mid 19th century vernacuk:
church showing the influence of the Greek Revival style, stands ona k
on the east side of Meredith Center Road in the village of Meredith Cente
The gable roofed main block is one and a half stories high, save for the twe
story south gable end, the main facade. A two stage tower with spire 1
from the roof above the south gable end. Attached to the south end of
main block's east side and extending beyond it to the south is the gable rc‘i':
vestry. Because of the slope of the land downhill to the east, the vestry i5'or
story high on the west side, but two stories high on the other three sides’ T}
north gable end of the vestry is covered by two additions, a small, one st
shed roofed western addition at the main upper level, and a larger, two st
hip roofed addition, corresponding to both levels of the vestry. The lar
eastern addition has two additions of its own, a two story, shed roofed p
on the east, and a two story, shed roofed kitchen addition at the lower i
on the north. '

-~ In 1810, the Second Free Will Baptist Church in Meredith was organ-
ized in Meredith Center. (The church was renamed the Meredith Center Free
Will Baptist Church in 1854.) The church services were at first held in
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schoolhouses and in the homes of church members. Local historians givet
date of 1831 for the erecticn of the present church, or to be more prec1se
its main biock. The church records tell us nothing about the construction
the builders. They do report that the monthly church conference was hag
in a schoolhouse as late as December of 1831, Unfortunately, the place
the monthly meeting was not noted again until April of 1833, when the CQ
ference was held in the new meetinghouse. Presumably, the church wat
finished in the interim. The tower was added in 1859. Since then, the main
block and the tower have changed little, save for the 20th century metal
sheathing on the main block roof, and the ¢. 1991 addition of a ramp at on
entry. Althcugh the tower was built after the main block, its design comét
from the same mid 19th century vernacular tradition. The influence of the
Greek Revival style can be seen in the cornices of both the tower and H
main block. But, basically the original church has the simplicity and the lac
of ornamentation that we associate with the vernacular buildings of rural New
Hampshire. It is nevertheless an attractive building, notable for its good pr
portions and symmetry.

The church has seen several additions on its east side. The vestry.w.
built in 1881 as a one story structure, the present upper level. The land #
the vestry was donated by Lane Plummer, the lumber by Deacon Ashael Sa
born. In 1910, a lower level was constructed under the vestry to house & k
chen and a dining room. The eastern addition on the north end of the veé
which contains the stairway to the lower level, was probably also added 1]
The privy appears to have been built at the same time as the eastern ad
tion. In the late 1940’s, the kitchen was enlarged by a one story lower les
addition on the north side of the eastern addition. The western additio;
the north end of the vestry was built in 1987-88 to house a new furna:

- The Dana Meeting House is a one story, early 19th century vernacular

néetinghouse that stands on the west side of Dana Hill Road. In the center
-jef the eastern roadside lateral facade of the gable roofed main block, a gable
Gofed porch shelters the main entry.

" The main block’s clapboarded walls with cornerboards are set on a
gldstone foundation. All of the windows have 12/12 sash and mouided frames.
he lateral eaves are box cornices with mouldings and irieze, while the gables
e close verges with simple returns. The main feature of the east road facade
sthe central entry, double, three paneled doors flanked by simple pilasters
1d topped by a plain lintel. The main entry is now sheltered by an entry
orch with concrete floor and side steps. Square corner posts support the
orch's gable roof. The three porch openings are topped by basket arches
hich ere ornamented with keystones and impost blocks. Above the arches,

__e:porch is sheathed with vertical beaded boarding. Close verges and shallow
u_lded lateral cornices trim the porch roof.

To each side of the main entry are two high 12/12 sash windows. The
orth and south geble ends also have the same basic design, a central door




146 The Historic Churche of Belknap County 147

began holding summer services in the meetinghouse, at which money was
raised for the restoration. Over the next few years, the building was careful-
v repaired and restored. It has been used for occasional summer services
ever since and has been kept in gocd repair. The only significant 20th cen-
tury exterior changes have been the construction of the concrete porch floor
and a concrete step at the south door.

flanked on each side by two high 12/12 sash windows. The northern dod
is a nine panel door, while the southern door is a four panel door. A smiall
plain framed attic louver is set in each gable. The rear west side has five m
12/12 sash windows. The ceniral window, placed behind the meetinghous
pulpit, is set higher in the wall than the other windows, so high that its {ram
abuts the frieze of the box cornice.

History The design of the Dana Meeting House is the typical meetinghouse design

used throughout New England in the 18th century and the lirst years of the
19th century. The standard meetinghouse was a gable rocled building with
its main entry in the center of one lateral wall, a pulpit in the center of the
opposite wall, side entries in the gable ends, and a symmetrical arrangement
of box pews. Most meetinghouses were two stories high, to accommoedate

The First Free Will Baptist Church in New Hampton was organized
January of 1800. The Baptists at first met in the homes of church membe
but soon decided to build a meetinghouse. Construction of the Dana Meetin
House is said to have begun in the fall of 1800. But, the first mention of
building in the church records appears in April of 1802, when Josiah Mago
Abraham Drake and Nathaniel Drake were appointed a committee Mo t
the oversight in building the meeting house”. The lot was purchased in J
of 1802 for $10. But, the deed refers to the meetinghouse as already stand
and uses as the lot boundary the semicircular stone wall already built by th
Baptists arcund the building. The church records have little to say on|
further progress of the building, noting discussions in August and October
but not identitying the designer or builders. On December 8, 1802, the Fre
Will Baptists met in their mestinghouse for the first time, for worship d
the ordination of two elders and two deacons. One of the elders ordain
then was Simeon Dana, whose long association with the meetinghouse wdu i
give it its present name. The interior was not completed until 1810, when loc
cabinetmaker Stephen Magocon contracted to finish the interior and bulld
box pews.

galleries. Few one story meetinghouses were built and still fewer survived.
Excepting the smaller Quaker meetinghouses, which have a different plan,
and the recently burned First Christian Church in Allenstown, the Dana
Meeting House is the only well preserved early one story meetinghouse in

New Hampshire. And it is the only intact meetinghouse in Belknap County,
as all of the other surviving meetinghouses in the county have been significant-
ly altered. The Dana Meeting House is a good example of early 19th century
vernacular architecture, notable for the simple dignity of its exterior, and
for its unchanged interior, with its now rare box pews and pulpit.

The Dana Meeting House was saved from modernization in the 19th cen
tury by the decline of its congregation, as the church lost its members tom
Free Will Baptist churches in nearby viliages. The decline of the nearbi’r::}_u-
farms in the mid to lale 19th century left the remaining congregation w
neither the funds nor the energy to modernize the building. The only féature
that was apparently added in the later part of the 19th century is the éntr
porch. The porch’s design suggests that it is not original. But the porch'd
appear in all known 19th century photographs of the building. In 1873___
remaining members of the congregation affiliated with the Free Will Bapti:
church in New Hampton village. The village church, now the Commiit
Church, still owns the Dana Meeting House.

The old meetinghouse was neglected and unused for some years. [t mi
have fallen into ruin, had it not been for Dr. A.]. Gordon, a New Hamp
native who became a prominent Boston minister and the founder of Ga
College. Returning to his native town in 1888 and finding the meetinghio
in disrepair, Rev. Gordon started a campaign to restore the building
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NEW HAMPTON HISTORICAL SOCIETY BUILDING

Dana Hill Road, Old Institution
1883-1884

~In the sarly 1920's, the chapel was closed. The church was revived and
the chapel reopened in 1947. Scme repairs were then made to the building.
he most notable was the replacement of the rotted wooden platform on the
d fronit with a concrete platform. The church later declined again. In 1965,
ie huilding was acguired by the New Hampton Historical Society, which
as since used it as a meeting place and a museum. In 1987, the Society
enlaced the deteriorated wood shingles on the rear gable end with plywoeod.
11992, the concrete platform was removed when the front sill was replaced.
emporary wooden steps were then installed at the two entries.

EW HAMPTON TOWHN HOUSE

pwn House Reoad, Old Institution
798

Description

The New Hampton Historical Society Building, formerly the Ad
Christian Chapel, is a gable roofed, one and a half story structure that ste
on the west side of Dana Hill Road in the Old Institution village. The:
19th century vernacular building is set on a fieldstone foundation. The th:
public walls are clapboarded with cornerboards. The windowless rear w
gable end is now sheathed with vertically grooved plywood. A wide ¢o
with mouldings, sloping soffit, and frieze trims the gable roof. :

The roadside east gable end has a large central plain framed 6/1
window. To sach side of the window is a plain framed four panel door,
two entries are now served by temporary wooden steps.) In the gabl
smaller plain framed 6/6 sash window. The north and south sides eachh
four large, plain framed 6/6 sash windows.

History

The New Hampton Town House is a 18th century vernacular town hall

at stands on the north side of Town House Road in the Old Institution village.

He one and a half story, gable rocfed main block is set with its lateral south

ide facing the road across the wide town common. In the center of the main

outh facade, a one story, gable roofed porch shelters the main entry. The

ar north side of the main block is covered by three one story, shed roofed_
dditicns for the kitchen, stage, and privies, and, at the east end, a small,

ne story, shed roofed rear eniry porch.

An Adventist church was formed in New Hampton in the 1880s..0
knowledge of the construction of the New Hampton Adventist Chapel isT
limited. The Bristol newspaper carried two brief items, each one sen
long, on the building. The paper reported in mid December of 1883 ths
chapel was under constructicn, and later that the church was dedica{
Sunday, May 4, 1884. A woman who was a young girl at the time late
called that much money, labor, and materials were donated to the buil
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The main block’s clapbearded walls are set on a cut granite block-foy
dation and are framed by corner pilasters and a wide box cornice, wi
mouldings, deep Irieze, and returns. The large mesting room that occu
the main level of the main bleck is lit by large 20/20 sash windows, each
a moulded frame and a large board shutter. Four such windows appes
each of the three public sides, the south facade, and the east and west gab
ends. The two gables each contain a smaller window with moulded fra
covered by a large board shutter. In the center of the south facade is't
main entry, a six panel door with a granite sill, flanked by pairs of pilas
The pilasters, applied over flush boarding, rise to an elaborate moulding
the junction of the wall and the entry porch ceiling. The porch floor is a'l;
smooth granite slab set on a stone foundation. Two tapered cctagonal pi
on square wooden bases support the porch’s gable roof, with its clapbo
ad gable and box cornice with mouldings, frieze, and returns.

333.33 for the building. Another town meeting on September 4 made plans
or the raising of the meetinghouse frame, which was presumably done in
he fall of 1798. By March of 1799, the meetinghouse was sufficiently com-
leted to house the annual town meeting. In 1800, the Town hired a Con-
regational minister, who used the meetinghouse for services, as did the Free
Will Baptists on special occasions. But, after the dismissal of the town minister
n 1817, the meetinghouse seems 1o have been used rarely, if at all, for
eligious services. There are apparently no surviving early views of the
meetinghouse. It is described as a standard, two story, gable roofed
meetinghouse with stairway porches on both ends, and with pews, pulpit,
ind galleries in the interior.

By the early 1870's, the meetinghouse was in disrepair. A warrant article
or a special town meeting in April of 1872 asked the voters if they wished
o build a new town hall or to repair the old building. The meeting appro-
priated $700 fo repair the old town house. But, this sum proved insufficient.
fgnother special town meeting in July had to appropriate “up tc $500" more
¢ finish the work. ].3. Piper was paid $1195.74 for "“repairing” the town house.
But, the project could best be described as an extensive renovation and
emodeling of the building. The stairway porches were removed, as were
he galleries of the second story. The roof was then lowered, turning the twe
story meetinghouse inte the present one and a half story town hall. No com-
plete description of the renovations can be found. But, it seems likely that
he present box cornice, the corner pilasters, and, probably, the front entry
porch, all date from the 1872 remodeling, and that the building acquired
ts present late 19th century vernacular appearance at that time.

The three shed roofed additions on the north side of the main block
similar in design, all having novelty siding, cornerboards, and ¢
overhanging eaves, with exposed ralters on the north and fascia board
the east and west sides. The central stage addition is about & foot taller
the kitchen addition to its west and the privy addition to its east. The's
addition is windowless, while the kitchen addition and the privy additior
have two plain framed windows. The east end of the privy addition also:co
tains the rear entry, a plain framed paneled deor with a builtin windéy
small poreh, set in the northeast corner of the main block and the privyia
tion, shelters the rear entry. The porch has a single square corner post’
supports a shed roof with open eaves and expossd rafters. A long wheelg
ramp, with board [loor and wooden railing, runs along the east gabl
of the main block to the rear entry porch.

The 20th century has seen further changes to the Town House. The 1940
snnual town meeting voted to build an addition for a stage and & kitchen.
These rear additions were erected by contractor Norman McDougall for a
otal cost of $838.55. The date of the privy addition and the rear pcrch are
n’bt known. But the privy addition is so close in design to the stage and kit-
¢hen additions that it must have been erected in the same general period.
L:wheelchair ramp was built along the east side of the building to the rear
porch in 1987,

History

The annual March 1798 meeting of the Town of New Hampton Vdé_
build a meeting house on the Minister’s Lot. But, the meeting decided
the Town would erect just the frame and foundaticn, provided that fort
sons bonded themselves to finish the building within five vears, in‘exchange
for the pew rights. However, at a continued town meeting in April, the &
votes were rescinded and it was voted that the Town would build andiin
the meetinghouse. The building was to be 52 feet long, 40 feet wide
the posts to be 22 feet high. A stairway porch was to be erected at eac]
A committee of five men, William B. Kelly, Thomas Simpson (later rep
by Peter Hanaford), Josish Magoon, Jeremiah Marston, and Benjamin Sn
Tr., were chosen "to draw a draught of the Meeting House and sell the
and lay the money out on the Meeting House”. The meeting also vote
pay Samuel Kelly $200 for the construction of a frame for the buildi
be compleied by the end of September. Finally, the voiers appropriak
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Directly above the entry portico is the three stage tower. The basement level
has two one story additions, a small, gable roofed entry porch on the south

and a hip roofed, modern kitchen-furnace room addition on the east gable
end.

Main Street, New Hampton village
1854
Zelotes D. and John 5. Gordon, builders

Listed on the National Register of Historic Places The toundation is smooth granite blocks on the north and west sides of

the main block. The basement level on the south and east has a brick wall
on a cut granite block foundation. The main block is clapboarded on three
sides, but is sheathed with flush boarding on the west facade. The walls are
ornamented by wide pilasters at the corners and flanking the side bays of
he west facade and the westernmost bays of the north and south sides. The
massive pilasters have moulded capitals and narrow, almost slit like, panels.
The wide box cornice with deep frieze, architrave, and mouldings is
pedimented on the west gable, but only has refurns on the rear east gable,

The central bay of the three bay west facade is distinguished by the distyle
n antis portice in front of the tall recessed porch. Concrete steps serve the
orch’s wooden floor. Standing on the porch floor are two tall, massive Doric
columns. The square antae flanking the columns are similar to the church’s
pilasters, with the same capitals and narrows panels. The antae are get on
imple bases with flush boarded sides. The portico’s cornice and flush boarded
sediment echo those of the main block. And the horizontal cornices of the
ain block and portico pediments are set at the same level. The walls of the
ecessed porch are sheathed with horizontal beaded boarding and trimmed
vith plain baseboards. In the center of the east wall is the church’s main en-
ry, double paneled doors with builtin windows, plain side trim with lower
ornerblocks, and an entablature. The side bays of the main hlock's west
acade each contain a tall, large double window with 6/6 sash, plain sill and
ide trim, and a low pitched pedimented comice.

The square tower sits on the portico and main block roofs. It is composed
{ three stages, that grow smaller with height. Each stage is sheathed with
lush boarding, trimmed with wide deep cornerboards, and topped by a
imple but heavy box cornice with deep frieze. (The top belfry stage cornice
Iso has an architrave.) The base, which projects in front of the main block’s
édiment, is nearly as wide as the portico below. Iis cornice is only a little
igher than the main block roof ridge. A long horizontal pane} ornaments
He west face of the base. Large rectangular panels almost fill each face of
he second stage. In the west face is the church clock, a round clock face
ith Roman numerals and hands. The top stage is the open belfry. The bell
 visible through the tall rectangular openings in each face. At the peak of
he beliry’s low pitched pyramidal roof is a square block topped by a globse,
n which stands the elaborate metal weathervane.

Description

The New Hampton Community Church is a Greek Revival style chire
which stands at the east end of Main Street in New Hampton village, betwe
Route 132 to the north and Lower Road to the scuth. The high, gable oo
main block is basically ene and a half steries in height with ifs basement e
exposed on the east and south. (Although the west end of the main blocl
actually two and a half stories high, this internal division is not visible
the exterior.) The church is set with its west gable end virtually centers: ol
the axis of Main Street. In the center of this western main facade is a reci_e‘_g’ s
entry porch, which is frented by a slightly projecting pedimented portics
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The north and south sides of the main block have similar main levelsi:
Each has a windowless weslern bay set off by flanking pilasters, and thres:
tall, large, double windows in the center. The double windows have 6/6 sash
plain sills and side trim, and peaked lintels topped by mouldings. At the ea
end of the north side is a paneled door with builtin window, and the sam
side trim and peaked lintel as the double windows. The basement level ¢
the south side has five 6/6 sash windows and three doors, all with plain frames
One basement level door is sheltered by a small, gable roofed porch wit]
concrete floor and steps, chamfered posts with bases and ornate saw
brackets, a pedimented box cornice with mouldings and frieze, and a beade
board gable. The main level of the east gable end features a central semi
circular arched stained glass window with hoodmould. The east gable en
alsc has two 6/6 sash windows, with the same peaked lintels already seen on’
the north and south sides. :

The New Hampton Community Church must be ranked among the best
- and most sophisticated Greek Revival style churches in New Hampshire. In-
~deed, Bryant Tolles, in his NEW HAMPSHIRE ARCHITECTURE, has called
he church “one of the finest examples of its style in New England”. Unlike
~most other Greek Revival churches, it has a monumentality comparable to
“the Greek temples that inspired the style. The design shows considerable skill,
‘notably in the integration of the tower and the main facade through the use
‘of the central portico to tie the two elements together.

: The New Hampton Village Free Will Baptist Church was reorganized
~-as the non-denominational New Hampton Community Church in 1951. But,
“the church's exterior has changed little. As a part of an 1899 interior renova-
“tion, the semicircular arched stained glass window was added in the east gable
‘end. Undated 20th century changes included concrete steps at the main entry,
“as well as a new door and an entry porch in the basement ievel. The 1960's
“saw the installation of the clock in the tower. About 1970, a shallow one story
-addition was built on the east end of the basement to house a kitchen and
-a furnace room.

The basement level of the east gable end is hidden by the modern kit
chen addition. The hip roofed addition has a wooden box cornice with
mouldings, vents, and, on the east and north, friezes. The south facade is
sheathed with brick laid in stretcher bond on a granite block foundation. The.:
east wall and the largely buried north wall are sheathed with clapboards and:
cornerboards above a concrete foundation. The addition has a 6/6 sash win<:
dow and a paneled door on the south, four windows and another paneled'
door on the east.

"NEW HAMPTON GRANGE HALL

History “Main Street, New Hampton village

A Free Will Baptist church in the village of New Hampton became:
necessity when the New Hampton Literary and Biblical Institution, a Fre
Will Baptist school, was established there in 1853. Two Free Will Baptis
churches in the town of New Hampton, the Second Free Will Baptist Churg
of New Hampton and the Meredith and New Hampton Free Will Baptis
Church, met on September 17, 1853 to combine to form a new church, the
New Hampton Village Free Will Baptist Church. The new village churé
promptly voted to instruct its property owning society “to secure a buildin
spot and build a house of worship”. Unfortunately, the society’s records di
not survive, so our knowledge of the church’s construction is limited...
denominaticnal paper did report that in early October, the society chose com
mittees “to fix on a location and to present a general plan for a meeting hous
But we do not know who designed the building. The same Free Will Baphs
paper reported in January of 1854 that the church was under construction
The lot, given by Rufus Lewis, is a fine site at the head of the village's Mair
Street. The deed, signed on March 1, 1854, gives the names of the builders
as it conveys “the premises...on which Zelotes . Gordon and John S. Gor
don are now erecting & meeting house”. (The Gordons were local carpenter
The church was dedicated on June 10, 1854, as part of the annual meetin
of the New Hampshire Free Will Baptists, held that year at New Hampton

.{_Description

The New Hampton Grange Hall, formerly the Chapel of the New Hamp-
ton Academical and Theological Institution, is a vernacular building that now
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:'._tion of the rooms. It has usually been assumed that the chapel was in the first
:story and the classrocms in the second story.

stands on the south side of Main Sireet in New Hampton village. The two'a
a half story, gable roofed main block is set with its north gable end fac
the street. Covering the rear south gable end of the main block is a two'a
& hall story, gable roofed rear wing. However, because of the steep slop
of the lot, the rear wing is set one story lower than the main block, with
first story at the basement level of the main block. Both sections of the buiid
have concrete foundations and clapboarded walls with cornerboards:]
windows typically have moulded frames and 6/6 sash.

In 1852, the Calvinist Baplists moved their school to Fairfax, Vermont,
although they retained the New Hampton name. Local residents, notably Rufus
Lewis of Smith’s Village (now New Hampton village), wanted to keep an
cademy in their town. So they persuaded the Free Will Baptists to establish
‘a new school in Smith's Village. Incorperated in January of 1853, the New
‘Hampton Literary and Biblical Institution purchased the abandoned school
::'bui}dings from the trustees of the old school. The Chapel was hauled two miles
{o the new campus. There, in the spring of 1853, the building was given a
new name, Commercial Hall, and converted entirely to classroom use.

The main block has a cut granite block foundation on is street fach
A box cornice with mouldings, frieze, and returns appears on the three pub
sides. The rear gable has only close verges with simple returns. Save for _
plain framed basement windows, the windows all have moulded frames. Th
first story windews are taller than the other windows. Except for two sirl
pane basement windows, the north, west, and east windows all have 6/6 sa
In the center of the north gable end is the main entry, a six panel door w
plain side trim and & simple entablature with deep frieze. Two first story w
dows, three second story windows, and twe gable windows complete the m
facade. The east side features a tall exterior brick chimney with tapere:
shoulders, while the west side has a short beaded board basement door W
moulded Irame.

The structure remained a schoc! building until 1911, when it was decided
to build a more modern brick classroom building on its site. The old building
was given to the local Grange and moved off its old foundation in November
of 1911. A lot a few hundred yards down Main Street was purchased by the
Grange in the same month. And the building was moved to its third and
present site. The New Hampton Grange’s first meeting in its new hall was
held on January 19, 1912. Subsequently, the Grange made two important
exterior changes, adding a rear wing tc provide a stage for the hall in 1919
nd an exterior chimney for a new fireplace in the main block in 1920. The
main block, however, basically retains the appearance it had when it served
as Commercial Hall.

The rear wing is also trimmed by a box cornice with mouldings, [ridze
and returns. The windows all have 6/6 sash and, with one exception, mou
ed frames. The windows of the main (street) level, here the second story,'-'?__ _
again taller than the other windows. In the scuth gable end is a plain [ramed
paneled rear door. "

History

In 1821, an academy was founded in New Hampton and housed i1
building erected on town land, just east of the Town House, in the villa
now known as the Old Institution. In 1825, the school was taken over by
Baptist State Convention and became known as the New Hampton Academi
and Theological Institution. The enlarged school needed more space. 5o
a new building, called the Chapel, was erected in 1826, on the west side
the Town House. (The Town granted the use of that part of the Common.
the building.) Half of the cost was borne by John H. Simpson of Boston; the
other half by local subscriptions. The original appearance of the Chap
which housed both the school chapel and classrooms, is not known with:¢ér
tainty, as no early views survive. But, it has been assumed by vari
historians, that the Chapel, now the main block of the Grange Hall
changed little in its extericr appearance over the vears. The vernacular sty
ture shows the iniluence of the Greek Revival style in the cornice and: the
main entry entablature. The builder is unknown, as is the original dig
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edimented on the main east gable. The rear gable has only close verges
ith returns of the lateral cornices. The three bay wide east gable end has
entical entries in both the north and south bays. Each entry is a six panel
oor, served by granite steps and framed by a lintel with drip mouldings and
¥ paneled side trim with upper and lower cornerblocks. The upper corner-
locks are decorated with incised ornament and are topped by 1all moulded
iangles reminiscent of Gothic finials. The central bay of the first story and
1l three bays of the second story each contain a 12/8 sash window with a
oulded lintel and louvered shutters. The flush boarded, pedimented gable
ornamented by a central blind semielliptical arch with a keystone and sill.
he north and south sides each have four tall double windows with 1/1 sash
nd plain trim. Each double window is topped by a blind louver in the shape
f a Gothic arch, with a simple moulded surround. The south side also has
low modern metal basement bulkhead. The two main level windows on the
¢ar gable end are plain framed, double 18/19 sash windows. Their sashes
ach have a central opaque pane surrounded by smaller panes of colored
ass. In the gable are two 12/8 sash windows.

SANBORNTON

BAY MEETINGHGUSE

Upper Bay Road
1836

Listed on the National Register of Historic Places

The base of the square tower is clapboarded with cornerboards and a
ox cornice with mouldings and frieze. The upper stage, the belfry, is
omewhat smaller. It is surrounded by a railing with tall pyramids at each
orner. The decorative railing has an ornate pattern of struts and, on each
ide, a central panel ornamented by quarter circular fans in the upper cor-
ers. The beliry’s square corner posts support & decorative semielliptical arch
rith mouldings, keystone, and impost hiocks on each side. Through the
rched openings can be seen the bell and its framework. Above the arches,
he belfry is sheathed with {lush bearding and irimmed by cornerboards. The
elfry is topped by a box cornice with mouldings and frieze, and by a low
aneled parapet. The parapet’s panels, like the bellry railing’s panels, are
scorated by quarter circular fans in the upper corners. The corners of the
arapet are marked by tall pyramids, also similar o the railing’s corner
yramids.

Description

The Bay Meetinghouse, the home of the Second Baptist Church of
bornton, is a Federal style church with some Gothic Revival style de
The church stands at the southwest corner of Upper Bay Road and S el
Hill Road, overlooking Lake Winnisquam, formerly known as Sanbornton B
The gable rooled main block is set with its east gable end facing Upper'Ba,
Road and the lake. Because of the internal layout of the building, the
gable end is two stories high, while the north and south sides appear as o
story high. A two story belfry tower sits astride the east end of the main Bl
roof ridge. Centered on the rear west gable end of the main block is a s'mal
one story, gable roofed furnace addition.

The small furnace room addition on the rear has clapboarded walls, cor-
erboards, moulded lateral box cornices, and close verges with returns of
he lateral cornices. The west gable end contains a paneled door and a small

The first Bay Meetinghouse was built ¢. 1808 for a Free Will Baptist
rganization, whose records are now lost. This group was replaced by the
econd Baptist Society in Sanbornton, which was incorporated in June of 1816
oerect and maintain a meetinghouse. The Society’s records suggest that the

The main block, set on a granite block foundation, is clapboarded
rst meetinghouse had fallen into disrepair by the 1830's. In January of 1836,

sillboards and cornerboards. The box cornice with mouldings and fr‘i_é_z
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a special meeting of the Society was called to consider repairingth
meetinghouse or building a new cne. At this meeting and subség
meetings, committees were appeinted to estimate the costs of repalring
meetinghouse or erecting a new wooden or brick building. On Februa

the Society met with the pewhclders of the cld meetinghouse to consider
guestion. At this joint meeting, the vote was 19 in favor of a new woo
building over 5 in favor of @ new brick building. But, as some pewholde
were absent and had to be consulted, the final decisions were delayed
the following month. During a series of meetings in March, it was vote
reimburse the pewholders in the old building, to tear down th
meetinghouse, to build a new one 40 feet by 50 {eet in size, to appoint Z&
Smith, Jr. as the agent in charge of the building project, and to hire €
Smith of Dorchester to superintend the actual construction of the new chii;
(Capt. Smith was not identified in any more detail in the records, &
first name remains unknown.) The Society’s records do not describe the pr
gress of construction. But, by October 3, the building was finished or.
ing completion, as the Society then voted to sell the pews on QOctober 1
to dedicate the meetinghouse on October 13, 1836. The building agen
reported that the sale of the pews, as well as of “old stuff, lumber, etcith;
yielded $2245.80, just enough to cover the new church’s cost of $221:O:5

The Bay Meetinghouse is essentially a Federal style church embel}
with some Gothic elements. The building uses a common church form; Ar
most of the ornament, such as the pedimented box cornice and the sernie]
tical arches in the pediment and belfry, are typical of the Federal style
these traditional elements were added a few Gothic Revival style detail
pyramidal pinnacles on the belfry, the arched louvers above the 51de
‘dows, and the finials of the two entries. These “Gothick” details repr
the first stirrings of interest in the Gothic Revival style. Although:un
sophisticated by later standards, this attractive blend of Federal and Got fo
elements has a charm of its own.

The First Baptist Church is a vernacular church that stands on the west
e of Route 127. The one and a half story, gable roofed main block is set
With its east gable end facing the highway. Above the main facade, a two
tage belfry tower is found astride the roof ridge.

_ The main block is set on a foundation of cut granite and concrete blocks.
e clapboarded walls are trimmed by sillboards and cornerboards. Close
erges and lateral box cornices with mouldings and friezes trim the gable
6of. In the center of the east gable end is the main entry, double four panel
so0rs, served by granite steps and set in a plain frame with a heavy drip
Iﬁbulding on the lintel, To each side of the entry is a tal}, plain framed, stained
glass window with geometric design and plastic decorative shutters. The peak
f the cast gable is cut off by a horizontal board marking the base of the beliry,
ose east side is set flush with the main block's east facade. The main block's
s6rth and south sides each have four large 6/6 sash windows with moulded
intels, and, on the south, louvered shutters. The rear west gable end has
. plain framed 9/6 sash window in the gable and a tall exterior brick chimney,
mostly enclosed by a beaded beard covering.

The exterior of the Bay Meetinghouse has changed little. The side
rear windows are shown with 16/16 sash in an engraving in the 1882
history. The sashes were replaced with double 1/1 sash on the sides aid
19/19 sash on the rear, probably during an 1886 renovation of the ck
A bulkhead was added to serve the basement at an unknown date. Axn
small rear addition for the furnace room was built in 1986.

The base of the square tower ig clapboarded with cornerboards and a
de box cornice with mouldings and narrow frieze. The slightly smaller up-
per stage is the open belfry, containing the exposed bell and its framework.
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Plain square cornerposts frame the large openings, which are topp
valence boards cut to give the openings semielliptical arched tops. A
cornice with mouidings and irieze trims the belfry's low pitched pyraml

th multipane sash. Later, the lower half of these windows were filled with
apboarding, hidden behind fixed louvered shutiers. Indeed, given the in-
rnal structure of the church, there is some question as to whether or not

roof. the lower portions of these tall window frames were ever filled with glass.
The engraver may have taken some liberties with the view, installing full
History height windows in the engraving, althcugh there were perhaps actually false

windows covered by fixed shutiers in the lower halves, beneath sash win-
dows with working shutters in the upper halves. In 1990, the tall window frames
were filled with stained glass. Part of the foundation was rebuilt with con-
rete blocks, when the basement was dug to house a furnace, probably in
the 1950's. But, basically, the church apparently looks today as it did in the
16th century. It remains an attractive vernacular church, with few decorative
mbellishments, but with a pleasant, well proportioned design.

As early as 1784 or 1785, some Sanbornton residents were membe
the Baptist Church in Meredith. An article in the warrant of an April'L
sanbornton town meeting asked for permission to erect a Baptist meetinghoﬁ '
on town property. But, the request was voted down. Undaunted, the Baphs
proceeded to erect a meetinghouse on the top of Perley Hill.mTH
meetinghouse was apparently mostly built in the latter part of 1791, Bu
was not completed until 1792, After the construction of the meeting}i'_o_ﬁ
the Sanbornton Baptists were set off from the Meredith church as the'F
Baptist Church in Sanbornton. Historians disagree, howeaver, on Whether
separation took place in 1792 or in 1793.

There is no view or complete description of the building in its early y'_e:
S0, we cannot now describe the meetinghouse in any great detail. & par
description in an 1871 church history says that it was 56 feet by 36 fee
size, and equipped with a gallery and a high pulpit with a sounding b
and a deacoen's seat. Probably, the structure was a standard, late 18th- ‘cen
tury, two story, gable roofed meetinghouse, with the main entry in its }ater
side. Bul, we can only speculate on its appearance.

The church was guided through most of its early years by Bev Jo
Crockett. After Rev. Crockett's death in February of 1833, there was an'a
immediate movement to modernize the church, which was then “somevw
out of repair and inconvenient in location”. A special meeting of th
Baptist Society was called for April 20, 1833 to consider the disposition
the meetinghouse. The Society voted to “take down the old meeling house
and rebuild it at Crockett’s corner on the new plan which is now draw
Moses Kimball, Joseph Marsh, and William Prescott were clected a
building committee. According to church and town historians, the building
was “taken down, removed, and rebuilt in more modern style” in 1833
present site, about one mile from its old site. The church was also equipp
with a new 900 pound bell. The rebuilt church, still of the same dimensi
as the 1791-92 mestinghouse, was apparently remodeled with the main en
in one gable end and a belfry above the new main facade.

An engraving of the building published in the 1882 town hzstory s
the church much as it appears today. The belfry was then crowned by
ing with balusters and tail corner pinnacles, which has since disappéar
The 1882 engraving also shows the two windows in the main facade ag'fil
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small rear addition in the center of its rear gable end, a rear entry porch
at the south end of the rear gable end, and another entry porch on the south
: side at the exposed basement level.

SANBORNTON CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH

Meetinghouse Hill Road, Sanbornton village
1834 _
Listed on National Register of Historic Places as part of the Sankornton Squa
Historic District

The main block and the pavilion share the same basic features, cut granite
“block foundations, clapboarded walls, sillboards, and cornerboards. (The
- recently exposed basement on the main block’s south side has a concrete foun-
. dation and lacks a siliboard.) The three public sides of both the main block
“and the pavilion are trimmed by identical wide pedimented box cornices with
. mouldings and friezes. The horizental cornices of the two western pediments

are set at the same level. (The rear cast gable of the main block has close
: verges.)

The shallow pavilion covers over half of the main block's street gable
" end. The west street front features two eniries, each a pansled deor with a
builtin stained glass window, boasting an ornate geometric and foliated pat-
“tern. Served by granite and concrete steps, the entries are set in identical
~ frames, each with a plain lintel, and paneled side trim with upper and lower
~cornerblocks. Crowning the upper cornerblocks are tall, triangular, paneled
“finials”. In the second story are two 12/8 sash windows, set in mouided frames
: 'With cornerblocks and flanked by louvered shutters. The pedimented gable
‘contains a semielliptical louver with both horizontal and vertical slats, a plain
sill, and a simple moulding on the curved upper frame.

To each side of the pavilion, on the main block’s west gable end, iz a
tall stained glass sash window, whose glass incorporates an arch in itz ornate
“geometric and foliated design. Each rectangular window has louvered shut-
ters and a simply moulded frame, and is topped by a blind pointed arch louver
in a similar frame with lower cornerblocks. The same frames, shutters, and
Cothic arched blind louvers appear on the three tall stained glass windows
in the main level of both the north and south sides. The elaborate stained
glass of these side windows include religious symbols. The basement level
i almost fully exposed on the south side. The basement wall now contains
fwo 10710 sash windows and double paneled doors with builtin windows. The
basement entry is sheltered by a porch with concrete iloor, two square pillars
iwith bases and capitals, two corresponding pilasters on the wall, a pedimented
bBox cornice with mouldings and deep frieze, and a flush boarded gable. The
past gable end has two tall, semicircular arched stained glass windows in
simply moulded arched frames, one on each side of the rear addition. At the
south end is the rear entry, a plain framed, paneled door, sheltered by a small
porch. The porch has a board floor, two square cornerposts with bases, simple
wooden side rails, a clapboarded gable, close eaves and verges. The small
gable roofed rear addition has clapboarded walls, cornerboards, close verges,
and lateral cornices with sloping seffits and friezes. The rear additien’s only
‘opening is a paneled door in the south side.

Description

The Sanbornton Congregational Church combines elements o
Federal and Gothic Revival styles. The church stands on the east sidg
Meetinghouse Hill Road in Sanbornten village, between the Town Hal}
the old Woodman Academy building (now the puklic library). The tall
story, gable rocfed main block is set with its west gable end facing the Tode
Centered on the main block’s west gable end is the shorter, narrower, shal SW
two and a hall story, gable roofed entry pavilion. Rising frem the rog
the pavilion and the main block is the tall, square, two stage belfry fo
Three recent one story, gable roofed additions to the main block include
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The kase of the square bellry tower rises from the roofs of the main bls
and the pavilion. The tall base is clapboarded with cornerboards and a box
cornice with mouldings and frieze. On each of the three public sides of the
base appsars a Gothic arched louver with plain sill and simply moulded
frame. The slightly smaller belfry stage is surrounded by a railing with plair
struts, moulded rails, and square corner posts topped by pinnacles, tal
wooden pyramids ornamented by mouldings. A railing of the same design
surrounds the beliry’s low pitched roof. The belfry's clapboarded walls are
trimmed by paneled corner pilasters and a box cornice with mouldings and
frieze. The three public sides of the belfry have Gothic arched louvers in
moulded arched frames with impost blocks. The rectangular louver on the
rear east side has a plain frame.

was a new building using some cld materials, not a reconstruction of the old
meetinghouse. Unfortunately, no records survive that describe the progress
of the construction or that identify the designer or builders. We do know that
the church was dedicated on September 12, 1834. The completed building
was a Federal style church in form, that was embellished with both Federal
and GGothic Revival style ornament. Many of the decorative elements, the
cornerboards, the bellry’s corner pilasters, the sillboards, the pedimented
box cornices, and the semielliptical louver in the pavilion’s pediment, are
typical of the Federal style. These are mixed with Gothic details, the “finials”
on the main entries, the arched louvers above the main block windows and
on the tower, and the pinnacles at the corners of the belfry's railings. The
result was an attractive and well designed church, the county’s best example
of the transition from the Federal style to the Gothic Revival style.
History
Relatively few changes have been made to the church’s exterior. Around
the turn of the century, new front doors were instailed and stained glass re-
placed the clear panes in the main block windows. & small rear addition was
built in 1968 to house an organ. Circa 1976-78, a new basement was con-
structed under the church, creating a new basement level wall and a base-
ment entry porch on the south side. A new rear entry and rear entry porch
were installed in 1991 to provide handicapped access to the main level.

A March 1771 Sanbornton town meeting voted to build a town
meetinghouse within fwo years, but no action was taken under that vote!
December 13, 1773 town meeting voted to build a meetinghouse 80 feet lo
and 43 feet wide, and created a commitiee io sell the pews and build the
meetinghouse. Bul, progress on the building was slow. The first Congreg
tional religious services in the meetinghouse were held on May 21, 1775,"&_
the first town meeting on January 1, 1778. But, it was not until 1789 that §
town voted to plaster and lath the interior, and not until 1797 that the
meetinghouse was completely finished. The building, a standard gable roofe
two story, 18th century meetinghouse, stood on top of a hill to the nortk
the present Sanbornton village. It was a rather plain building, as
demonstrated by the story of the traveler who asked about the building. Whi
told that it was “the Lord’s house”, he responded that it looked more like® t
Lord’s barn”.

By 1834, the meetinghouse was in disrepair, and its future a matisr:
debate. An article in the annual March town meeting warrant of 1834 asks
the voters to either repair the meetinghouse, or to buy out the pew owné
or to relinquish the Town's right in the meetinghouse to the pew owners.:
Town voted to relinguish its rights in the building. Some citizens, howe
had second thoughts. A special town meeting was called for May 12 to'co
sider the choice of building a new town house or purchasing the meetingho
from the Congregational Society for use as a town house. By a vote of
to 36, it was decided to build a new town house.

A week later, on May 19, 1834, workmen began disassembling the 1
meetinghouse. The materials were taken to a site in the village of Sanb
ton Square, where the present church was erected. The new church 1n
porated the foundation and frame of the meetinghouse, as well as the gla
from the meetinghouse windows. But, essentially, the Congregational Chur:
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‘block’s west gable end, is a large nine pane window. In the gable is a win-
‘dow with a two pane upper sash and louvers in place of the lower sash. The
‘north and south sides each have three large and tall 12/12 sash windows.

TILTON

LOCHMERE COMMUNITY HALL

The rear addition has vinyl siding, window frames, and corner trim. Iis
‘most unusual features are the north and south side walls which are continued
upward as flat topped parapets above the shed roof. The parapets are sheathed
‘with the usual vinyl siding and corner trim, and are topped by plain boards.
Close eaves are found on the rear east side of the roof. The rear addition
s lit by €6/6 sash windows and is served by a rear entry, a modern paneled
door with builtin window and vinyl frame. The door, served by wooden land-
ing and steps with metal handrails, is sheltered by a simple shed rooled hood
With a plain wooden box cornice.

(Grange Road, Lochmere
. 1832

The shed roofed restroom addition has vinyl siding and corner trim, a
simple vinyl clad box cornice, and three small 1/1 sash windows in vinyl
frames.

‘History

.. The Lochmere Community Hall was built as a Methodist church. As early
records are not available, we know little about its construction. By the late
19th century, even the date of construction had become somewhat cbscure.
Historians in the 1880's noted that it was built “about 1835” or “previous to
1835". A historical sketch of the East Tilton churches in the Lochmere Bap-
st Church records does give one precise date, reporting that the dedica-
tion was held on January !, 1833. This suggests that the church was built in
832 or earlier. The October 1838 deed for the property speaks of the
Methodist church as already standing on the lot.

Description

The Lochmere Comrmunity Hall, originally a Methodist church, is a ¥
nacular building that stands on the east side of Grange Road in Lochmer
The one and a hall story, gable roofed main block is set with its west gab
end facing the road. In the center of the road facade is a cne story, gab
rocied entry porch. The rear east gable end of the main block is cove
by a one story, shed roofed rear addition. At the south end of the rear ad
tion's east wall is a small, one story, shed roofed restroom addition. The
block and the two additions are now all sheathed with vinyl * clapboard
and trimmed by vinyl corner trim and window frames.

The 1882 Sanbornton town history states that the church was repaired
in 1879, but does not describe the nature of the repairs. The same history
includes an engraving of the building, showing a simple, gable roofed, one
and a half story, vernacular building. The three bay sireet gable end then
had a large, tall window in the center and two identical entries, paneled doors
with simple frames, in the two side bays, as well as a smaller window in the
gable. The entries shared a long platform and steps which stretched the full
width of the facade. Cornerboards and a box cornice with frieze and returns
immed the clapboarded walis.

The main block is set on & granite and concrete foundation. Vinyl co
both the box cornice with returns on the three public sides and the clo
verges on the rear east gable. Corrugated metal sheathes the gable roof..
the center of the west gable end is the main entry, a paneled door with
large builtin square window and simple vinyl trim. Just south of the do
a large single pane window. Both the window and the door are sheltere:
the entry porch, which has a board base, floor and steps, short walls COv:
with vinyl siding, two plain wooden cornerpests, and a vinyl clapboar,
gable. Vinyl now covers the porch’s wide overhanging cornice with slo
soffit, but not the cornice’s frieze. To each side of the porch, on the ma

In time, the Methodist congregation declined. In June of 1903, the
Methodists sold the church to the Winnisquam Grange. The Grange made
a numbser of alterations to convert the building into a grange hall. An “alcove”
the rear of the building, probably an addition for the pulpit/stage area,
Was remaved by the Grange. In 1905, the rear addition was added for a kit-
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‘Street in the village of Lochmere. The one and a half story, gable roofed main
‘block, set with its northeast gable end facing the street, has a two stage bellry
tower astride the northeast end of its roof ridge. A small, one story, shed
roofed, side entry porch is found at the southerly end of the main block’s
southeast side. The main block’s southwest gable end is largely covered by
a one story, shed reoled rear addition. The entire northwest side of this rear
addition and one half of the main block's northwest side is covered by a one
story, gable roofed L-shaped addition which encompasses the main block's
west corner. At the westerly end of the L-shaped addition's rear southwest
side is a small, one story shed roofed restroom addition.

chen and a dining room. In 1926, the long platform on the street front wa
removed, and an eniry porch was built. Presumably, by that tims, the strés
facade had been remodeled, with a single central door and windows int
two side bays, each apparently made from a sash of the original central win
dow, Al some unknown time, the sash in the street gable window was replaced

The Winnisquam Grange declined in the mid 20th century, fina
disbanding in 1973. In April of 1968, the Grange deeded the building tot
Lochmere Community Association, for use as a community hall. The Associa
tion spent over $13,000 renovating the building, building an addition for res
rooms and installing new front and rear steps, as well as renovating the i1
terior. The renovation was completed in 1973. About 1984, the entire buﬂdln'

was resheathed with vinyl siding and viny] trim, The criginal main block and tower and the various additions are coverad

with vinyl “clapboard” siding and trimmed by viny! cornerboards. The main
block’s fieldstone and cut granite block foundation is topped by vinyl
sillboards. The corrugated metal gable roof is trimmed by a viny! clad
pedimented box cornice on the three public sides, and by close vinyl verges
on the rear southwest gable. The northeast gable end is three bays wide, with
.the main entry placed asymmetrically in the northern bay. The entry is a
modern paneled door with a plain vinyl frame, topped by a triangle of vinyl
clapboards set in a Gothic arched vinyl clad frame with a simple outer
moulding. Congcrete steps and landing with metal railings serve the eniry.
- The other two bays contain 6/6 sash windows with plastic shutters and vinyl
Irames featuring simple mouldings on the lintels. The pedimented gable con-
taing another triangle of vinyl clapboards in a vinyl clad Gothic arch, like
the decoration above the main entry. Tall, large, vinyl framed 6/6 sash win-
dows with moulded lintels appear in the northwest and southeast sides. The
southeast side also has a modern side doer, that is sheltered by an entry porch
with asphalt floor and wrought metal railing. Corrugated plastic was used
r the porch’s northeast wall, shed roof, southwest half gable, and a frieze
on the southwest and southeast sides.

LOCHMERE BAPTIST CHURCH

Church Street, Lochmere
1834

Both stages of the square belfry tower are sheathed with viny! clapboards
and trimmed by vinyl cornerboards and viny! clad box cornices with friezes.
The smaller upper belfry stage has a small louver in each of its three public
'.Sides, and a low pitched roof.

- The rear addition has a vinyl clad cornice with sloping soffit and a cor-
rugated metal shed roof. Simple vinyl frames surround its two windows,
otably a painted glass window, which features a cross in a Gothic arch, on
the scuthwest side.

The L-shaped addition’s asymmetrical gable roof is trimmed by close viny!
rges and vinyl clad lateral box cornices. Vinyl frames trim the two entries,
(jth modern paneled doors with builtin windows, and the windows, most of
which have 6/6 sash. The sma!l shed roofed restroom addition, covered by

Description

The Lochmere Baptist Church, a modernized vernacular churc’:_h:'
a few Gothic Revival style details, stands on the southwest side of Chur
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an extension of the L-shaped addition’s roof, also has close vinyl vergesa HURCH OF THE ASSUMPTION
a vinyl clad lateral box cornice. Its only openings are two emall vinyl fram

one pane windows. 6 Chestnut Sireet, Tilton village

History 893-18294

hickering & (O'Connell, architects
The First Free Will Baptist Church in Sanbornton was organized in 182 ;
and its accompanying property owning society in 1830. (The church &l
changed its name to the Union Bridge Free Baptist Church, then to the Eas
Tilion Free Baptist Church, and lastly to the Lochmere Baptist Church. T ¢
new names all reflected changes in the names of the locality.) In 1834,%
society built a church, financed by the sale of shares and pews. The build:
is said to have been completed in June of 1834 at a cost of $835.73. The
was not purchasad, however, until November of 1834. And the church wes
dedicated on January 6, 1835. The building originally stood with its late:
side {acing the sireet. But, in 1861, the building was turned so that the g‘ab _
end faced the road, and the church was “remodeled in more modern style’
at a cost of nearly $900. As we lack any description or view of the building
before 1861, it is difficult to describe either its original appearance or £
na’cure of this remodeling.

An engraving of the church published in the 1882 town h1story sho
the church as it then appeared, with just the main block and the beliry tower
Both were sheathed with clapboards and trimmed by cornerboards and b
cornices. The main block’s street gable end had a high central win
covered by louvered shuiters in the central bay and two entries, each
paneled door topped by a Gothic arched decoration, in the side bay
similar (Gothic arch appeared in the gable. (It is difficult to interpret the na
of these arched decorations from the engraving. But later photographs sh
them as triangles of clapboards in pointed arched frames.} A long platfo
and steps strefched the full length of the street facade. The belfry had']
rectangular openings, the front opening being filled with louvers. The bel
roof was surrounded by a balustrade, whose corner posts were crowrié
tall pyramidal pinnacles.

The Church of the Assumpticn is a Gothic Revival style church thai stands
&n the west side of Chestriut Street in Tilton village. The tall, wide, one and
a half story, gable roofed main block has an entry porch in the center of the
east sireet gable end, a square three story tower at the southeast corner, and
one story, shed roofed sacristy at the west end of its south side. The tower
has its own entry porch in its street facade. On the south side of the sacristy
are two one story additions, a basement vestibule and a covered oil tank.

With the exception of the concrete block walled oil tank addition, the building
is covered by viny! “clapboard” siding and trimmed by narrow vinyl corner
strips.

Sometime between the 1882 view and a 1927 photograph of the buildi
the southerly entry in the street facade was replaced by a window, leav:
just one offcenter main entry. In 1909, the rear addition was built toli
an organ. Another addition, the rear portion of the L-shaped addition;
built in 1961 to provide kitchen and dining facilities and Sunday school roor
About 1980, the side door and side porch were installed on the southeast 8
of the main block. Also, arcund 1980, the balustrade with pinnacles
crowned the belfry was removed. In the mid 1980's, the entire building wa
covered by vinyl siding and trim; the large bellry louvers were replaced:
smaller louvers; and the main entry acquired a new door, frame and s
1987 saw the enlargement of the L-shaped addition by the constructic
a classroom on its street side and the building of the restroom addition. Ar
1990, the painted glass window replaced a clear glass sash window i
rear wall of the rear addition.

The main block has a high painted brick basement. The gable roof is
mmed by ornate wooden box cornices with mouldings on the lateral sides,
by a shallower, but still ornately moulided, cornice con the east sireet gable,
and by a plain box cornice with mouldings and returns on the rear gable.
t each end of the roof ridge, a cross is mounted on a pedestal. In the center
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of the east gable end is the main entry, modern double doors with builtid

windows, set in a semicircular arched frame. Above the doors in the tymi-

panum of the arch is a quatrefoil stained glass window whose moulded frame
is inscribed in a plainer round frame. The main entry is sheltered by a gable

roofed porch, with a very high, concrete floored, brick walled base. Wrought:

metal railings protect the porch floor and the concrete steps down to the land-

ing in front of the church. The porch roof is supported by six square pillars;:
four front pillars arranged in pairs and two rear pillars against the church:
wall. The pillars are decorated by fluting and moulded tops and stand on’
pedestals with moulded bases and capitals. The wide central opening on the:

front of the porch is topped by a tall Gothic arch extending upward into the:

vinyl clapboarded gable. The gable is crowned by a parapet with moulded.

wooden coping and decorative gablets at the ends. The porch roof is trimmed:

on the sides by moulded wooden cornices. {(The high, concrete floored, brick:

walled landing in front of the church also serves the steps down from the
tower's entry porch. The landing is protected by wrought metal railings, &

are the concrete steps that descend from the landing to the street level at.
its north and scuth ends.)

The main level of the east gable end also features three lancet arche

stained glass windows, with geometric and floral designs and plain vinyl:

frames, two to the north of the entry and one to its south. The east gable pro

jects about two feet over the main level, save in the center, where a grarid:

Gothic arched section is left flush with the wall below. The main block’s latera
cornice is continued across the base of the gable, including the arched in
dentation in the center. (On the projecting overhang, the cornice has a deepe:
solfit with decoratively sawn brackets.) In the arched indentation is foun
a large, round stained glass window, with a small central quatrefoil window
surrcunded by four large quatrefoil windows, each inscribed in a simple rou
frame. To each side of the round window in the indentation appears a blink
wooden arcade of trefoil arches in lancet arched frames, resting on the
horizontal cornice and topped by a wooden moulding that also crowns th
wooden frame of the round window. In the peak of the east gable, above th
indentation, is a lancet arched louver with plain viny! frame. '

The north and south sides of the main block are divided into bays by
sloping buttresses (now covered by vinyl siding with vinyl corner trim), whi
rise from high brick bases to just below the main cornice. Six of the se:\_ren
northern bays and all five southern bays contain a large, Gothic arche
stained glass window in the main level. Each window includes two larice
arched windows beneath a smaller “triangular” window with curved side
The windows have geometric and floral designs, moulded wooden fram

around the stained glass, and plain vinyl outer frames. The basement is now
lit by double casement windows.
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The first two stories of the three story square tower are covered by vinyl

siding with narrow corner strips. On the south side of the high brick base-
ment is a modern metal door with builtin window, which is sheltered by a
modern gabled hood. The tower’s first story has angle buttre.sseﬁ at all three
exposed corners. The butiresses stand on tall brick piers prO]egtlng fror—n the
basement and are covered with vinyl siding. They are stepped in the middle

of the story and at their tops, just below the wooden cornice, an extension
of the main block’s lateral cornice, that crowns the first story. In the east fgcade
of the first story is the tower entry, which is almost identical to the @éln en-
try, having modern double wooden doors with builtin windows, a semicircular
arched frame, and a quatrefoil stained glass window set in a round frame
in the tympanum. The tower entry is sheltered by a porch, with a tall, con-
crete floored, brick walled base, and concrete steps on the north to the main
landing in front of the church. Wrought metal railings protect the porch floor.
Two decorated wrought metal posts support the porch's wooden roof. A large,
plain framed, Gothic arched opening projects up into the clapboardgd porch
gable. The gable roof is trimmed by shallow moulded lateral cornices and
by a moulded gable parapet.

The tower's second story features tall, lancet arched, stained glass win-
dows, with plain vinyl frames, one each in both the east and south sides. The
tall second story is topped by a moulded wooden box cornice. The open
belfry, the top stage, is three bays wide and three bays deep. Its square pillars
with moulded tops and sawn brackets stand on pedestals with moulded bases
and capitals. The corner pillars are wider than the inner pillars. Between the

. pedestals are low walls with moulded copings and quatrefoil shaped open-

ings in round frames. Above the openings, the beliry is ornamenfred by a
Blind arcade of trefoil arches in lancet arched frames. The pyramidal roof

- with flared eaves is trimmed by a wooden box cornice with mouldings and
corner brackets and is crowned by an ornate Celtic cross.

The one story sacristy has a high brick basement. The low pitc?hed shed
roof is trimmed on the two public sides by an ornate cornice similar tolthe
lateral cornices of the main block and on the rear by a plain box cornice.

" Plain vinyl or wooden frames surround the three windows and the one doo?,
a modern metal door with builtin window and a modern gabled hood. This

sacristy eniry is served by a concrete floored landing and steps with l?ricrk
base and wrought metal railings. The basement vestibule on the sacristy’s
south side has vinyl siding on the upper walls, a plain modern wooden door,

" a moulded box cornice, and a very low pitched roof. The shed roofed oil
" tank addition, also on the south side of the sacristy, has painted concrete block

walls, cloge verges, and wide lateral eaves with exposed rafters and fascia

" boards.
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History

The Church of the Assumption was organized as a mission of St. Joseph's”
Church in Laconia in 1879. It became a separate Roman Catholic parish in
July of 1891, when Rev. John F. Finen was appointed pastor. On September
28,1892, a Chestnut Street lot was purchased. The lot included a house which:
became the rectory, as well as enough space for a church. The church base-
ment was excavated and built in 1893. But, it was not until Tuly of 1894 that =/
the plans for a Gothic Revival style church were completed by architects
Chickering & O'Connell of Manchester. Father Finen is said to have found
the bids submitted by contractors tco high, sc he decided to act as his own
contractor. Construction was underway by the end of July. And the first ser-
vices were held on Christmas of 1894, although the furnishing was not vet
complete. The church was formally dedicated on August 13, 1895,

Substantial changes have been made to the church in the 20th century.
But, unfortunately, it has not proven possible to date them. The main block
was extended to the rear to increase the church’s seating capacity. The sacristy
has also been enlarged. As part of a basement renovation, new basement’
windows were installed. All of the doors have been replaced by modern doors.
New hoods have been built over the tower's basement entry and the sacris-
ty's entry. A porch on a high brick base was erected at the tower’s first story’
entry. And an elaborate landing and steps were built to serve the main en-:
tries of both the tower and the main block. The most important change was:
the resheathing of the church with vinyl siding and trim, including vinyl wins:

dow frames and vinyl “clapboards” and corner strips on the walls an_qi:
buttresses.
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NORTHFIELD-TILTON CORGREGATIONAL CHURCH

273 Main Street, Tilton village

1838 .
Listed on the National Register of Historic Places as part of the Tilton

Downiown Historic District

Description

The Northtield-Tilton Congregational Church siands on the nerth side
of Main Street in downtown Tilton. The church'’s original design apparently
combined Federal style and Gothic Revival style elements. Bgt, late? 19th
century enlargements and remodeling added more ornate Victorian Italianate
elements to ils composition. Centered on the south sireet gable end of the
tall, two story, gable roofed main block is a shorter, narrower, two story, gfalble
roofed entry pavilion. Rising from the roofs of the main block and the pav:ho_n
is a three stage belfry tower. Centered on the rear gable end of the main
block iz a two story, hip roofed rear wing. In the northwest corner of the main
block and the rear wing is a small, lower addition with a very lc.mfv pitched,
almost flat roof. The main block, pavilion, rear wing, and adldl’uon are all
clapboarded and trimmed by cornerboards and box cornices with mouldings
and friezes.

The main block and the pavilior are both set on cut granite block foun-
dations. The main block’s cornice is pedimented on the south street gable.
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But, the pavilion's cornice and the main block’s rear gable cornice just hav
returns. In the center of the pavilion’s south gable end is the church’s mai
entry, tali, plain framed, paneled, double doors, set in a deep recessed en

try with board floor, and beveled boarding on the walls and ceiling. The recess

has: an outer frame of pilasters with chamfered edges and moulded capitals
W’hl-Ch support a cornice with mouldings, dentils, and frieze. Above the sh
try in the second story is a tall Palladian stained glass window, with a centra

sgmicircular grched window and narrower flanking rectangular windows, all°
with geometrlc and floral desigms in their glass. The window is flanked by::-
two pilasters on pedestals. Both the pilasters and pedestals have chamferéd

edges and moulded capitals. The deep lintel above the Palladian window hi
an unusual shape, with an upward projecting “gabled” section above the cet

tral arched window. The lintel is decorated by incised designs, chamfered

edges, a crowning moulding, and, at the peak of the “gable”, a finial wit
carved pendant. '

To eacb side of the pavilion, on the main block's south gable end is fouti
g double window with 1/1 sash, moulded lintel, and louvered shutters in theé
first story, and a tall rectangular window with geomelric patterned stainéc

glass and moulded lintel in the second story. Moulded lintels also top the .
first story windows in the east and west sides, which have either 1/1 sash or .

2/2 sash. The west side also has two modern paneled doors with builtin win:

dows. The northern door is sheltered by a gabled hood, the southern: door -

by a shed rloofed hood. The taller second stories of the east and west sidet
eac}_l lcontaln four tall and large double stained glass windows. The two
semicircular arched windows in each double window have geometric desig'n':

in their glass and share a plain frame topped by a curved hoodmould with
a central rectangular upward projection at the top. The only opening in the ..

rear gable end is a double window with 4/4 sash and moulded lintel. :

The south _h?on‘t wall of the tower’s square base is set flush with the frén
wall of the 'pav1110n. The clapboarded base is trimmed by cornerboards and
a box cornice with mouldings and frieze. Each of the base's three public sidé

features a blind pointed Gothic arch with a moulded frame. The smaller

second stage, the open belfry, is surrounded by a railing with simple strut
moulded rails, and square cornerposts topped by pinnacles, tall woodér;
pyramids. The square belfry is clapboarded and topped by a box cornice
with mouldings, modillions and frieze. Pilasters grace the corners and ﬂan'l'{:.
the large open pointed Gothic arch in each side. The still smaller octagonéi
third stage is now sheathed with flush boarding and is trimmed by cornés

boards and a shallow moulded cornice. The third stage is covered by a metsl

sheathed octagonal “dome”, which is topped by an arrow shaped meta
weathervane on a carved wooden finial.

. Thpf rfear v_ving’s lower level has a boarded up window and a paneled déor
with builtin windows and moulded lintel. Its upper level is lit by three réc-
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tangular stained glass windows with moulded lintels. The western addition
has just one opening, a 2/2 sash window with moulded lintel in the upper level.

History

The church now known as the Northfield-Tilton Congregational Church

was organized on July 18, 1822. Services were at first held in the local
meetinghouse and in schoolhouses. But, the church members saw the need
for their own building. In October of 1836, they organized a property-owning
society, which soon began soliciting subscriptions for a church building. On
August 15, 1837, a committee of three, Enos Hoyt, Robert Gray, and John
Curry, were chosen by the society to purchase a site, prepare a plan for the
building, and contract for its erection. Land on the Main Street of Sanborn-
ton Bridge, the village that would become the town of Tilton, was purchased
and donated in August, 1837 and May, 1838. No building committee report
is to be found in the church records. But, the records do state that construc-
tion began in May of 1838, and that the building was dedicated on September
4, 1838. At the 50th anniversary of the church in 1872, it was stated that the
building was erected by “carpenters from Hopkinton”, but the builders have

not been further identified. The building's cost of $3500 was met by the sale
of pews, so the building was dedicated Iree of debt.

As no early views of the church seemn to survive, we can only speculate
on its early appearance. Presumably, it had the main block, the entry pavilion,
and the three stage tower that we see today, albeit since altered. The main
block and the pavilion were one story shorter. We do not know what the
original windows and entries of the main block and the pavilion locked like.
But, the tower probably locked much as it does now, with the exception of
the third stage. The upper stage was once surrounded by a railing with pin-
nacles like that around the second stage. And each face of the third stage
had a Gothic arched opening. This combination of Gothic Revival style details
with a form and other elements, such as the box cornices, from the Federal
style, is reminiscent of the other churches built in the town of Sanbornton
in the 1830's, the Sanbornton Congregational Church and the Bay

Meetinghouse.

In 1867, the church saw its first major change. A special meeting of the
society was held on September 24, 1867 to consider building a vestry. The
society chose Cyrus T. French, A.S. Ballantyne, and J.C. Tilton as a building
committee and instructed them to raise the church and build the vestry
underneath it. Cyrus French is said to have supervised the work, which in-
cluded raising the building five feet and constructing the present first story,
which contained the vestry, kitchen, and pastor’s room. In 1881, $6000 was
spent on unspecified repairs to the church. A view of the church, published
in the 1882 Sanbornton history, shows the building with the present recessed
main entry and the present tall Italianate second story windows in the pavilion
and the main block, all presumably the result of the 1867 or 1881 renova-
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tions. By 1887, the congregation had grown and more sanctuary spaceéw
required. Se, the building was cut in the middle, the rear portion moved b

and a 25 foot long section built to fill the gap and provide space for twenty.
new pews. In 1895, the small addition on the west side of the rear wing was
built to house a rear stairway. Sometime in the mid 20th century {(after 1937
the railing around the upper stage of the tower was removed and the arche
third stage openings covered over with flush boarding. The hood ovér
southern door on the west side was replaced after a truck hit the old ks
probably in the 1970's. Both doors in the west side were replaced by
doors around 1990, Leng one of the village's landmarks, the church is'to
a unigue blend of Federal, Gothic Revival, and [talianate elements.

roofed main block is one and a hall stories high. But, because of the slope
of the land from the street to the Winnipesaukee River at the rear of the lot,
the bagement level is exposed on all but the north street gable end. At the
northwest corner of the main block stands a square brick tower, crowned by
a tall wooden spire. The main block alse has two small, one story, gable reofed
additions at the basement level, an entry porch on the west side and a rear
wing on the south gable end.

The main block’s brick walls are laid in common bend, flemish varia-
fion. The steep gable roof is trimmed by close wooden eaves and verges. The
north end of the roof ridge is marked by an ornate wooden aross. The north
street gable end is distinguished by a foundation of rough granite blocks with
a dressed watertable. In the center of the facade is a tall, Gothic arched,
stained glass window, which includes two lancet arched windows beneath
a quatrefoil window, all with a moulded wooden frame, a granite sill, and
an arched surround of rough granite blocks laid in in and out bend. High
in the peak of the gable is a stained glass guatrefoil window with a rough
granite surrcund. The western end of the north gable end is covered by the
tower, which contains the main eniry. At the east end of the street facade
is another entry, served by granite steps with granite sidewalls. The double
arched doors of diagonal boarding have a moulded weoden frame and are
sef in a Gothic arch of rough granite blocks laid in in and out bond. The
east entry ig [lanked on each side by a stepped brick butiress with granite
blocks at the base and the two sloping steps. The western buttress rises guite
hich into the gable, while the eastern buttress at the corner of the main block
stops about two feet below the eaves.

TRINITY EPISCOPAL CHURCH

270 Main Street, Tilton villags
1872-1873

Edward Dow, architect

Listed on the National Register of Historic Places as part of the' Ti
Downtown Historic District

Brick buttresses similar to the northern buttresses, each with three granite
step blocks, divide the east and west sides into five bavys apiece. The tower
covers half of one bay on the west side leaving four full bays on that side.
Each bay typically contains a double basement window with 4/4 sash, vinyl
frame, granite sill, and segmental brick arch. The west side also contains
a basement entry, a modern paneled door with builiin semicircular window,
moulded wooden Iframe, and segmental brick arch. The basement eniry is
sheltered by a porch with brick floor and low brick sidewalls on which stand
heavy wooden pillars with chamfered edges, moulded bases and tops. The
piliars support boxed beams on both sides of the porch's gable roof. The porch
rool has a beaded board gable and a wide overhanging cornice with
mouldings and sloping soffit. The main level of each full bay contains a tall,
Gothic arched, stained glass window, with moulded wooden irame, granite
sill, and brick arch. Most of the main level windows are large arched single
windows, but two feature a pair of semicircular arched windows beneath a
guatrefoil window. In the center of the main level of the rear south gable end
is a wide, large, Gothic arched, stained glass window, incorporating three
semicircular arched windows beneath six small round windows.

Description

Trinity Episcopal Church is a Gothic Revival style brick chu‘f&
stands on the south side of Main Street in downtown Tilton. The iall gab
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The square brick tower is three stories high, counting the windowless
basement level, that is exposed only on the west and south. The tower cot-
ners are graced by stepped setback buttresses, brick buttresses with grani{é
step blocks, that rise to the tower’s wooden cornice. The granite foundation
of the main block’s north facade is continued as a band arocund the tower
at the base of the main level. In the north street side is the main entry, Gothic
arched, deuble doors of diagonal boarding, with the same frame and stone
surround as the main block’s street entry. The tower entry is served by granite
steps with granite sidewalls and is sheltered by a gabled hood supported _
heavy braces rising from posts set against the walls. The braces support beattis
with ornate terminations, on which rest the rafters with their decoratively sawa
ends. The hood’s open gable is filled by a kingpost truss. Moulded fase
boards trim the hood roof. In the west side of the tower's main level is a nar:
row lancet arched, stained glass window with moulded frame, granite sill;
and brick arch. The main level is topped by a projecting brick band, orna:
mented by cross shaped recesses. Three sides of the upper story are filled
by pairs of Gothic arched louvers with pierced slats and granite sills. Tl_’i;e'
northern louvers have a surround of rough granite blecks laid in in and ©
bond, while the east and south louvers have plain brick arches. The bri
tower is topped by a wooden cornice with mouldings, modillions, and friez
Above the cornice is the spire’s flush boarded base, which features projec
ing posts under the pinnacles at the corners, applied ornament between thé
corner posts, and & moulded wooden cornice. The tall broach spire is coverg
by multicolored slates, including fishscale and diamond shaped slates. .The
spire has simple ridge mouldings and an elaborate metal finial topped b
a metal cross. At the four corners of the spire are octagonal pinnacles; set
on octagonal wooden bases with flush boarded sides and moulded cornice
The pinnacles are also covered by slates of varied colors and shapes. Th
spire has four wooden lucarnes, each with paired, lancet arched louvers abo
a short gothic arcade. The louvers are flanked by pilasters with moulded bas
and capitals, and are set in an applied arch with an applied quatrefoil inith
tympanum. The flush boarded lucarne gables are decorated with applie
ornament. And the steep gable roofs of the lucarnes are sheathed withslate
and trimmed by moulded cornices. '

The one story rear wing, covering half of the main block’s south gah
end, has brick main level walls, board and batten siding in the south qé‘bT
and a gable roof with flared eaves and a moulded box cornice. The rear win
is lit by two modern double windows and an older single pane window an:
is served by two paneled doors with builtin windows.

History

The Episcopalian parish in the adjoining villages of Northfield and T1 n
was crganized on December 22, 1860. The Episcopalians bought the:f_c_éfr
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Methodist church in Northfield {now the Town Hall), and used it for their ser-
vices for the next decade. But, in 1872, they purchased a lot on the Main
Street of Tilton for $2000. A brick Gothic Revival style church was designed
by Concord architect Edward Dow. A passing reference in a Franklin
newspaper tells us that construction was underway by July of 1872. The com-
pletion of the building was delayed by bad weather and the slow detlivery
of materials. But, by the spring of 1873, the church was essentially finished.
The first services were held on Easter Sunday, April 13, 1873. The church
had cost, including land and furnishings, about $15,000. {The new church

‘was not formally consecrated until May 25, 1875. An Episcopalian tradition

is that churches should not be consecrated until all debts are paid.) One im-
portant feature, apparently included in the design, but omitted in the con-
struction, was the wooden spire on the tower. The brick portion of the tower
was simply capped by a temporary pyramidal roof in 1873, The wooden spire,
the gift of Abigail Tilton, was erected in 1883. This completed the building,
which must be considered the best surviving 19th century Gothic Revival
style church in Belknap County.

Later exterior changes have been limited. Dated views of the building
reveal that the hood on the tower entry was added sometime between 1882
and 1920. The basement entry porch is also not seen in the 1882 view of the
church. Sanborn fire insurance maps of the village indicate that the rear wing
was built between 1212 and 1923. A new gable roof was placed on the formerly
hip rocfed rear wing in 1988. The present stained glass in the north gable’s
guatrefoil window was installed in 1990. The rear wing’s double windows and
the main block's basement level windows and door were replaced in 1991.
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FRED ANDREW SMART CHAPEL

School Street, Tilton village
1852

Description

The Fred Andrew Smart Chapel at the Tilton School was formerly the
First Free Will Baptist Church in Canterbury. A Greek Revival style chur
with some I[talianate details, it now stands on the Tilton School campug .
the east side of School Street in Tilton village. The loag, gable roofed ma
block is set with its west gable end facing the street. The main block is‘ong
and a half stories high, save for its western end, which is two and a half stories
high. Astride the ridge at the west end of the main block roof is a two stage
tower with a low base and a tall spire. '

The main block is set on a high basement, which is covered with bri
veneer, save for the exposed concrete on the rear east end. The clapboar
ed walls are trimmed by sillbecards with drip mouldings. Tall, wide, paneled
pilasters, with narrow slot like panels and moulded capitals, grace the _
ners and mark off the three bays of the west gable end and the westerny
bays of the north and south sides. The gable roof is trimmed by a wide e
cornice with mouldings, paneled soffits, pairs of large sawn brackets;: 1
deep frieze and architrave. The cornice is pedimented on both gable’_'s_._
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The central bay of the west gable end features the main entry. It is served
by wide concrete steps and landing on a brick bage. The entry’s paneled
double doors are framed by paneled pilasters with slot like panels and mould-
ed capitals and by an entablature with a moulded and dentiled cornice and
deep architrave and frieze. The two side bays of the first story and all three
bays of the second story contain 6/6 sash windows with moulded lintels. {The
first story windows are taller than the second story windows.} The horizontal
cornice of the west gable’s pediment retains its full architrave and frieze direct-
ly above the four pilasters. But, between the pilasters, the architrave and frieze
is reduced to a shallow frieze, which is curved on its lower edge to give arched
tops to the three bays and to allow room for the second story windows. The
flush boarded tympanum of the pediment contains a semielliptical louver with
radiating slats and a simply moulded frame.

The westernmost bays on the north and south sides, set off by the pilasters,
are windowless. But the other six bays on each side virtually all contain a
large 5/5 sash window with moulded wooden frame and concrete sill in the
basement, and a tall, large 15/15 sash window with moulded lintel in the main

level. The one exception is the northern bay which contains the side entry.

This entry is also served by concrete landing and steps on a brick base. The
side entry's paneled double doors are topped by a plain lintel and a large
fifteen pane window. The door and window are flanked by paneled pilasters,
modeled on the original pilasters, with slot like panels and moulded capitals.
The pilasters support an entablature with mouldings and deep frieze, which
is superimposed on the main block’s main cornice. The rear east gable end
has a basement entry, a paneled door with a builtin window, that is framed
by pilasters and an entablature like those of the north side entry.

The square tower’s low base is little higher than the ridge of the main

 block roof on which it sits. The base is covered by horizontal boarding and

topped by a simple box cornice. The first stage is sheathed with flush board-
ing and trimmed by cornerboards and a heavy box cornice with mouldings
and frieze. In the center of the three public sides is found a round medallion
with a plain frame, each now containing the Tilton School seal. The smaller
belfry stage is set on a low two step base, each narrow step being topped
by a simple moulding. The belfry stage is sheathed with flush boarding and
rimmed by paneled corner pilasters, with the typical slot like panels and

-moulded capitals, and by a box cornice with mouldings and frieze. Each face
- of the belfry stage contains a large, plain framed louver. The new spire crown-
. ing the belfry has a paneled square base with cornerboards and a shallow
" moulded cornice with frieze. The all pyramidal wooden spire is crowned by
- a decorative knaob.

* History

The First Free Will Baptist Church in Canterbury built its first meeting

"-.house in 1803. But, by the middle of the century, the building was both in-
-adequate and in disrepair. At the annual meeting of the First Free Will Bap-
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tist Church and Scciety on June 2, 1851, a committee was established to study.
the feasibility of erecting a new building. In December, the committes:
reperted that it was expedient tc build a new church. The commitiee was then
enlarged and asked to meet with the proprietors of the old meetinghouse and
to determine what funds could be raised for the building project. A subscrip:
tion list was circulated for shares at $25 each. On January 5, 1852, the -
shareholders of the proposed new meetinghouse met to elect officers and to
choose a committee to build the meetinghouse and sell the pews. (Each
shareholder was obliged to buy at least one pew.) Chosen for the buildin_(j
committee were David M. Clough, George W. Peverly, and James H. Herrick:
They were to be joined by Jeremiah Clough and John Kezar when selec‘zmg
the site for the church. In April, the building committee was authorized 16
sell the old meetinghouse. It was auctioned off in May for $35. On June 22
1852, the frame of the new church was raised. The church records note thé’(
Capt. Abiel French and John Ingalls supervised the framing and raising of
the structure, and that “"Capt. William Knowlton commenced the finish-
the house June 23d". In February of 1853, the first church mesting was héld
in the new building. {There is no recerd of any dedication.) The attractis
church was basicaily Greek Revival in style, although its cornice was orfy
mented by brackets typical of the Italianate style. The main block, four bays
long and three bays wide, was topped by a two stage beliry tower on a ]ow
base.

By the mid 20th century, the Canterbury church had been abandoned
In November of 1963, Tilton School officials, the headmaster, the chaplam,.
and the chairman of the board of trustees, visited the empty church to see
if it could serve as their school chapel. The Community Church of Canie
bury, then the owner of the building, offered the structure to the school:for
one dollar. In January of 1964, the Tilton: School board of trustees accepted
the offer. In the spring of that year, the church was dismantled and moved
in large sections to the schocl’s campus by local mover Brackett Hili. Ar
tect Douglas G. Prescott of Laconia designed the enlargement and remode
ing of the church. The McMillin Co., Inc. wag the general contractor forfhe
praoject. (The mover, the architect, and the head of the construction -c'_dj
pany were all Tilton School alumni.} As the school needed a larger chape
the church was lengthened by three bays, increasing its length from fifty’
1o ninety feet. The new section was designed to blend with the old sect
with the walls, cornice, pilasters, and other details copying those of
original church. The added rear section also included a new side entry:
provide more classroom space for the school, the church was given a high
brick walled basement with a rear entry. The high basement required nie
front steps. The tower was embellished by the ingtallation of a tall spire
by the placement of school seals in the round frames already found on't
tower’s first stage. Completed in the spring of 1966, the chapel was dedicate
on May 21 and named for a longtime Tilton School teacher. In most respéct
the rebuilding of the church was quite respectful of the original desic
the building.
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